
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




Vouchers over $5,000


Comment  Voucher Total  Case Total 
Termination of Parental Rights $10,545.95 $13,045.95
Burglary/Aggravated Assault $8,416.16 $8,416.16
Child Protection $8,368.75 $19,219.03
Manslaughter $7,654.00 $7,654.00
Aggravated Assault $6,604.00 $6,604.00
Appeal - Aggravated Trafficking $5,832.56 $5,832.56
Robbery/Elevated Aggravated Assault $5,750.00 $5,750.00
Termination of Parental Rights $5,125.00 $5,125.00





		Sheet1






$15,000


$215,000


$415,000


$615,000


$815,000


$1,015,000


$1,215,000


July August September October November December January February March April May June


COLLECTION TOTALS FY'18 to FY'22


FY'18


FY'19


FY'20


FY'21


FY'22








 
 
 
 
 


MCILS 
 


February 28, 2022 
Commissioner’s Meeting  


Packet 
 
 








LD 1824 Amendment for sponsor, Rep. Stover, to replace concept draft 


 


An Act To Improve the Maine Child Welfare Services Ombudsman Program by Providing 


Additional Resources 


 


New Title:   


An Act To Establish a Pilot Program to Ensure Legal Representation to Families in the 


Child Protection System 


 


Replace concept draft with the following: 


 


Be it Enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows: 


 


 Sec. 1.  Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services Pilot Program:  Resolved:  


That the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services establishes a pilot program to provide 


legal counsel to parents and custodians as soon as the Department of Health and Human 


Services, Office of Child and Family Services, begins a safety assessment to determine if a child 


is at risk of harm.  In developing the pilot project, the Commission shall ensure the following: 


 


1. Legal counsel.  Provide legal counsel to parents or custodians in the same manner it 


would provide legal counsel to parents or custodians under Title 22, section 4005, 


subsection 2. 


2. Eligibility standards.  Use the same standards for eligibility determined in Title 4, 


chapter 37.   


3. District 4.  Services under this pilot program are provided in District 4 that includes 


Sagadahoc, Lincoln, Knox and Waldo countries. 


4. Two year pilot.  The pilot program lasts from January 1, 2023 until December 31, 2024.   


5. Report.  The Executive director of the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services 


shall submit a report, no later than March 1, 2025, to the joint standing committee of the 


Legislature having jurisdiction over judiciary matters, with information on the costs of 


the program, estimates on expanding the program to the entire State, the number of 


families served, the extent of services and hours of services provided, and outcomes data, 


together with any recommended legislation. 


 


SUMMARY 


This amendment replaces the concept draft.  It establishes a two year pilot project in District 4 in 


which the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services provides legal counsel to parents and 


custodians as soon as the Department of Health and Human Services begins a safety assessment 


to determine if a child is at risk of harm.  Currently, legal counsel is only available to parents and 


custodians once the State petitions a court. 


 


Note:  this resolve will need a fiscal note.  Amount to be determined. 


 


 


  








Printed on recycled paper


130th MAINE LEGISLATURE


SECOND REGULAR SESSION-2022


Legislative Document No. 1905


H.P. 1412 House of Representatives, January 5, 2022


An Act To Facilitate Communication between Prosecutors and 
Unrepresented Defendants While Protecting the Rights of Those 
Defendants


Reported by Representative HARNETT of Gardiner for the Criminal Law Advisory 
Commission pursuant to the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 17-A, section 1354, subsection 2.


Reference to the Committee on Judiciary suggested and ordered printed pursuant to Joint 
Rule 218.


ROBERT B. HUNT
Clerk







Page 1 - 130LR2556(01)


1 Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:


2 Sec. 1.  15 MRSA §815, as enacted by PL 2021, c. 480, §1, is amended to read:
3 §815.  Communication between prosecutor and unrepresented defendant in criminal 
4 prosecutions
5 1.  Requirements for communication.  To ensure that all waivers of the right to 
6 counsel are made knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently, a prosecutor may not 
7 communicate with an unrepresented defendant concerning the facts, circumstances, merits 
8 or disposition of a pending criminal charge against the defendant unless:
9 A.  The defendant has been informed by a judicial officer of the defendant's right to 


10 counsel, including court-appointed counsel if the defendant is indigent;
11 B.  The court has provided to the defendant a statement of:
12 (1)  The substance of the charges against the defendant;
13 (2)  The defendant's right to retain counsel, to request the assignment of counsel 
14 and to be allowed a reasonable time and opportunity to consult counsel before 
15 entering a plea;
16 (3)  The defendant's right to remain silent and that the defendant is not required to 
17 make a statement and that any statement made by the defendant may be used 
18 against the defendant;
19 (4)  The maximum possible sentence and any applicable mandatory minimum 
20 sentence; and
21 (5)  The defendant's right to trial by jury; and
22 C.  The defendant has executed a written waiver of waived the right to counsel in each 
23 prosecution pursuant to rules adopted by the Supreme Judicial Court.
24 2.  Exception.  Notwithstanding subsection 1, a prosecutor may communicate with an 
25 unrepresented defendant who has not executed a written waiver of the right to counsel to 
26 offer the defendant an opportunity to participate in an established precharge diversion 
27 program the successful completion of which results in the prosecutor not prosecuting the 
28 charge or charges against the defendant. to:
29 A.  Offer the defendant an opportunity to participate in an established precharge 
30 diversion program, the successful completion of which would result in the prosecutor 
31 not prosecuting the charge or charges against the defendant; or
32 B.  Notify the defendant that a pending criminal matter is being dismissed.
33 3.  Application.  This section does not apply to:
34 A.  The obligation of the State to provide discovery or other information pursuant to 
35 court order, pursuant to rules adopted by the Supreme Judicial Court or as otherwise 
36 required by the Constitution of Maine or the United States Constitution; or
37 B.  Notice by the prosecutor to a person that no charge is being filed.







Page 2 - 130LR2556(01)


1 SUMMARY
2 This bill is submitted by the Criminal Law Advisory Commission pursuant to the 
3 Maine Revised Statutes, Title 17-A, section 1354, subsection 2.  The bill makes technical 
4 changes to the statute enacted in Public Law 2021, chapter 480 to facilitate implementation 
5 of the law while continuing to protect a defendant's right to counsel.


2
3
4
5








Printed on recycled paper


130th MAINE LEGISLATURE


SECOND REGULAR SESSION-2022


Legislative Document No. 1924


S.P. 679 In Senate, January 20, 2022


An Act To Expand Access to Justice in Rural Maine through Legal 
Education


Approved for introduction by a majority of the Legislative Council pursuant to Joint Rule 
203.


Received by the Secretary of the Senate on January 18, 2022.  Referred to the Committee 
on Education and Cultural Affairs pursuant to Joint Rule 308.2 and ordered printed.


DAREK M. GRANT
Secretary of the Senate


Presented by President JACKSON of Aroostook.
Cosponsored by Representative MARTIN of Eagle Lake and
Senators: BAILEY of York, CARNEY of Cumberland, STEWART of Aroostook, 
Representative: MARTIN of Sinclair.







Page 1 - 130LR2359(01)


1 Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:


2 Sec. 1. Satellite clinic of Cumberland Legal Aid Clinic established. The 
3 University of Maine System shall establish a satellite clinic of the Cumberland Legal Aid 
4 Clinic of the University of Maine School of Law in Aroostook County as a 3-year pilot 
5 project.


6 Sec. 2.  Appropriations and allocations.  The following appropriations and 
7 allocations are made.
8 UNIVERSITY OF MAINE SYSTEM, BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE
9 Educational and General Activities - UMS 0031


10 Initiative: Provides funding for the first year of a 3-year pilot project to expand the 
11 Cumberland Legal Aid Clinic at the University of Maine School of Law to include a new 
12 satellite clinic in Aroostook County.


GENERAL FUND 2021-22 2022-23
All Other $0 $340,000


 __________ __________
GENERAL FUND TOTAL $0 $340,000


13 SUMMARY
14 This bill requires the University of Maine System to establish a satellite clinic of the 
15 Cumberland Legal Aid Clinic of the University of Maine School of Law in Aroostook 
16 County as a 3-year pilot project.


13
14
15
16


17


18
19
20








Printed on recycled paper


130th MAINE LEGISLATURE


SECOND REGULAR SESSION-2022


Legislative Document No. 1926


H.P. 1433 House of Representatives, January 20, 2022


Resolve, Regarding Legislative Review of Portions of Chapter 301:  
Fee Schedule and Administrative Procedures for Payment of 
Commission Assigned Council, a Major Substantive Rule of the 
Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services


(EMERGENCY)


Reported by Representative HARNETT of Gardiner for the Maine Commission on Indigent 
Legal Services pursuant to the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 5, section 8072.


Received by the Clerk of the House on January 18, 2022.  Referred to the Committee on 
Judiciary pursuant to Joint Rule 308.2 and ordered printed.


ROBERT B. HUNT
Clerk







Page 1 - 130LR2584(01)


1 Emergency preamble.  Whereas, acts and resolves of the Legislature do not 
2 become effective until 90 days after adjournment unless enacted as emergencies; and


3 Whereas, the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-A requires 
4 legislative authorization before major substantive agency rules may be finally adopted by 
5 the agency; and


6 Whereas, a major substantive rule has been submitted to the Legislature for review; 
7 and


8 Whereas, immediate enactment of this resolve is necessary to record the Legislature's 
9 position on final adoption of the rule; and


10 Whereas, in the judgment of the Legislature, these facts create an emergency within 
11 the meaning of the Constitution of Maine and require the following legislation as 
12 immediately necessary for the preservation of the public peace, health and safety; now, 
13 therefore, be it


14 Sec. 1.  Adoption.  Resolved:  That final adoption of portions of Chapter 301:  Fee 
15 Schedule and Administrative Procedures for Payment of Commission Assigned Council, a 
16 provisionally adopted major substantive rule of the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal 
17 Services that has been submitted to the Legislature for review pursuant to the Maine 
18 Revised Statutes, Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-A, is authorized.


19 Emergency clause.  In view of the emergency cited in the preamble, this legislation 
20 takes effect when approved.


21 SUMMARY
22 This resolve provides for legislative review of portions of Chapter 301:  Fee Schedule 
23 and Administrative Procedures for Payment of Commission Assigned Council, a major 
24 substantive rule of the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services.


22
23
24








Printed on recycled paper


130th MAINE LEGISLATURE


SECOND REGULAR SESSION-2022


Legislative Document No. 1946


H.P. 1451 House of Representatives, January 26, 2022


An Act To Ensure Constitutionally Adequate Contact with Counsel


Approved for introduction by a majority of the Legislative Council pursuant to Joint Rule 
203.


Reference to the Committee on Judiciary suggested and ordered printed.


ROBERT B. HUNT
Clerk


Presented by Representative HARNETT of Gardiner.
Cosponsored by Senator CARNEY of Cumberland and
Representatives: DODGE of Belfast, GROHOSKI of Ellsworth, LOOKNER of Portland, 
MADIGAN of Waterville, MORIARTY of Cumberland, PEBWORTH of Blue Hill, 
PLUECKER of Warren, TALBOT ROSS of Portland.







Page 1 - 130LR2256(01)


1 Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:


2 PART A
3 Sec. A-1.  34-A MRSA §3015 is enacted to read:
4 §3015.  Confidential communications
5 A chief administrative officer shall make available to a resident and the resident's 
6 counsel a means to engage in confidential communications as required by section 3031, 
7 subsection 11 and in accordance with this section.
8 1.  Definitions.  As used in this section, unless the context otherwise indicates, the 
9 following terms have the following meanings.


10 A.  "Commission" means the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services 
11 established by Title 5, section 12004-G, subsection 25-A.
12 B.  "Facility" means a correctional facility or a detention facility.
13 C.  "Resident" means a person who resides in a facility.  
14 2.  Access.  A facility shall provide a means to engage in confidential communications 
15 between a resident and the resident's counsel in person in space within the facility or by 
16 telephone, video or other electronic means without charge to the resident or the resident's 
17 counsel.
18 3.  Prohibited conduct.  A facility may not intercept, record, monitor, disseminate or 
19 otherwise divulge any oral, written, telephone, video or electronic communication between 
20 a resident and the resident's counsel.  The provisions of this subsection apply to any 
21 employee of a facility and to any agent, employee, contractor or vendor of communication 
22 services that provides services to a facility or works with the facility in any capacity.  A 
23 violation of this subsection by an agent, employee, contractor or vendor of communication 
24 services that provides services to a facility or works with the facility in any capacity is 
25 deemed a violation by the facility.
26 4.  Logs.  A facility and any contractor or vendor that provides communication services 
27 subject to this section shall create and maintain for a minimum of 7 years logs of all 
28 confidential communications to or from the facility to which a resident is a party, including 
29 but not limited to the date and time of the telephone call or video or electronic 
30 communication, the telephone number or electronic address involved, the duration of the 
31 telephone call or video or electronic communication and the name of the resident.  All logs 
32 of communications related to a resident and the resident's counsel must be released upon 
33 request within 30 days to the resident or the resident's authorized representative or counsel 
34 requesting the logs and to the commission.  
35 5.  Audit.  Every 90 days, a facility shall audit its logs of telephone, video and 
36 electronic communications to or from telephone numbers and electronic addresses listed as 
37 belonging to counsel for a resident and shall, upon completion of the audit, provide that 
38 audit to the commission.  If an audit concludes that a recording of a telephone call or video 
39 or electronic communication exists or that information was obtained or gathered in 
40 violation of this section, the chief administrative officer shall inform counsel, the resident 
41 and the commission within 3 business days.  







Page 2 - 130LR2256(01)


1 6.  Policy.  A chief administrative officer shall adopt policies providing access to 
2 communications as required by this section and forbidding conduct prohibited by this 
3 section, shall review and update the policies annually and shall publish the policies on the 
4 facility's publicly accessible website and provide copies to the commission.


5 Sec. A-2.  34-A MRSA §3031, sub-§9, as amended by PL 2021, c. 263, §4, is 
6 further amended to read:
7 9.  Menstrual products.  Comprehensive access to menstrual products, including, but 
8 not limited to, sanitary pads and tampons, provided and available at all times and without 
9 inconvenience or charge to a person who menstruates who resides in a correctional or 


10 detention facility; and


11 Sec. A-3.  34-A MRSA §3031, sub-§10, as enacted by PL 2021, c. 263, §5, is 
12 amended to read:
13 10.  Gender affirmation.  Have the person's consistently held gender identity 
14 respected and acknowledged, irrespective of anatomy or physique.  Housing placements 
15 and search practices must be consistent with the person's consistently held gender identity 
16 except when such placement or search would present significant management or security 
17 problems to the correctional or detention facility or threaten the health and safety of the 
18 person.  A person must have access to commissary items, clothing, personal property, 
19 programming and educational materials that are consistent with the person's consistently 
20 held gender identity.  Correctional or detention facility staff shall address a person in a 
21 manner that is consistent with the person's consistently held gender identity.; and


22 Sec. A-4.  34-A MRSA §3031, sub-§11 is enacted to read:
23 11.  Confidential communications.  A means to engage in confidential 
24 communications as follows:
25 A.  Confidential communications with counsel by telephone, video or electronic 
26 communication at a minimum twice a day and at all other necessary times by means 
27 that ensure that the communications are confidential to the person and the person's 
28 counsel and cannot be monitored, recorded or overheard by any other person; 
29 B.  Written notice that the person's counsel has contacted the facility to request that the 
30 person call or contact the person's counsel.  The facility shall keep a written record of 
31 the contact by the person's counsel and the notice to the person from the facility.  
32 Failure of the facility to maintain a copy of the notice to the person is prima facie 
33 evidence that notice was not provided; and  
34 C.  An opportunity to receive from and review with counsel all documents sent to the 
35 person by counsel, including but not limited to letters, pleadings and discovery in any 
36 format or form, and to send documents to counsel without interception, monitoring, 
37 copying, redaction or other action or review by the facility or anyone acting on behalf 
38 of the facility or the State.


39 Sec. A-5.  Communications policy.  Within 90 days of the effective date of this 
40 Act, the chief administrative officer of each Department of Corrections correctional facility 
41 or detention facility shall adopt a policy providing each resident of the correctional facility 
42 or detention facility a means to engage in confidential communications as required by the 
43 Maine Revised Statutes, Title 34-A, section 3015 and section 3031, subsection 11 and shall 







Page 3 - 130LR2256(01)


44 publish the policy on the facility's publicly accessible website and provide a copy to the 
45 Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services established in Title 5, section 12004-G, 
46 subsection 25-A.


4 PART B
5 Sec. B-1.  30-A MRSA §1566 is enacted to read:
6 §1566.  Confidential communications
7 A person who is incarcerated in a jail has a right to a means to engage in confidential 
8 communications with the person's counsel as required by section 1663 and in accordance 
9 with this section.


10 1.  Definitions.  As used in this section, unless the context otherwise indicates, the 
11 following terms have the following meanings.
12 A.  "Commission" means the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services 
13 established by Title 5, section 12004-G, subsection 25-A.
14 B.  "Jail" means a jail or other county correctional facility or a regional correctional 
15 facility operated pursuant to this chapter.
16 C.  "Person" means a person who is incarcerated in a jail.
17 2.  Access.  A jail shall provide a means to engage in confidential communications 
18 between a person and the person's counsel in person in space within the jail or by telephone, 
19 video or electronic communication without charge to the person or that person's counsel.
20 3.  Prohibited conduct.  A jail may not intercept, record, monitor, disseminate or 
21 otherwise divulge an oral, written, telephone, video or electronic communication between 
22 a person and the person's counsel.  The provisions of this subsection also apply to any 
23 agent, employee, contractor or vendor of communication services that provides services to 
24 a jail or works with a jail in any capacity.  A violation of this subsection by an agent, 
25 employee, contractor or vendor of communication services that provides services to a jail 
26 or works with a jail in any capacity is deemed a violation by the jail.
27 4.  Logs.  A jail and any contractor or vendor that provides communication services 
28 subject to this section shall create and maintain for a minimum of 7 years logs of all 
29 confidential communications to or from the jail to which a person incarcerated in the jail is 
30 a party, including but not limited to the date and time of the telephone call or video or 
31 electronic communication, the telephone number or electronic address involved, the 
32 duration of the telephone call or video or electronic communication and the name of the 
33 person.  All logs of confidential communications related to a person and the person's 
34 counsel must be released upon request within 30 days to the person or that person's 
35 authorized representative or counsel requesting the logs and to the commission.  
36 5.  Audit.  Every 90 days, a jail shall audit its logs of telephone, video and electronic 
37 communications to or from telephone numbers and electronic addresses listed as belonging 
38 to counsel for a person and shall, upon completion of the audit, provide that audit to the 
39 commission.  If an audit concludes that a recording of a telephone call or video or electronic 
40 communication exists or that information was obtained or gathered in violation of this 
41 section, the administrator of the jail shall inform counsel, the person and the commission 
42 within 3 business days.  


1
2
3







Page 4 - 130LR2256(01)


1 6.  Policy.  The administrator of a jail shall adopt a policy providing a means to engage 
2 in confidential communications as required by this section, shall review and update the 
3 policy annually and shall publish the policy on a publicly accessible website and provide a 
4 copy to the commission.


5 Sec. B-2.  30-A MRSA §1663 is enacted to read:
6 §1663.  Confidential communications
7 The administrator of a jail as defined in section 1566, subsection 1, paragraph B shall 
8 provide the following means to engage in confidential communications for a person who 
9 is incarcerated in the jail:


10 1.  Access.  Confidential communications with counsel by telephone, video or 
11 electronic communication at a minimum twice a day and at all other necessary times by 
12 means that ensure that the communications are confidential to the person and the person's 
13 counsel and cannot be monitored, recorded or overheard by any other person;  
14 2.  Written notice of request.  Written notice that the person's counsel has contacted 
15 the jail to request that the person call or contact the person's counsel.  The jail shall keep a 
16 written record of the contact by the person's counsel and the notice to the person from the 
17 jail.  Failure of the jail to maintain a copy of the notice to the person is prima facie evidence 
18 that notice was not provided; and  
19 3.  Document review.  An opportunity to receive from and review with counsel all 
20 documents sent to the person by counsel, including but not limited to letters, pleadings and 
21 discovery in any format or form, and to send documents to counsel without interception, 
22 monitoring, copying, redaction or other action or review by the jail or anyone acting on 
23 behalf of the jail or the State.


24 Sec. B-3.  Communications policy.  Within 90 days of the effective date of this 
25 Act, the administrator of each county jail or other county correctional facility shall adopt a 
26 policy providing access to communications as required by the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 
27 30-A, sections 1566 and 1663 and shall publish the policy on a publicly accessible website 
28 and provide a copy to the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services established in 
29 Title 5, section 12004-G, subsection 25-A.


30 PART C
31 Sec. C-1.  15 MRSA §458 is enacted to read:
32 §458.  Confidential communications between client and counsel
33 The following provisions apply with regard to confidential communications between a 
34 person summonsed or arrested for, charged with, indicted for or convicted of a crime and 
35 the counsel for that person that are protected pursuant to Title 30-A, section 1566 and Title 
36 34-A, section 3015.
37 1.  Opportunity for confidential communications.  A person summonsed or arrested 
38 for, charged with, indicted for or convicted of a crime has a right to an opportunity for 
39 confidential communications with the person's counsel in person and by telephone, video 
40 or electronic communication in preparation for a court appearance, before and during 
41 arraignment and while appearing in court, including confidential communications that are 
42 not overheard or monitored by another person.  







Page 5 - 130LR2256(01)


1 2.  Prohibited use of documents and information in court.  With respect to a 
2 document or information of any kind and in any format or form that was obtained in 
3 violation of Title 30-A, section 1566, subsection 3 or Title 34-A, section 3015, subsection 
4 3, all information and materials derived from the document or information are inadmissible 
5 in any court proceeding.  The doctrines of inevitable discovery and exigency do not apply 
6 to evidence that is inadmissible in court pursuant to this subsection.  A claim of 
7 inadvertence, negligence, recklessness or mistake does not render admissible a document 
8 or information that is inadmissible under this subsection.  
9 3.  Prohibited participation in court.  Except as provided in this subsection, a person 


10 who has accessed or received any document, recording or information of any type in 
11 violation of Title 30-A, section 1566 or Title 34-A, section 3015, whether or not the person 
12 has reviewed the substance of the document, recording or information, may not participate 
13 in any investigation, prosecution, mental health or child protective proceeding or any other 
14 matter before a court in this State, including through formal or informal communications.  
15 A person is not prohibited from participation under this subsection if the person has the 
16 exclusive ability to provide relevant factual information and a judicial officer other than 
17 the presiding officer has reviewed the facts regarding the participation of the person and 
18 has issued findings and a ruling on the scope and exclusivity of the testimony that the 
19 person may provide.  
20 4.  Additional post-conviction review.  In addition to any other post-conviction 
21 remedy provided to a person convicted of a crime in this State pursuant to chapter 305-A, 
22 a person whose confidential communications with counsel have been intercepted in 
23 violation of Title 30-A, section 1566 or Title 34-A, section 3015 or in any other way by the 
24 State, a prosecutor or a law enforcement agency may file a petition for post-conviction 
25 review up to 2 years from the date that the person is notified by the person's counsel of the 
26 interception of the communication.
27 5.  Civil remedies.  A person who, without permission from all parties to a 
28 conversation or oral communication, knowingly eavesdrops on, records or transmits the 
29 conversation or oral communication or any portion thereof between a person who is in the 
30 physical custody of a law enforcement officer or other public officer and the person's 
31 counsel or between a person who is on the property of a law enforcement agency or other 
32 public agency and the person's counsel is subject to a civil action in Superior Court and a 
33 civil penalty of not more than $10,000 per occurrence, payable to the Maine Commission 
34 on Indigent Legal Services, established in Title 5, section 12004-G, subsection 25-A, to be 
35 applied by the commission to noncounsel costs associated with promoting effective 
36 representation of indigent clients.
37 6.  Private cause of action.  A person who is aggrieved by the action of another 
38 individual who, without permission from all parties to a conversation or oral 
39 communication, knowingly eavesdrops on, records or transmits the conversation or oral 
40 communication or any portion thereof between a person who is in the physical custody of 
41 a law enforcement officer or other public officer and the person's counsel or between a 
42 person who is on the property of a law enforcement agency or other public agency and that 
43 person's counsel has a private cause of action against that individual in Superior Court for 
44 which the aggrieved person may be awarded by the court actual damages, restitution, 
45 attorney's fees and costs and such other equitable relief as the court determines to be 
46 necessary and proper.







Page 6 - 130LR2256(01)


1 Sec. C-2.  Policy statement.  Within 90 days of the effective date of this Act, the 
2 district attorneys for each prosecutorial district and the Attorney General shall adopt and 
3 post to their publicly accessible websites and shall provide to the Maine Commission on 
4 Indigent Legal Services established in the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 5, section 
5 12004-G, subsection 25-A policies that provide assurance of compliance with Title 15, 
6 section 458, subsection 1; Title 30-A, section 1566, subsections 2 and 3; and Title 34-A, 
7 section 3015, subsections 2 and 3.


8 PART D
9 Sec. D-1.  17-A MRSA §761 is enacted to read:


10 §761.  Unauthorized eavesdropping
11 1.   A person is guilty of unauthorized eavesdropping if that person, without permission 
12 from all parties to a conversation or oral communication, knowingly eavesdrops on, records 
13 or transmits the conversation or oral communication or any portion thereof between a 
14 person who is in the physical custody of a law enforcement officer or other public officer 
15 and the person's counsel or between a person who is on the property of a law enforcement 
16 agency or other public agency and the person's counsel.
17 2.   Unauthorized eavesdropping is a Class C crime.


18 PART E
19 Sec. E-1.  Retrospective review and audit.  The Maine Commission on Indigent 
20 Legal Services established in the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 5, section 12004-G, 
21 subsection 25-A, the Department of Corrections and the county jails and other county 
22 correctional facilities shall engage in a process of retrospective review and audit.  Within 
23 90 days of the effective date of this Act, the commission shall identify and compile a list 
24 of telephone numbers and electronic addresses of attorneys to which incarcerated persons 
25 have placed telephone calls or sent electronic communications in the previous 6 years and 
26 shall notify each correctional facility or detention facility and each jail or county 
27 correctional facility.  Within 180 days of the effective date of this Act, each correctional 
28 facility and detention facility and each county jail or other county correctional facility shall 
29 audit its records of telephone calls and electronic communications to determine whether 
30 any telephone calls or electronic communications on the list provided by the commission 
31 may have been recorded and, with regard to any telephone call or electronic communication 
32 that may have been recorded, shall provide to the commission sufficient detail on each 
33 telephone call or electronic communication to allow the commission to identify the attorney 
34 telephone number or electronic address involved in the telephone call or electronic 
35 communication, the affected client and the date, time and duration of the telephone call or 
36 electronic communication. After receipt of the detail of the telephone call or electronic 
37 communication required by this section, the commission shall inform each listed attorney, 
38 who shall inform each affected client.


39 SUMMARY
40 This bill ensures constitutionally adequate contact with counsel for residents of 
41 Department of Corrections correctional and detention facilities, for persons who are 
42 incarcerated in county jails and other county correctional facilities and for clients and their 
43 counsel in court facilities.  The bill addresses telephone, video and electronic forms of 


40
41
42
43







Page 7 - 130LR2256(01)


44 communication and person-to-person contact.  The bill prohibits intercepting, recording, 
45 monitoring, disseminating or otherwise divulging any oral, written, telephone, video or 
46 electronic communication between clients and their counsel.  The bill requires facilities to 
47 maintain logs of telephone calls and communications between clients and their counsel and 
48 requires periodic auditing of logs.  The bill requires a facility to provide written notice to a 
49 client when the client's counsel contacts the facility and asks for the client to contact 
50 counsel.  The bill requires a facility to provide an opportunity to review documents with 
51 counsel.  The bill requires periodic audits and requires the adoption of policies that are 
52 published publicly and submitted to the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services.  
53 For violations of the law, the bill establishes civil penalties, a private cause of action and 
54 post-conviction review in addition to review provided pursuant to the Maine Revised 
55 Statutes, Title 15, chapter 305-A.  The bill prohibits use of illegally obtained information 
56 in court and prohibits participation in court by a person who has accessed or received a 
57 document, recording or information in violation of the law.  The bill creates a new Class C 
58 crime of unauthorized eavesdropping.  The bill requires the Maine Commission on Indigent 
59 Legal Services, the Department of Corrections and the county jails and other county 
60 correctional facilities to conduct a retrospective review of telephone calls and electronic 
61 communications between clients and their counsel, who are required to provide notice to 
62 their clients affected by prohibited recordings.


1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9


10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19








  


154 State House Station, Augusta, Maine 04333 
(207) 287-3257 • (207) 287-3293 Fax 


www.maine.gov/mcils   


MAINE COMMISSION ON  
INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES 


 


 
 
        February 25, 2022 
 
 
Senator Anne Carney 
Representative Thom Harnett 
Committee on Judiciary  
100 State House Station, Room 438 
Augusta, ME 04333 
 
 
 
 Re: LD 1946 – An Act to Ensure Constitutionally Adequate Contact with Counsel 
 
 
Dear Senator Carney, Representative Harnett, and Members of the Committee on Judiciary: 
 
 
 LD 1946, An Act to Ensure Constitutionally Adequate Contact with Counsel, is necessary 
to ensure that consumers of indigent legal services in Maine receive the protection of the Sixth 
Amendment right to counsel. I urge the committee to find that the bill ought to pass and implore 
the legislature as a whole to enact these important protections.   
 
 Since September when the draft language behind this bill began to circulate, I have been 
part of many discussions about its need and scope.  I have heard many objections from many 
quarters, including most recently through the Criminal Law Advisory Commission and in the 
written testimony submitted by the Maine Prosecutors’ Association (MPA).  I am troubled by the 
response.  An objection to the protections provided by this bill are fundamentally objections to 
safeguarding the rights of defendants.  There may be room to discuss alternative mechanisms to 
ensure that defendants have adequate access to counsel, but that has not been the nature of the 
dialogue so far.  Instead, the objections are focused on the inconvenience and cost to the State of 
upholding defendants’ rights.  The tenor of the conversation suggests that it would be unfair to the 
State to hold it to its obligations.  The reality is that people charged by the State with crimes have 
the categorical right to adequate and effective contact with counsel, while the State has no 
countervailing rights.  There are many ways in which the State can meet its obligations to 
defendants, without compromising its law enforcement goals, and yet those protective mechanisms 
have not been implemented.  LD 1946 is necessary so that it becomes more inconvenient and 
expensive for the State to fail to meet its obligations than it would be to attend to those obligations.  
 


  







 


MCILS - 2/25/2022 
Page 2 of 4 
 


 


 As many of you know, I practiced criminal law for many years before becoming the 
Executive Director at MCILS.  While I was practicing, I had clients whose calls were recorded by 
jails and disseminated to prosecutors.  At that time, there was no way to take a system level view 
of the issues, and so I believed wrongly that the issue was limited in scope.  In 2015, I received a 
call from the prosecutor in one of my cases informing me that he had received a copy of a recorded 
call my client had made to my office from a jail.  Soon thereafter I became aware of another client 
in the same jail who had had one or more calls recorded.  We addressed these issues through the 
Court.  That jail identified the lapse that had caused the issues, and I believed what had been a 
singular issue had been resolved.  I was wrong. 
 
 Later in 2015, I was assigned to represent a client who had been held in a different jail.  I 
was successor counsel in that case.  While reviewing the discovery for that client, we found that 
the jail staff had not only recorded privileged calls but had identified 79 specific privileged calls 
and had burned those calls to a separate CD-ROM, and then provided that disc to the prosecution.  
This was not a lapse.  This was purposeful conduct by a jail staff person.  79 calls cannot be 
identified, segregated, copied, and distributed accidentally.  
 
 By mid-2020, I became aware that what my clients had experienced was part of a much 
larger, system-wide problem.  Former Executive Director Pelletier contacted me to discuss my 
clients’ experiences as part of his effort to address the issue.  I believed the issue had been 
addressed.  I was wrong. 
 
 After joining MCILS in January 2021, I learned what had happened in response to the 
efforts the Commission made at that time. In June 2020, Director Pelletier made FOAA requests 
to every jail in Maine for information related to recordings of privileged calls.  The vast majority 
of jails simply refused to provide him with the information he requested, despite his formal 
invocation of FOAA. As currently constituted, MCILS does not have the independent prerogative 
to pursue FOAA litigation; to seek any form of injunctive relief; or, to intervene on behalf of any 
defendant.  As a result, this bill is the only mechanism available that will allow MCILS to perform 
its necessary oversight role in ensuring that defendants’ rights are vindicated.  
 
 Fortunately, where MCILS could not proceed effectively in 2020, an investigative 
journalist was able to make headway.  The results of that investigation are staggering. The 
journalist documented almost 1,000 calls between clients and attorney offices that were recorded 
by only 4 of 15 jails, during only one year. Every one of these calls was made by an incarcerated 
person to an attorney’s office.  None of these calls implicated any form of circumventing  the jail’s 
telephone system in a way that might have reasonably rendered the calls subject to recording. 1,000 
calls.  Four jails.  One year.  This must stop. 
 


  







 


MCILS - 2/25/2022 
Page 3 of 4 
 


 


 And yet, despite every jail having been put on notice by MCILS in June 2020, the 
recordings have not stopped.  The MPA touts its letter of July 2020 to jails as part of a solution, 
and yet the recordings have not stopped.  As recently as August 2021, MCILS became aware that 
a jail had recorded privileged, substantive client-attorney communications, and provided those 
communications to the State in a child protective action.  In that case, the State distributed those 
calls to all the parties to that action through discovery.  Counsel, and through counsel the client, 
became aware of the issue only through that discovery. No one caught the issue before distribution.  
No one advised counsel of the issue before distribution.  
 
 Today, I have no ability to report to you how many calls have been recorded since August 
2021, because no one – not MCILS; not a client; not an attorney – has the ability to extract the 
necessary information from the jails.   
 


Still serious issues persist.  In each specific case in which a call is recorded, a defendant is 
at risk that the disclosure of privileged information will lead to that person’s detriment.  Should 
that happen then that person cannot receive due process. At a system level, the problem is even 
more serious.  Clients and attorneys are afraid to communicate by phone. Jails are limiting or 
prohibiting in person contact due to the pandemic.  Defendants are being deprived of counsel.  This 
cannot be permitted to continue.  


 
Defendants are also being deprived of adequate access to counsel in other parts of the 


judicial system.  In the Lawyer of the Day system, for example, defendants are frequently not able 
to speak with counsel in private in jails and courthouses.   There is frequently no way for counsel 
and a client to have a private conversation to discuss an offer or the comments that might be made 
by the Court.  In many instances, there is no way for a lawyer who must appear remotely to provide 
counsel for an incarcerated person to have any contact at all with the person before the moment of 
the appearance.  All of this deprives defendants of actual counsel. 


 
These defendants have the absolute right to adequate privileged contact with counsel.  The 


State has demonstrated that it will not uphold that right unless motivated to do so.  This bill 
provides that motivation. 


 
In its written testimony, the MPA argues that while it is “supportive” of the “goal” of 


honoring privileged communications, this bill would have a detrimental effect on the prosecution 
of criminal cases.  MPA testimony of February 23, 2022.  That mere preamble illustrates the need 
for this bill.  Even if it were true that this bill would have some hostile effect on legitimate 
prosecution – a proposition that is wholly unfounded – the State has no interest in a prosecution 
that can stand against a defendant’s absolute constitutional right. Still the State objects without 
suggesting an alternative mechanism that might both vindicate the rights of defendants and meet 
its internal approval. 


  
  







 


MCILS - 2/25/2022 
Page 4 of 4 
 


 


The MPA argues that it would be unfair to the State to disqualify prosecutors who receive 
privileged information because that person might have worked hard to prepare a case.  While it 
might be inconvenient to replace a prosecutor, that inconvenience pales in comparison to the 
impossibility of effective client-attorney communication under the threat of disclosure.  There is 
nothing a client or attorney can do to ameliorate that threat.  The State, however, can eliminate its 
own concern by developing and implementing effective policies and controls to ensure that a 
prosecutor does not receive improper information.  It is entirely within the State’s ability to ensure 
that the disqualification of counsel need never occur. 


 
Later, the MPA argues that the bill is unnecessary because there are existing remedies for 


aggrieved defendants.  The sheer volume of recorded client-attorney calls belies this proposition.  
There can be no reasonable argument that whatever existing penalties there may be actually deter 
the State from recording privileged calls.  In just one year, in just four jails, that proposition was 
disproven almost 1,000 times. Further, the MPA suggestion that the remedies of the exclusion of 
evidence or a Bar Grievance against a prosecutor are adequate deterrents entirely ignores the 
problem of law enforcement acting directly on information it improperly obtains.  


 
Finally, the MPA points out that there would be a conflict between the existing law 


exempting law enforcement and jail personnel, and a new statute criminalizing recording client-
attorney communication.  Eliminating any such exemption for intentional conduct is the intent of 
the bill.  The existing exemption provides a safe harbor for continued incursions into the client-
attorney relationship.  


 
In its conclusion, the MPA raises the specter that this bill would impair the State’s ability 


to protect victims and prevent future crimes, especially in cases of domestic violence.  There is 
absolutely no reason that this should be the case, unless the State chooses to not implement policies 
that work.  It is beyond the scope of this testimony to brainstorm every possible solution but here’s 
one that would work:  if a jail set up two phones and two phone administration systems, then one 
system could be limited to properly vetted attorney calls, and never recorded.  The other would be 
for all other calls and thus might be amenable to recording.  That way, there would never be the 
threat of an improper recording, and there would also never be the threat of unmonitored illegal 
conduct by phone.  There may be other solutions, but this one alone demonstrates that there is no 
practical impediment to implementing the protections of this bill in a manner that does not 
prejudice the State in any way.  All that is lacking is sufficient motivation.  


 
This bill does nothing more than ensure that a defendant’s existing constitutional right to 


unmonitored contact with counsel is protected.  The need to protect that right is well documented.  
The ability to avoid the sanctions provided by the bill is entirely within the control of the State.   


 
I urge you to support LD 1946. 


          Sincerely, 
 
          /s/ Justin W. Andrus  
         
          Executive Director 
          MCILS  








Printed on recycled paper


130th MAINE LEGISLATURE


SECOND REGULAR SESSION-2022


Legislative Document No. 1950


H.P. 1453 House of Representatives, January 26, 2022


An Act To Implement the Recommendations of the Commission To 
Create a Plan To Incorporate the Probate Courts into the Judicial 
Branch


(EMERGENCY)


Reported by Representative HARNETT of Gardiner for the Joint Standing Committee on 
Judiciary pursuant to Resolve 2021, chapter 104, section 8.


Reference to the Committee on Judiciary suggested and ordered printed pursuant to Joint 
Rule 218.


ROBERT B. HUNT
Clerk







Page 1 - 130LR2578(01)


1 Emergency preamble.  Whereas, acts and resolves of the Legislature do not 
2 become effective until 90 days after adjournment unless enacted as emergencies; and


3 Whereas, the existing Probate Court system established pursuant to the Constitution 
4 of Maine, Article VI, Section 6 was conditionally repealed by a vote of the people of Maine 
5 in 1967; and


6 Whereas, the effective date of the repeal was dependent on the establishment of a 
7 different Probate Court system with full-time judges by the Legislature; and


8 Whereas, this legislation implements the recommendations of the Commission To 
9 Create a Plan To Incorporate the Probate Courts into the Judicial Branch, which was 


10 established by Resolve 2021, chapter 104 to honor the intent of a long-standing vote of 
11 Maine people and directed to create a plan for a Probate Court system with full-time judges; 
12 and


13 Whereas, enactment of this legislation will trigger the repeal of the Constitution of 
14 Maine, Article VI, Section 6, which provides for the election of county probate judges and 
15 county registers of probate, some of whom are subject to primary and general elections this 
16 year; and


17 Whereas, it is therefore necessary to clarify the statutory processes by which probate 
18 court judges and registers of probate are selected before the date of the June 14, 2022 
19 primary; and


20 Whereas, in the judgment of the Legislature, these facts create an emergency within 
21 the meaning of the Constitution of Maine and require the following legislation as 
22 immediately necessary for the preservation of the public peace, health and safety; now, 
23 therefore,
24 Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:


25 PART A
26 Sec. A-1.  Legislative intent.  In 1967, the Legislature finally passed Resolve 1967, 
27 chapter 77, which proposed to amend the Constitution of Maine by repealing Article VI, 
28 Section 6, "effective at such time as the Legislature by proper enactment shall establish a 
29 different Probate Court system with full-time judges."  The constitutional amendment in 
30 Resolve 1967, chapter 77 was approved by a majority of the voters of Maine on November 
31 7, 1967.   It is the intent of the Legislature that the enactment of this Act, which creates a 
32 statewide Probate Court with full-time judges, triggers the repeal of the Constitution of 
33 Maine, Article VI, Section 6 pursuant to Resolve 1967, chapter 77.


34 PART B
35 Sec. B-1.  4 MRSA §9-A, first ¶, as amended by PL 1987, c. 736, §2, is further 
36 amended to read:
37 The Supreme Judicial Court shall have has the power and authority to prescribe, repeal, 
38 add to, amend or modify rules of evidence with respect to any and all civil actions or other 
39 proceedings, and any and all proceedings in criminal cases before justices of the peace, 
40 District Courts, probate courts Probate Courts, Superior Courts and the Supreme Judicial 
41 Court.







Page 2 - 130LR2578(01)


1 Sec. B-2.  4 MRSA §9-B, as amended by PL 1999, c. 547, Pt. B, §3 and affected by 
2 §80, is further amended to read:
3 §9-B.  Committee on judicial responsibility and disability
4 The Supreme Judicial Court has the power and authority to prescribe, repeal, add to, 
5 amend or modify rules relating to a committee to receive complaints, make investigations 
6 and make recommendations to the Supreme Judicial Court in regard to discipline, 
7 disability, retirement or removal of justices of the Supreme Judicial Court and the Superior 
8 Court and judges of the District Court and the probate courts Probate Courts.


9 Sec. B-3.  4 MRSA §57, first ¶, as amended by PL 1999, c. 731, Pt. ZZZ, §2 and 
10 affected by §42, is further amended to read:
11 The following cases only come before the court as a court of law: Cases on appeal from 
12 the District Court, the Superior Court or a single Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court or 
13 from the probate courts Probate Court; questions of law arising on reports of cases, 
14 including interlocutory orders or rulings of such importance as to require, in the opinion of 
15 the justice, review by the Law Court before any further proceedings in the action; agreed 
16 statement of facts; cases presenting a question of law; all questions arising in cases in which 
17 equitable relief is sought; motions to dissolve injunctions issued after notice and hearing or 
18 continued after a hearing; questions arising on habeas corpus, mandamus and certiorari and 
19 questions of state law certified by the federal courts.  They must be marked "law" on the 
20 docket of the county or district where they are pending, and there continued until their 
21 determination is certified by the Clerk of the Law Court to the Register of Probate or clerk 
22 of courts of the county and the court shall immediately after the decision of the question 
23 submitted to it make such order, direction, judgment or decree as is fit and proper for the 
24 disposal of the case, and cause a rescript in all civil actions, briefly stating the points therein 
25 decided, to be filed therein, which rescript must be certified by the Clerk of the Law Court 
26 to the Register of Probate or clerk of courts of the county or district where the action is 
27 pending and to the Reporter of Decisions. If no further opinion is written out, the reporter 
28 shall publish in the next volume of reports thereafter issued the case, together with such 
29 rescript, if the reporter deems the same of sufficient importance for publication.


30 Sec. B-4.  4 MRSA §105, sub-§2, ¶A, as enacted by PL 1999, c. 731, Pt. ZZZ, §3 
31 and affected §42, is amended to read:
32 A.  Concurrent or exclusive jurisdiction is vested in the District Court or the Probate 
33 Court; or


34 Sec. B-5.  4 MRSA §152, sub-§4, as repealed and replaced by PL 2013, c. 21, §1, 
35 is amended to read:
36 4.  Exclusive jurisdiction.  Original jurisdiction, not concurrent with that of the 
37 Superior Court or Probate Court, of mental health commitment hearings under Title 34‑B, 
38 chapter 3, subchapter 4,; habitual truancy actions under Title 20‑A, chapters 119 and 211 
39 under which equitable relief may be granted; and small claims actions under Title 14, 
40 chapter 738;


41 Sec. B-6.  4 MRSA §152, sub-§5-A, as amended by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. C, §3 and 
42 affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is further amended to read:







Page 3 - 130LR2578(01)


1 5-A.  Actions involving minors under Title 18-C.  Exclusive jurisdiction of actions 
2 for guardianship, adoption, change of name or other matters involving custody or other 
3 parental rights brought under Title 18‑C if proceedings involving custody or other parental 
4 rights with respect to a minor child, including but not limited to adoption, divorce, parental 
5 rights and responsibilities, grandparents' rights, protective custody, change of name, 
6 guardianship, paternity, termination of parental rights and protection from abuse or 
7 harassment, are pending in the District Court.
8 A.  The District Court presiding over any matter involving custody or other parental 
9 rights with respect to a minor child shall require all parties to disclose whether they 


10 have knowledge of:
11 (1)  Any interim or final order then in effect concerning custody or other parental 
12 rights with respect to the minor child;
13 (2)  Any proceeding involving custody or other parental rights with respect to the 
14 minor child currently filed or pending before any court of this State or another 
15 state, including before a probate court in this State the Probate Court; or
16 (3)  Any other related action currently filed or pending before any court of this 
17 State or another state, including before a probate court in this State the Probate 
18 Court.
19 B.  If the District Court presiding over any matter involving custody or other parental 
20 rights with respect to a minor child becomes aware that a proceeding for guardianship, 
21 adoption or change of name or another matter involving custody or other parental rights 
22 with respect to the minor child is pending in a probate court in this State the Probate 
23 Court, the District Court shall notify the Probate Court and take appropriate action to 
24 facilitate a transfer of the matter from the Probate Court;


25 Sec. B-7.  4 MRSA §201 is repealed.


26 Sec. B-8.  4 MRSA §201-A is enacted to read:
27 §201-A.  Establishment; court of record; seal; process; contempt power
28 1.  Definition.  As used in this Title, unless the context otherwise indicates, "Probate 
29 Court" includes:
30 A.  Prior to January 1, 2025, each county Probate Court for which the term of the 
31 county's Probate Court Judge elected or appointed under the former Constitution of 
32 Maine, Article VI, Section 6 or elected under section 301-A, subsection 1 has not yet 
33 expired.  This paragraph does not include any county probate court in which a vacancy 
34 occurs after January 1, 2023 due to the death, resignation, removal from the county or 
35 permanent incapacity as defined in Title 30-A, section 1, subsection 2-A of the elected 
36 county Probate Court Judge; and
37 B. Beginning January 1, 2023, the Probate Court established under subsection 2, 
38 paragraph B in each county in which the term of the most recent county Probate Court 
39 Judge elected under the former Constitution of Maine, Article VI, Section 6 or under 
40 section 301-A, subsection 1 has expired or in which a vacancy occurs after January 1, 
41 2023 due to the death, resignation, removal from the county or permanent incapacity 
42 as defined in Title 30-A, section 1, subsection 2-A of the elected county Probate Court 
43 Judge.







Page 4 - 130LR2578(01)


1 2. Establishment; court of record; seal.  The provisions of this section govern the 
2 Probate Court.
3 A.  Each county Probate Court described in subsection 1, paragraph A, as heretofore 
4 established, is a court of record.  The Register of Probate shall maintain custody of the 
5 official seal of the county Probate Court.
6 B. A Probate Court for the State is established on January 1, 2023 as a court of record 
7 in the counties described in subsection 1, paragraph B.  The Chief Judge of the Probate 
8 Court shall establish the official seal of the court and provide the official seal to the 
9 Register of Probate in each county described in subsection 1, paragraph B.


10 3. Process; contempt power.  The Probate Court may issue any process necessary for 
11 the discharge of official duties and may punish for contempt of the court's authority.


12 Sec. B-9.  4 MRSA §202, as amended by PL 1981, c. 456, Pt. A, §5, is further 
13 amended to read:
14 §202.  Oaths and acknowledgments
15 All oaths required to be taken by personal representatives, trustees, guardians, or 
16 conservators, or of any other persons in relation to any proceeding in the probate court 
17 Probate Court, or to perpetuate the evidence of the publication of any order of notice, may 
18 be administered by the judge Probate Court Judge or register of probate Register of Probate 
19 or any notary public. A certificate thereof, when taken out of court, shall must be returned 
20 into the registry of probate and there filed. When any person of whom such oath is required, 
21 including any parent acknowledging consent to an adoption, resides temporarily or 
22 permanently without outside of the State, the oath or acknowledgment may be taken before 
23 and be certified by a notary public without the State in another state, a commissioner for 
24 the State of Maine or a United States Consul.


25 Sec. B-10.  4 MRSA §203 is amended to read:
26 §203.  Rights of claimants under heir
27 Any person claiming under an heir at law has the same rights as the heir in all 
28 proceedings in probate courts Probate Court, including rights of appeal.


29 Sec. B-11.  4 MRSA §251, as corrected by RR 2015, c. 2, §1, is further amended to 
30 read:
31 §251.  General jurisdiction
32 Each judge Probate Court may take the probate of wills and grant letters testamentary 
33 or of administration on the estates of all deceased persons who, at the time of their death, 
34 were inhabitants or residents of the judge's county in which the Probate Court is located or 
35 who, not being residents of the State, died leaving an estate to be administered in the judge's 
36 that county, or whose estate is afterwards found therein; and has jurisdiction of all matters 
37 relating to the settlement of such estates. A judge may grant leave to adopt children, change 
38 the names of persons, appoint guardians for minors and others according to law and has 
39 jurisdiction as to persons under guardianship, and as to whatever else is conferred by law, 
40 except in cases in which the District Court has jurisdiction over a child pursuant to section 
41 152, subsection 5‑A. Except in cases in which the District Court has exclusive jurisdiction 
42 over a child pursuant to section 152, subsection 5-A, each Probate Court has jurisdiction to 
43 the extent authorized in Title 18-C over adoptions, name change petitions, guardianships, 







Page 5 - 130LR2578(01)


44 conservatorships and other protective arrangements; has jurisdiction to the extent 
45 authorized in Title 18-C as to persons under guardianship, conservatorship or other 
46 protective arrangements; and has jurisdiction over any other matter as provided by law.


4 Sec. B-12.  4 MRSA §251-A, as enacted by PL 2015, c. 460, §4, is amended to read:
5 §251-A.  Other proceedings involving parental rights; transfer to District Court
6 1.  Disclosure of orders and proceedings.  The judge of probate presiding over any 
7 matter involving guardianship, adoption or change of name or another matter involving 
8 custody or other parental rights with respect to a minor child Probate Court shall require 
9 all parties in any matter involving guardianship, adoption or change of name or another 


10 matter involving custody or other parental rights with respect to a minor child to disclose 
11 whether they have knowledge of:
12 A.  Any interim or final order then in effect concerning custody or other parental rights 
13 with respect to the minor child;
14 B.  Any proceeding involving custody or other parental rights with respect to the minor 
15 child currently filed or pending before any court of this State or another state, including 
16 the District Court; or
17 C.  Any other related action currently filed or pending before any court of this State or 
18 another state, including the District Court.
19 2.  Transfer to District Court.  If in a matter before the Probate Court concerning a 
20 minor child a judge of probate the Probate Court becomes aware that a proceeding 
21 involving custody or other parental rights with respect to the minor child is pending in the 
22 District Court, the judge Probate Court shall notify the District Court and take appropriate 
23 action to facilitate a transfer of the matter to the District Court.


24 Sec. B-13.  4 MRSA §252 is amended to read:
25 §252.  Equity jurisdiction
26 The courts of probate shall have Probate Court has jurisdiction in equity, concurrent 
27 with the Superior Court, of all cases and matters relating to the administration of the estates 
28 of deceased persons, to wills and to trusts which that are created by will or other written 
29 instrument. Such jurisdiction may be exercised upon complaint according to the usual 
30 course of proceedings in civil actions in which equitable relief is sought.


31 Sec. B-14.  4 MRSA §253, as amended by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. C, §4 and affected 
32 by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is further amended to read:
33 §253.  Jurisdiction in court where proceedings originate
34 Subject to Title 18‑C, sections 1‑303 and, 3‑201, 5-106 and 9-104, and except as 
35 otherwise provided in Title 18‑C, section 5‑105, when a case is originally within the 
36 jurisdiction of the probate court Probate Court in 2 or more counties, the one that first 
37 commences proceedings therein retains the same exclusively throughout.  The jurisdiction 
38 assumed in any case, except in cases of fraud, so far as it depends on the residence of any 
39 person or the locality or amount of property, may not be contested in any proceeding 
40 whatever, except on an appeal or removal from the probate court Probate Court in the 
41 original case or when the want of jurisdiction appears on the same record.


42 Sec. B-15.  4 MRSA §301, as amended by PL 1995, c. 683, §1, is repealed.


1
2
3







Page 6 - 130LR2578(01)


1 Sec. B-16.  4 MRSA §301-A is enacted to read:
2 §301-A.  Judges; election or appointment; term; qualifications; salary; expenses; full-
3 time duties
4 1. Election; term.  Probate Court Judges are elected to the county Probate Courts 
5 described in section 201-A, subsection 2, paragraph A as follows.
6 A.  A county Probate Court Judge elected or appointed under the former Constitution 
7 of Maine, Article VI, Section 6 may serve until the expiration of that judge's term of 
8 office.  
9 (1) A vacancy occurring during the term of a county Probate Court Judge elected 


10 on November 6, 2018 due to the death, resignation, removal from the county or 
11 permanent incapacity as defined in Title 30-A, section 1, subsection 2-A of the 
12 judge may be filled by the Governor by appointment.  In the case of a vacancy in 
13 the term of a county Probate Court Judge who was nominated by primary election 
14 before the general election, the individual appointed by the Governor to fill the 
15 vacancy must be enrolled in the same political party as the judge whose term is 
16 vacant.  In making the appointment, the Governor shall choose from any 
17 recommendations submitted to the Governor by the county committee of the 
18 political party from which the appointment is to be made.  The term of the 
19 successor judge appointed by the Governor under this paragraph ends on December 
20 31, 2022.
21 (2) A vacancy occurring before January 1, 2023 during the term of a county Probate 
22 Court Judge elected on November 3, 2020 due to the death, resignation, removal 
23 from the county or permanent incapacity as defined in Title 30-A, section 1, 
24 subsection 2-A of the judge must be filled by election under paragraph B; in the 
25 meantime, the Governor may fill such a vacancy by appointment.  In the case of a 
26 vacancy in the term of a county Probate Court Judge who was nominated by 
27 primary election before the general election, the individual appointed by the 
28 Governor to fill the vacancy must be enrolled in the same political party as the 
29 judge whose term is vacant.   In making the appointment, the Governor shall choose 
30 from any recommendations submitted to the Governor by the county committee of 
31 the political party from which the appointment is to be made.  The term of the 
32 successor judge appointed by the Governor under this paragraph ends on December 
33 31, 2022.
34 (3)  Vacancies occurring after January 1, 2023 during the term of any county 
35 Probate Court Judge elected under the former Constitution of Maine, Article VI, 
36 Section 6 due to the death, resignation, removal from the county or permanent 
37 incapacity as defined in Title 30-A, section 1, subsection 2-A of the judge may not 
38 be filled.
39 B. A county Probate Court Judge must be elected in Androscoggin, Franklin, Knox and 
40 Penobscot counties, and in any county in which a vacancy described in paragraph A, 
41 subparagraph (2) occurs, by a plurality of the votes cast in the respective county at an 
42 election on the Tuesday following the first Monday of November in 2022.  Each county 
43 Probate Court Judge elected under this subsection has a term of office of 2 years, 
44 commencing January 1, 2023.  Vacancies occurring in offices governed by this 
45 paragraph due to the death, resignation, removal from the county or permanent 







Page 7 - 130LR2578(01)


46 incapacity as defined in Title 30-A, section 1, subsection 2-A of the county Probate 
47 Court Judge may not be filled.
3 2. Appointment; term.  Probate Court Judges are appointed to the state Probate Court 
4 established in section 201-A, subsection 2, paragraph B as follows. 
5 A.  The Governor, subject to review by the joint standing committee of the Legislature 
6 having jurisdiction over judiciary matters and to confirmation by the Legislature, shall 
7 appoint 4 judges for terms that commence no earlier than January 1, 2023. Each Probate 
8 Court Judge appointed under this paragraph has a term of office of 7 years.
9 B.  Beginning January 1, 2023, if the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court 


10 determines that the number of Probate Court Judges appointed under paragraph A is 
11 insufficient to provide for the efficient administration of justice in the Probate Court 
12 established in section 201-A, subsection 2, paragraph B, the Chief Justice may request 
13 that the Governor appoint an additional judge.  Upon receipt of a request from the Chief 
14 Justice under this paragraph, the Governor, subject to review by the joint standing 
15 committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over judiciary matters and to 
16 confirmation by the Legislature, may appoint an additional judge to the Probate Court 
17 established in section 201-A, subsection 2, paragraph B.  In no event may more than 9 
18 Probate Court Judges be appointed to the Probate Court established in section 201-A, 
19 subsection 2, paragraph B.  Each Probate Court Judge appointed under this paragraph 
20 has a term of office of 7 years.
21 3. Qualifications.  To be eligible for election or appointment as a Probate Court Judge, 
22 an individual must be a member of the bar of the State.  
23 4.  Salary; expenses.  Each Probate Court Judge elected under subsection 1 or elected 
24 or appointed under the former Constitution of Maine, Article VI, Section 6 is entitled to 
25 receive an annual salary as established by the judge's county pursuant to Title 30-A, chapter 
26 3 and the fees provided in section 304.  Beginning January 1, 2023 and except as provided 
27 in subsection 5 for the Chief Judge of the Probate Court, each Probate Court Judge 
28 appointed under subsection 2 is entitled to receive a salary equivalent to the salary of an 
29 Associate Judge of the District Court under section 157, subsections 4 and 4-A and to 
30 reimbursement by the State for expenses to the same extent that a District Court Judge is 
31 entitled to reimbursement by the State for expenses under section 157, subsection 5.
32 5. Designation of Chief Judge; salary; expenses.  Beginning January 1, 2023, the 
33 Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court shall designate one Probate Court Judge 
34 appointed under subsection 2 as the Chief Judge of the Probate Court.  The Chief Judge is 
35 entitled to receive a salary equivalent to the salary of the Chief Judge of the District Court 
36 under section 157, subsection 2 and to reimbursement by the State for expenses to the same 
37 extent that a District Court Judge is entitled to reimbursement by the State for expenses 
38 under section 157, subsection 5.
39 6. Full-time duties.  Beginning January 1, 2023, a Probate Court Judge appointed 
40 under subsection 2 shall devote full time to that Probate Court Judge's judicial duties.  
41 During that Probate Court Judge's term of office, that judge may not practice law or be the 
42 partner or associate of any person in the practice of law.


1
2







Page 8 - 130LR2578(01)


1 7. Exception.  Subsection 6 does not apply to a county Probate Court Judge elected 
2 under subsection 1 or elected or appointed under the former Constitution of Maine, Article 
3 VI, Section 6.


4 Sec. B-17.  4 MRSA §302, as corrected by RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §8, is amended to 
5 read:
6 §302.  Officers execute processes and attend courts
7 Sheriffs, their deputies and constables shall execute all legal processes directed to them 
8 by any such judge of probate a Probate Court Judge, who may, when necessary, require 
9 such officer, when not in attendance upon any other court, to attend during the sitting of 


10 the probate court Probate Court, for which that officer must be paid as in other courts for 
11 similar services.


12 Sec. B-18.  4 MRSA §303, as amended by PL 1965, c. 238, is further amended to 
13 read:
14 §303.  Continuous session; return day for matters requiring public notice
15 The Probate court Court shall always be open in each county for all matters over which 
16 it has jurisdiction, except upon days on which by law no court is held, but it shall have 
17 certain fixed days and places to be made known by public notification thereof in their 
18 respective counties to which all matters requiring public notice shall must be made 
19 returnable, except as otherwise ordered by the judge Probate Court Judge. In case of the 
20 absence of the judge or vacancy in the office at the time of holding any court, the register 
21 Register of Probate or acting register may adjourn the same until the judge can attend or 
22 some other probate judge another Probate Court Judge can be notified and attend.


23 Sec. B-19.  4 MRSA §304, as corrected by RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §9, is amended to 
24 read:
25 §304.  Equity and contested cases; time and place of hearing
26 Judges of probate The Probate Court may hold hearings for matters in equity and 
27 contested cases at such time and place in the county as the judge of probate Probate Court 
28 may appoint and make all necessary orders and decrees relating thereto, and when hearings 
29 are held at other places than those fixed for holding the regular terms of court, the judge  is 
30 allowed, in addition to that judge's regular salary, $5 per day and actual expenses, which 
31 must be paid by the State unless otherwise provided by law.
32 When a Probate Court in a county described in section 201-A, subsection 1, paragraph 
33 A holds a hearing in a place other than the place fixed for holding the regular terms of the 
34 court, the Probate Court Judge is allowed, in addition to that judge's regular salary, $5 per 
35 day and actual expenses, which must be paid by the State unless otherwise provided by 
36 law.


37 Sec. B-20.  4 MRSA §305, as repealed and replaced by PL 1979, c. 41, is amended 
38 to read:
39 §305.  Term of Fort Kent and Caribou probate court
40 The judge of probate Probate Court in and for the County of Aroostook shall hold a 
41 court of probate at least twice in each year at Fort Kent and at least 4 times each year at 







Page 9 - 130LR2578(01)


42 Caribou in the county. The time for holding the court shall must be appointed by the judge 
43 and made known by public notification as provided in section 303.


3 Sec. B-21.  4 MRSA §306, as corrected by RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §10, is amended to 
4 read:
5 §306.  Interchange of judicial duties; expenses
6 During the With respect to a Probate Court Judge in a county described in section 
7 201-A, subsection 1, paragraph A, during a period of sickness, or absence from the State 
8 or inability of any the judge of probate to hold the regular terms of that judge's court, such 
9 the terms, at the judge's request or that of the register Register of Probate of the county, 


10 may be held by the judge of any other county any other Probate Court Judge. The judges 
11 Probate Court Judges in counties described in section 201-A, subsection 1, paragraph A 
12 may interchange service or perform each others' duties when they find it necessary or 
13 convenient, and in case of a vacancy in the office of a judge, all necessary terms of the 
14 probate court for the county may, at the request of the register, be held by the judge of 
15 another county until the vacancy is filled. The orders, decrees and decisions of the judge 
16 Probate Court Judge holding such terms have the same force and validity as if made by the 
17 judge Probate Court Judge of the county in which such terms are held.
18 When any judge of probate Probate Court Judge in a county described in section 201-A, 
19 subsection 1, paragraph A holds court or a hearing in any probate matter, or in equity, in 
20 any county other than the one in which that judge resides, that judge must be reimbursed 
21 by the county in which such court or hearing is held for that judge's expenses actually and 
22 reasonably incurred, upon presentation to the county commissioners of that county of a 
23 detailed statement of such expenses.


24 Sec. B-22.  4 MRSA §307, as corrected by RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §11, is amended to 
25 read:
26 §307.  Conflict of interest; transfer of case
27 When a judge Probate Court Judge or register of probate Register of Probate is 
28 interested in that judge's or register of probate's register's own right, trust, or in any other 
29 manner, or is within the degree of kindred, by which in law that judge or register of probate 
30 may, by possibility, be heir to any part of the estate of the person deceased, or is named as 
31 executor, trustee or guardian of minor children in the will of any deceased resident of the 
32 county, such estate must be settled in the probate court Probate Court of any adjoining 
33 county, which has as full jurisdiction thereof as if the deceased had died in that adjoining 
34 county. If the judge's or register of probate's register's interest arises after jurisdiction of 
35 such estate has been regularly assumed or existed at the time of the judge's or register of 
36 probate's register's appointment to office, and in all cases where when an executor, 
37 administrator, guardian or trustee, whose trust is not fully executed, becomes judge or 
38 register of probate for the county in which that judge's or register of probate's register's 
39 letters were granted, further proceedings in that county must be transferred to the probate 
40 court Probate Court in any adjoining county and there remain until completed, as if such 
41 court had had original jurisdiction thereof, unless said disability is removed before that 
42 time. Whenever in any case within under this section the disability of the judge or register 
43 is removed before the proceedings have been fully completed, the proceedings must then 
44 be transferred to the probate court Probate Court in the county of original jurisdiction or to 
45 the probate court Probate Court that otherwise would have had jurisdiction. In all such 


1
2







Page 10 - 130LR2578(01)


46 cases the register in such adjoining county shall transmit copies of all records relating to 
47 such estate to the probate office of the county where such estate belongs, to be there 
48 recorded.
4 This section may not be construed to require removal to another county by reason of 
5 the judge Probate Court Judge or register of probate Register of Probate having been named 
6 as executor, trustee or guardian of minor children in a will, as long as the judge or register 
7 of probate does not receive a benefit from the will and the record of the court discloses the 
8 filing of the judge's or register of probate's register's declination to act as such executor, 
9 trustee or guardian, if no objection is raised by any interested party at the hearing on the 


10 petition for probate of the will.
11 A judge Probate Court Judge in a county described in section 201-A, subsection 1, 
12 paragraph A is considered to be interested in an estate or other probate proceeding, 
13 including adoptions, if the judge or a person with whom the judge practices law represents 
14 a party in the proceeding.  When such representation begins, the judge shall transfer the 
15 matter as provided in this section, after which transfer the judge or the person with whom 
16 the judge practices law may continue such representation, except that, after a formal 
17 probate proceeding has been initiated before a judge, that judge is forever barred from 
18 assuming representation of a party in that same proceeding without regard to whether or 
19 not the proceeding has been transferred.  A petition requesting a transfer and the petition 
20 related to the matter being transferred filed simultaneously are not considered formal 
21 probate proceedings for the purposes of this paragraph.


22 Sec. B-23.  4 MRSA §308, as corrected by RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §12, is amended to 
23 read:
24 §308.  Certification of unfinished acts of predecessor judge
25 Every judge Probate Court Judge in a county described in section 201-A, subsection 1, 
26 paragraph A, upon entering on the duties of that judge's office, shall examine the records, 
27 decrees, certificates and all proceedings connected therewith that the judge's predecessor 
28 left unsigned or unauthenticated. If the judge finds them correct, the judge shall sign and 
29 authenticate them and they are then as valid to all intents and purposes as if such duty had 
30 been done by the judge's predecessor while in office.


31 Sec. B-24.  4 MRSA §309, as corrected by RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §13, is amended to 
32 read:
33 §309.  Judge not to counsel or draft documents
34 A judge of probate Probate Court Judge may not have a voice in judging and 
35 determining or be attorney or counselor in or out of court in any civil action or matter that 
36 depends on or relates to any sentence or decree made by that judge of probate in that judge 
37 of probate's judge's office, or in any civil action for or against any executor, administrator, 
38 guardian or trustee under any last will and testament, as such, within that judge of probate's 
39 judge's county. Any process or proceeding commenced by a judge of probate Probate Court 
40 Judge in the probate court for that judge of probate's county Probate Court in violation of 
41 this section is void, and that judge of probate is liable to the party injured in damages. A 
42 judge of probate Probate Court Judge may not draft or aid in drafting any document or 
43 paper that the judge of probate is by law required to pass upon.


44 Sec. B-25.  4 MRSA §310 is amended to read:


1
2
3







Page 11 - 130LR2578(01)


1 §310.  Perpetual care of cemetery lots by order
2 Judges of probate, in In any case in which an estate is under their the Probate Court's 
3 jurisdiction for probate, shall have the power to the Probate Court exercising jurisdiction 
4 over the estate may order that an appropriate amount out of the estate be set aside for 
5 perpetual care and suitable memorials for the cemetery lot in which the deceased is buried, 
6 and to order special care of such lots when the conditions and size of the estate seem to 
7 warrant such order.


8 Sec. B-26.  4 MRSA §311, as enacted by PL 1969, c. 434, is amended to read:
9 §311.  Contracts for support


10 All contracts for support for life shall must be approved by the Probate Court in the 
11 county in which the support for life is to be rendered. The Probate Court shall grant 
12 approval after such reasonable notice as the court shall determine determines to be 
13 appropriate, if the court shall find finds, after hearing, that the contract is just and equitable 
14 under all of the circumstances.
15 A contract or agreement for support for life without such Probate Court approval shall 
16 may not be received in evidence unless the person offering the contract or agreement shall 
17 establish establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that the contract or agreement is 
18 just and equitable under all of the circumstances.
19 This section shall does not apply to such contracts or agreements for support for life 
20 between persons related within the 3rd degree.


21 Sec. B-27.  4 MRSA §312, as enacted by PL 1993, c. 695, §1, is amended to read:
22 §312.  Political activities of judges of probate
23 As a candidate for the elective office of judge of probate Probate Court Judge or as an 
24 elected judge Probate Court Judge in a county described in section 201-A, subsection 1, 
25 paragraph A, a person seeking or holding the office of judge of probate Probate Court Judge 
26 in a county described in section 201-A, subsection 1, paragraph A may engage in any 
27 political activity that would be lawful for a candidate for any other elected county office or 
28 for an incumbent elected county official.  Any such judge may hold any other elected office 
29 or offices not made incompatible by the Constitution of Maine.
30 This section does not apply to a Probate Court Judge appointed under section 301-A, 
31 subsection 2.


32 Sec. B-28.  4 MRSA c. 7, sub-c. 4, as amended, is repealed.


33 Sec. B-29.  4 MRSA §567, as corrected by RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §17, is amended to 
34 read:
35 §567.  No recording officer to be attorney or sue in own court nor draft nor aid in 
36 drafting paper to be recorded
37 A clerk, register as defined in Title 18-C, section 1-201, subsection 48 or recording 
38 officer of any court of the State may not be attorney or counselor in any civil action or 
39 matter pending in that court; neither may that person commence actions to be entered 
40 therein, or draft or aid in drafting any document or paper that that person is by law required 
41 to record, in full or in part. Violation of this section is a civil violation for which a fine not 
42 to exceed $100 may be adjudged. Notwithstanding provisions of this section, clerks may 







Page 12 - 130LR2578(01)


43 aid litigants in the preparation of small claims filings and registers may provide the 
44 assistance described in Title 18-C, section 1-510, subsection 2. Nothing prevents the clerk 
45 from rendering assistance of a general nature to the bar or the public.


4 Sec. B-30.  4 MRSA §751, as corrected by RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §19, is amended to 
5 read:
6 §751.  Duties of reporters
7 The judge of any court of probate or court of insolvency Probate Court may appoint a 
8 reporter to report the proceedings at any hearing or examination in that judge's court, 
9 whenever that judge the court considers it necessary or advisable. Such reporter must be 


10 sworn to a faithful discharge of that reporter's duty and, under the direction of the judge, 
11 shall take full notes of all oral testimony at such hearing or examination and such other 
12 proceedings at such hearing or examination as the judge directs; and when required by the 
13 judge shall furnish for the files of the court a correct typewritten transcript of that reporter's 
14 notes of the oral testimony of any person testifying at such hearing or submitting to such 
15 examination, and in making that transcript the reporter shall transcribe that reporter's notes 
16 in full by questions and answers.


17 Sec. B-31.  4 MRSA §752, as corrected by RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §20, is amended to 
18 read:
19 §752.  Reading and signing transcript of testimony
20 In cases when the person testifying or submitting to examination is required by law to 
21 sign that person's testimony or examination, the transcript made as provided in section 751 
22 must be read to the person whose testimony or examination it is, at a time and place to be 
23 appointed by the judge Probate Court, unless such person or that person's counsel in writing 
24 waives such reading. If it is found to be accurate, or if it contains errors or mistakes or 
25 alleged errors or mistakes and such errors or mistakes are either corrected or the 
26 proceedings had in relation to the same as provided, such transcript must be signed by the 
27 person whose testimony or examination it is. When the reading of a transcript is waived as 
28 provided by this section, such transcript must be considered correct. In all other cases the 
29 transcript need not be signed but must be considered to be complete and correct without 
30 signing and has the same effect as if signed.


31 Sec. B-32.  4 MRSA §754, as corrected by RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §21, is amended to 
32 read:
33 §754.  Correction of mistakes in transcript
34 Manifest errors or mistakes in any transcript may be corrected, under the direction of 
35 the judge Probate Court, according to the facts. When an error or mistake is alleged by the 
36 party conducting the hearing or examination or by that party's counsel, or by the person 
37 testifying or submitting to examination or by that person's counsel, and those parties cannot 
38 agree whether or not there is such an error or mistake as alleged, or what correction should 
39 be made, the judge shall decide whether or not such an error or mistake exists, and may 
40 allow or disallow a correction according as the judge may find the fact. In such case the 
41 judge shall annex to the transcript a certificate signed by the judge stating the alleged error 
42 or mistake and by whom alleged, and the correction allowed or disallowed. In case such 
43 parties mutually agree that there is an error or mistake in the transcript, and in like manner 
44 agree what the correction should be, the transcript may be corrected according to such 


1
2
3







Page 13 - 130LR2578(01)


45 agreement, but such correction must be stated and made in the presence of the judge.  
46 Changes or alterations may not be made in any transcript except in the presence of the 
47 judge or the person appointed by the judge to take the examination.


4 Sec. B-33.  4 MRSA §755 is amended to read:
5 §755.  Appointment of reporter by judge court
6 When an examination is taken before some a person appointed by the judge Probate 
7 Court to take it, the judge court may appoint a reporter to attend such examination for the 
8 purposes mentioned in section 751, and the duties of such reporter shall be are the same as 
9 in examinations before the judge Probate Court Judge. The powers and duties of any person 


10 appointed by the judge court to take an examination shall be are the same at such 
11 examination as those of the judge, and the same proceedings for the correction or alteration 
12 of transcripts may be had before such person as before the judge.


13 Sec. B-34.  4 MRSA §756 is amended to read:
14 §756.  Transcripts deemed original papers
15 All transcripts made and signed as provided shall be in this subchapter are deemed 
16 original papers.


17 Sec. B-35.  4 MRSA §757 is enacted to read:
18 §757.  Applicability; repeal
19 1.  Applicability.  This subchapter applies to the Probate Court in each county 
20 described in section 201-A, subsection 1, paragraph A and does not apply to the state 
21 Probate Court established in section 201-A, subsection 2, paragraph B.
22 2.  Repeal.  This subchapter is repealed January 1, 2025.


23 Sec. B-36.  18-C MRSA §1-201, sub-§8, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 
24 and affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended to read:
25 8.  Court.  "Court" Prior to January 1, 2025, "court" means any one of the several 
26 courts of probate of this State established as provided in Title 4, sections 201 and 202 
27 section 201-A, subsection 2.
28 This subsection is repealed January 1, 2025.


29 Sec. B-37.  18-C MRSA §1-303, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 and 
30 affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended to read:
31 §1-303.  Venue; multiple proceedings; transfer
32 1.  Court in county where proceeding first commenced.  If a proceeding under this 
33 Code could be maintained in more than one court county in this State, the court located in 
34 the county in which the proceeding is first commenced has the exclusive right to proceed.
35 2.  Multiple proceedings.  If proceedings concerning the same estate, protected person, 
36 ward or trust are commenced in more than one court courts located in more than one county 
37 of this State, the court located in the county in which the proceeding was first commenced 
38 shall continue to hear the matter, and the other courts located in the other counties shall 
39 hold the matter in abeyance until the question of venue is decided.  If the ruling court 


1
2
3







Page 14 - 130LR2578(01)


40 determines that venue is properly in another court, it shall transfer the proceeding to the 
41 other court.
3 3.  Transfer in the interest of justice.  If a court finds that in the interest of justice a 
4 proceeding or a file should be located in transferred to the court located in another court 
5 county of this State, the court making the finding may transfer the proceeding or file to the 
6 other court in the other county.


7 Sec. B-38.  18-C MRSA §1-309, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 and 
8 affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended to read:
9 §1-309.  Judges


10 A judge of the court must be chosen and shall serve as provided in Title 4, sections 301 
11 301-A to 312.
12 This section is repealed January 1, 2025.


13 Sec. B-39.  18-C MRSA §1-501, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 and 
14 affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended to read:
15 §1-501.  Election; bond; vacancies; salaries; copies; term
16 1.  Election.  Registers of probate are The Register of Probate in each county is elected 
17 or appointed as provided in the Constitution of Maine by a plurality of the votes cast in the 
18 respective county at the election on the Tuesday following the first Monday of November 
19 in the even-numbered year next preceding the expiration of the term of the incumbent 
20 register.  The register shall hold office for 4 years, commencing on January 1st following 
21 the register's election.  A Except to the extent inconsistent with this section, a register's 
22 election is effected and determined as is provided for county commissioners by Title 30‑A, 
23 chapter 1, subchapter 2, and a register's term commences on the first day of January 
24 following the register's election, except that the term of a register appointed to fill a vacancy 
25 commences immediately.
26 2.  Bond.  A register Register of Probate, before acting, shall give bond to the treasurer 
27 of the register's county with sufficient sureties in the sum of $2,500, except that this sum 
28 must be $10,000 for Cumberland County.  A The register, having executed the bond, shall 
29 file the bond in the office of the county commissioners of the register's county, to be 
30 presented to the county commissioners at the next meeting for approval.  After the bond is 
31 approved, the county commissioners shall retain a copy of the bond and deliver the original 
32 bond to the register, who shall deliver the original bond to the treasurer of the county within 
33 10 days after the bond's approval.  Surety and fidelity insurance coverage provided by a 
34 public sector self-funded risk pool organized pursuant to Title 30‑A, section 2253 in the 
35 sum ordered by the commissioners is deemed to comply with the requirements of this 
36 section.
37 3.  Vacancies.  Vacancies A vacancy caused by a Register of Probate's death, 
38 resignation, removal from the county, permanent incapacity as defined in Title 30‑A, 
39 section 1, subsection 2-A or any other reason must be filled as provided in the Constitution 
40 of Maine by a plurality of the votes cast in the affected county at the next general election. 
41 The term of a register elected to fill a vacancy commences on January 1st following the 
42 election.  In the meantime, the Governor may fill such vacancy by appointment, and the 
43 register so appointed shall take office immediately and shall hold office until the 


1
2







Page 15 - 130LR2578(01)


44 commencement of the term of the successor elected to fill the vacancy under this 
45 subsection.  In the case of a vacancy in the term of a register who was nominated by primary 
46 election before the general election, the register appointed by the Governor to fill the 
47 vacancy until a successor is chosen at election must be enrolled in the same political party 
48 as the register whose term is vacant.  In making the appointment, the Governor shall choose 
49 from any recommendations submitted to the Governor by the county committee of the 
50 political party from which the appointment is to be made.
8 4.  Salary.  A register is entitled to receive an annual salary as established by the 
9 register's county pursuant to Title 30‑A, chapter 3.  The salary of the register must be in 


10 full compensation for the performance of all duties required of the register.
11 5.  Copies and fees.  Registers may make copies of wills, accounts, inventories, 
12 petitions and decrees and furnish the copies to the persons requesting the copies and may 
13 charge a reasonable fee for that service, which is considered a fee for the use of the county.  
14 Fees for exemplified copies of the records of the probate of wills and the granting of 
15 administrations, guardianships and conservatorships; fees for copies of petitions and orders 
16 of notice for personal service; fees for appeal copies; and the statutory fees for abstracts 
17 and copies of the waivers of wills and other copies required to be recorded in the registry 
18 of deeds are considered official fees for the use of the county.  This subsection may not be 
19 construed to change or repeal any provisions of law requiring the furnishing of certain 
20 copies without charge.


21 Sec. B-40.  18-C MRSA §1-510, sub-§1, ¶A, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. 
22 A, §2 and affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended to read:
23 A.  Be an attorney or counselor in or out of court in an action or matter pending in the 
24 court of located in the county in which the register is register or in an appeal in such 
25 action or matter;


26 Sec. B-41.  18-C MRSA §1-510, sub-§1, ¶B, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. 
27 A, §2 and affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended to read:
28 B.  Be an administrator, guardian, commissioner of insolvency, appraiser or divider of 
29 an estate, in a case within the jurisdiction of the court of located in the county in which 
30 the register is register, except as provided in Title 4, section 307, or be in any manner 
31 interested in the fees and emoluments arising from such an estate in that capacity; or.
32 This paragraph is repealed January 1, 2025;


33 Sec. B-42.  18-C MRSA §1-510, sub-§2, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 
34 and affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended to read:
35 2.  Assistance in drafting.  Except as otherwise provided in this section, a register may 
36 not draft or aid in drafting documents or paper that the register is by law required to record 
37 in full or in part.  A register may aid in drafting applications in informal proceedings, 
38 petitions or sworn statements relating to the closing of decedents' estates that have not been 
39 contested prior to closing, applications for change of name and petitions for guardians of 
40 minors.  A register or an employee of a court may not charge fees or accept anything of 
41 value for assisting in the drafting of documents to be used or filed in the court of located in 
42 the county in which the person is the register or an employee.


1
2
3
4
5
6
7







Page 16 - 130LR2578(01)


1 Sec. B-43.  18-C MRSA §1-511, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 and 
2 affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended by enacting a new first paragraph to 
3 read:
4 Each county shall provide all necessary printed blanks and record books for the court 
5 located in that county, and the record books may be printed to correspond with the printed 
6 blanks.


7 Sec. B-44.  Transition; election of Probate Court Judges.  Notwithstanding any 
8 provision of law to the contrary, the following provisions govern the election of Probate 
9 Court Judges in Androscoggin, Franklin, Knox and Penobscot counties under the Maine 


10 Revised Statutes, Title 4, section 301-A, subsection 1, paragraph B.
11 1.  Signatures collected by a candidate on a primary petition pursuant to Title 21-A, 
12 section 335 to appear on the primary election ballot of a party for the office of Probate 
13 Court Judge under the former Constitution of Maine, Article VI, Section 6 in Androscoggin 
14 County, Franklin County, Knox County or Penobscot County are deemed to be signatures 
15 collected by that candidate to appear on the primary petition election ballot of that party 
16 for the office of Probate Court Judge under Title 4, section 301-A, subsection 1, paragraph 
17 B in the same county.
18 2. A primary petition accepted by the Secretary of State pursuant to Title 21-A, section 
19 337 for a candidate to appear on the primary election ballot of a party for the office of 
20 Probate Court Judge under the former Constitution of Maine, Article VI, Section 6 in 
21 Androscoggin County, Franklin County, Knox County or Penobscot County is deemed to 
22 be accepted by the Secretary of State for that candidate to appear on the primary election 
23 ballot of the party for the office of Probate Court Judge under Title 4, section 301-A, 
24 subsection 1, paragraph B in the same county.
25 3. Signatures collected by a candidate on a nomination petition pursuant to Title 21-A, 
26 section 354 to appear on the general election ballot for the office of Probate Court Judge 
27 under the former Constitution of Maine, Article VI, Section 6 in Androscoggin County, 
28 Franklin County, Knox County or Penobscot County are deemed to be signatures collected 
29 by that candidate to appear on the general election ballot for the office of Probate Court 
30 Judge under Title 4, section 301-A, subsection 1, paragraph B in the same county.
31 4. A nomination petition accepted by the Secretary of State pursuant to Title 21-A, 
32 section 356 for a candidate to appear on the general election ballot for the office of Probate 
33 Court Judge under the former Constitution of Maine, Article VI, Section 6 in Androscoggin 
34 County, Franklin County, Knox County or Penobscot County is deemed to be accepted by 
35 the Secretary of State for that candidate to appear on the general election ballot for the 
36 office of Probate Court Judge under Title 4, section 301-A, subsection 1, paragraph B in 
37 the same county.


38 Sec. B-45.  Transition; election of Registers of Probate. Notwithstanding any 
39 provision of law to the contrary, the following provisions govern the election of a Register 
40 of Probate in 2022 under the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 18-C, section 1-501, subsection 
41 1.
42 1.  Signatures collected by a candidate on a primary petition pursuant to Title 21-A, 
43 section 335 to appear on the primary election ballot of a party for the office of Register of 
44 Probate under the former Constitution of Maine, Article VI, Section 6 are deemed to be 







Page 17 - 130LR2578(01)


45 signatures collected by that candidate to appear on the primary petition election ballot of 
46 that party for the office of Register of Probate under Title 18-C, section 1-501, subsection 
47 1 in the same county.
4 2. A primary petition accepted by the Secretary of State pursuant to Title 21-A, section 
5 337 for a candidate to appear on the primary election ballot of a party for the office of 
6 Register of Probate under the former Constitution of Maine, Article VI, Section 6 is deemed 
7 to be accepted by the Secretary of State for that candidate to appear on the primary election 
8 ballot of the party for the office of Register of Probate under Title 18-C, section 1-501, 
9 subsection 1 in the same county.


10 3. Signatures collected by a candidate on a nomination petition pursuant to Title 21-A, 
11 section 354 to appear on the general election ballot for the office of Register of Probate 
12 under the former Constitution of Maine, Article VI, Section 6 are deemed to be signatures 
13 collected by that candidate to appear on the general election ballot for the office of Register 
14 of Probate under Title 18-C, section 1-501, subsection 1 in the same county.
15 4. A nomination petition accepted by the Secretary of State pursuant to Title 21-A, 
16 section 356 for a candidate to appear on the general election ballot for the office of Register 
17 of Probate under the former Constitution of Maine, Article VI, Section 6 is deemed to be 
18 accepted by the Secretary of State for that candidate to appear on the general election ballot 
19 for the office of Register of Probate under Title 18-C, section 1-501, subsection 1 in the 
20 same county.


21 PART C
22 Sec. C-1.  4 MRSA §17, sub-§2, as amended by PL 1983, c. 269, §§1 and 9, is 
23 further amended to read:
24 2.  Examine the status of dockets.  Examine the status of dockets of all courts so as 
25 to determine cases and other judicial business that have been unduly delayed. From such 
26 reports, the administrator shall indicate which courts are in need of additional judicial 
27 personnel and make recommendations to the Chief Justice, to the Chief Justice of the 
28 Superior Court and, to the Chief Judge of the District Court and to the Chief Judge of the 
29 Probate Court concerning the assignment or reassignment of personnel to courts that are in 
30 need of such personnel. The administrator shall also carry out the directives of the Chief 
31 Justice as to the assignment of personnel in these instances;


32 Sec. C-2.  4 MRSA §17, sub-§5, as amended by PL 1983, c. 269, §§2 and 9, is 
33 further amended to read:
34 5.  Prescribe uniform administrative and business methods, etc.  Prescribe uniform 
35 administrative and business methods, systems, forms, docketing and records to be used in 
36 the Supreme Judicial Court, in the Superior Court and, in the District Court and in the 
37 Probate Court;


38 Sec. C-3.  4 MRSA §17, sub-§7, ¶D, as amended by PL 1997, c. 24, Pt. II, §1, is 
39 further amended to read:
40 D.  Collects statistical and other data and makes reports to the Chief Justice, to the 
41 Chief Justice of the Superior Court and, to the Chief Judge of the District Court and to 
42 the Chief Judge of the Probate Court relating to the expenditures of public money for 
43 the maintenance and operation of the Judicial Department;


1
2
3







Page 18 - 130LR2578(01)


1 Sec. C-4.  4 MRSA §17, sub-§7, ¶E, as amended by PL 1997, c. 24, Pt. II, §1, is 
2 further amended to read:
3 E.  Develops and implements a uniform set of accounting and budgetary accounts, 
4 based on generally accepted fiscal and accounting procedures, for the Supreme Judicial 
5 Court, for the Superior Court and, for the District Court and for the Probate Court; and


6 Sec. C-5.  4 MRSA §17, sub-§17, as amended by PL 2007, c. 240, Pt. YYY, §1, is 
7 further amended to read:
8 17.  Statement of fiscal effect on judicial system.  Apply the following requirements 
9 when the State Court Administrator prepares statements pertaining to the impact that 


10 executive orders and proposed legislation have upon judicial system resources, including 
11 the cost or savings to the judicial system.  The State Court Administrator, in preparing such 
12 impact statements, shall make inquiry of the Chief Justice of the Superior Court, the Chief 
13 Judge of the District Court, the Chief Judge of the Probate Court, a statewide association 
14 of prosecuting attorneys, a statewide association of criminal defense attorneys, a statewide 
15 association of trial attorneys and any other parties, as appropriate, in order to provide the 
16 most accurate estimate of the judicial branch impact of such legislation, by fiscal year.
17 A.  The State Court Administrator shall furnish the statements to the legislative staff 
18 office designated to collect and assemble fiscal information for use of legislative 
19 committees under Title 3, section 163‑A, subsection 10 and to:
20 (1)  The Governor for judicial impact statements on executive orders; and
21 (2)  The appropriate committee of the Legislature for the information of its 
22 members for proposed legislation.
23 B.  The statement on a particular executive order prepared by the State Court 
24 Administrator must be included in the executive order if the executive order has a fiscal 
25 impact on the judicial system, as determined by the State Court Administrator.
26 C.  The statement on proposed legislation prepared by the State Court Administrator 
27 must be considered in the preparation of the fiscal note included in a committee 
28 amendment or other amendment if the legislation or amendment has a fiscal impact on 
29 the judicial system, as determined by the State Court Administrator.


30 Sec. C-6.  4 MRSA §17-A, sub-§1, as amended by PL 2017, c. 284, Pt. YYYY, §1, 
31 is further amended to read:
32 1.  Informational publications and record searches.  The Except as provided in Title 
33 18-C, section 1-511, the State Court Administrator may establish a fee schedule to cover 
34 the cost of printing and distribution of publications and forms, the procedures for the sale 
35 of these publications and forms and record searches performed by Judicial Department 
36 employees.


37 Sec. C-7.  4 MRSA §18-A, sub-§3-A, ¶A, as amended by PL 2019, c. 509, §2, is 
38 further amended to read:
39 A.  For all fees collected by the Judicial Department after October 1, 2019, 9% must 
40 be deposited in the fund.  This paragraph does not apply to fees imposed by the Probate 
41 Court or to fees dedicated under section 17‑A or section 18‑B, subsection 8 or to 
42 surcharges imposed pursuant to paragraph C.







Page 19 - 130LR2578(01)


1 Sec. C-8.  4 MRSA §18-A, sub-§3-A, ¶B, as amended by PL 2005, c. 361, §3, is 
2 further amended to read:
3 B.  A surcharge of $10 must be imposed by a court on each civil fine, or penalty or 
4 forfeiture imposed by the court and deposited in the fund. This paragraph does not 
5 apply to civil fines or penalties imposed by the Probate Court.


6 Sec. C-9.  4 MRSA §18-B, sub-§6, ¶C-1 is enacted to read:
7 C-1.  The Chief Judge of the Probate Court or a designee;


8 Sec. C-10.  4 MRSA §18-B, sub-§6, ¶F, as enacted by PL 1995, c. 560, Pt. I, §3, 
9 is amended to read:


10 F.  A Judge of the District Court, who is appointed by and serves at the pleasure of the 
11 Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court; and


12 Sec. C-11.  4 MRSA §18-B, sub-§6, ¶F-1 is enacted to read:
13 F-1.  A Judge of the Probate Court, who is appointed by and serves at the pleasure of 
14 the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court; and


15 Sec. C-12.  4 MRSA §24, first ¶, as amended by PL 1993, c. 675, Pt. C, §10, is 
16 further amended to read:
17 The State Court Administrator shall, subject to the approval of the Chief Justice, 
18 prepare biennially a consolidated operating budget for all courts in the State to be known 
19 as the Judicial Department operating budget.  The Judicial Department operating budget 
20 may not include expenses related to the operation of county registries of probate or revenue 
21 from fees, fines or penalties collected by the Probate Court and allocated to the county 
22 pursuant to Title 18-C, sections 1-501, 1-511, 1-603 and 1-607 or any other provision of 
23 law.  The administrator may be assisted in this task by the Chief Justice of the Superior 
24 Court and, the Chief Judge of the District Court and the Chief Judge of the Probate Court.


25 Sec. C-13.  4 MRSA §115, first ¶, as corrected by RR 2009, c. 1, §4, is amended 
26 to read:
27 In Except as provided in section 301-C, in each county, the place for holding court is 
28 located in a building designated by the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court or the 
29 Chief Justice's designee, who, with the advice and approval of the Department of 
30 Administrative and Financial Services, Bureau of General Services, is empowered to 
31 negotiate, on behalf of the State, the leases, contracts and other arrangements the Chief 
32 Justice considers necessary, within the limits of appropriations and other funds available to 
33 the Supreme Judicial, Superior and District Courts, to provide suitable quarters, adequately 
34 furnished and equipped, for the Supreme Judicial, Superior or District Court in each county. 
35 The county commissioners in each county shall continue to provide for the use of the 
36 Supreme Judicial, Superior and District Courts such quarters, facilities, furnishings and 
37 equipment in existing county buildings as were in use by the Supreme Judicial and Superior 
38 Courts on January 1, 1976, without charge.  The county commissioners are not required to 
39 provide without charge those quarters, facilities, furnishings and equipment in existing 
40 county buildings that were in use by the District Courts and were subject to a charge prior 
41 to January 1, 1976.


42 Sec. C-14.  4 MRSA §301-B is enacted to read:







Page 20 - 130LR2578(01)


1 §301-B.  Duties of Chief Judge
2 The Chief Judge of the Probate Court is responsible to and under the supervision of the 
3 Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court for the operation of the Probate Court and shall 
4 serve as Chief Judge at the pleasure of the Chief Justice.  The Chief Judge shall:
5 1. Hold court when necessary.  Hold court in any county described in section 201-A, 
6 subsection 1, paragraph B when the Chief Judge determines it necessary by reason of 
7 illness, absence or disability of the Probate Court Judge regularly assigned or by reason of 
8 an excessive case load in any county;
9 2. Assign judges.  Assign Probate Court Judges to hold court in any county described 


10 in section 201-A, subsection 1, paragraph B where, in the judgment of the Chief Judge, 
11 they are needed;
12 3. Days and hours for holding court.  Subject to the requirements of section 305, fix 
13 the days and hours for holding court in each county described in section 201-A, subsection 
14 1, paragraph B and provide public notification of such days and hours as provided in section 
15 303;
16 4. Vacations.  Determine the time for the taking of vacations by each Probate Court 
17 Judge appointed under section 301-A, subsection 2;
18 5.  Records and reports.  Prescribe, subject to the approval of the Chief Justice of the 
19 Supreme Judicial Court or the Chief Justice’s designee, the records to be kept and destroyed 
20 and the reports to be made by each Probate Court Judge appointed under section 301-A, 
21 subsection 2;
22 6. Statistics.  Collect such statistics and other information pertaining to the business of 
23 the Probate Court as are requested by the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court or 
24 the Chief Justice’s designee;
25 7. Budget.  Utilizing such assistance from the Administrative Office of the Courts as 
26 the Chief Judge may request, prepare and submit a proposed annual budget for the Probate 
27 Court established in section 201-A, subsection 2, paragraph B to the Chief Justice of the 
28 Supreme Judicial Court or the Chief Justice’s designee.  The proposed annual budget for 
29 the Probate Court may not include expenses related to the operation of county registries of 
30 probate or revenue from fees, fines or penalties collected by the Probate Court and allocated 
31 to the county pursuant to Title 18-C, sections 1-501, 1-511, 1-603 and 1-607 or any other 
32 provision of law;
33 8.  Report.  Render to the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court an annual report 
34 on the state of business in the Probate Court and on the conferences held pursuant to 
35 subsection 10;
36 9. Courtroom facilities.  Pursuant to section 301-C, make necessary arrangements for 
37 safe and accessible courtroom facilities in each county described in section 201-A, 
38 subsection 1, paragraph B; establish headquarters with appropriate facilities for the Chief 
39 Judge; and establish quarters and facilities for each Probate Court Judge appointed under 
40 section 301-A, subsection 2;
41 10. Conference of judges.  Convene at least once annually at such place as the Chief 
42 Judge considers appropriate a conference of Probate Court Judges appointed under section 
43 301-A, subsection 2 to consider and take action upon or make recommendations with 







Page 21 - 130LR2578(01)


44 respect to current problems in the operation of the Probate Court.  The Chief Judge shall 
45 invite any county Probate Court Judge elected under section 301-A, subsection 1 whose 
46 term has not yet expired to attend the conference. The expenses of Probate Court Judges 
47 appointed under section 301-A, subsection 2 attending this conference are an expense of 
48 the Probate Court established in section 201-A, subsection 2, paragraph B; 
6 11.  Development and implementation of administrative concepts.  Carry on a 
7 continuous survey and study of the organization, operation, condition of business, practice 
8 and procedure of the Probate Court and make recommendations to the Chief Justice of the 
9 Supreme Judicial Court concerning the number of judges and other personnel, other than 


10 personnel in the county registries of probate, required for the efficient administration of 
11 justice and examine, with the advice of the Probate Court Judges and Registers of Probate, 
12 the status of dockets of the various Probate Courts to determine whether the business of the 
13 court is being carried out in an efficient manner and that emergency matters are prioritized 
14 and addressed expediently.  From such an examination, the Chief Judge shall annually 
15 make recommendations to the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court for guidelines 
16 and policies for the scheduling and trial of matters before the Probate Court.  In providing 
17 recommendations, the Chief Judge shall give due and appropriate regard to the 
18 recommendations of the Probate Court Judges and the Registers of Probate and shall 
19 provide a mechanism whereby their individual recommendations and comments may be 
20 brought to the attention of the Chief Justice.  The Chief Judge, in advising as to the 
21 appropriateness of the methods or systems for scheduling trials and the management of 
22 matters before the Probate Court, shall take into consideration systems and methods 
23 operational in the Superior Court and the District Court.  The final decision as to the 
24 management of judicial branch personnel and the implementation of guidelines, policies 
25 and procedures for the scheduling of trials and management of matters before the Probate 
26 Court must be made by the Chief Justice only after consultation with the Chief Judge; and
27 12. Other duties.  Perform such additional duties as may be assigned by the Chief 
28 Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court.


29 Sec. C-15.  4 MRSA §301-C is enacted to read:
30 §301-C.  Place for holding court
31 1. Place for holding court.  Except as otherwise required in section 305, in each county 
32 described in section 201-A, subsection 1, paragraph B, the Chief Judge of the Probate Court 
33 shall designate a place for holding court that is located, to the extent possible given the 
34 other requirements of this subsection, in the building holding the office of that county’s 
35 Register of Probate.  The Chief Judge, with the advice and approval of the Department of 
36 Administrative and Financial Services, Bureau of General Services, is empowered to 
37 negotiate on behalf of the State the leases, contracts and other arrangements the Chief Judge 
38 considers necessary, within the limits of the budget and funds available, to provide suitable 
39 quarters, adequately furnished and equipped for the Probate Court in each county.
40 If the Chief Judge is unable to negotiate the leases, contracts and other arrangements as 
41 provided in this subsection, the Chief Judge may, with the advice and approval of the 
42 Bureau of General Services, negotiate on behalf of the State the leases, contracts and other 
43 arrangements the Chief Judge considers necessary, within the limits of the budget and funds 
44 available, to provide suitable quarters, adequately furnished and equipped for the Probate 
45 Court in other publicly owned or privately owned buildings.


1
2
3
4
5







Page 22 - 130LR2578(01)


1 2.  Use of Superior Court and District Court facilities.  The facilities of the Superior 
2 Court and the facilities of the District Court in each county when the court is not in session 
3 must be available for use by the Probate Court in that county.  Arrangements for such use 
4 must be made by the Chief Judge of the Probate Court.


5 Sec. C-16.  4 MRSA §1201, sub-§12, as amended by PL 2001, c. 12, §1, is further 
6 amended to read:
7 12.  Judge.  "Judge" means a Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court or the Superior 
8 Court, any Judge of the District Court, any Probate Court Judge appointed pursuant to 
9 section 301-A, subsection 2, any Administrative Court Judge or any Associate 


10 Administrative Court Judge who is actively serving as of December 1, 1984, or who is 
11 appointed subsequent to December 1, 1984, but does not include Active Retired Judges.
12 This subsection is repealed January 1, 2025.


13 Sec. C-17.  4 MRSA §1552, sub-§1, as enacted by PL 2013, c. 406, §1, is amended 
14 to read:
15 1.  Guardian ad litem roster.  The division shall assist the Chief Judge of the District 
16 Court and the Chief Judge of the Probate Court in the establishment and maintenance of a 
17 roster of guardians ad litem pursuant to section 1553.


18 Sec. C-18.  4 MRSA §1552, sub-§2, as enacted by PL 2013, c. 406, §1, is amended 
19 to read:
20 2.  Administration of guardians ad litem under Title Titles 18-C and 19-A.  For 
21 guardians ad litem appointed under Title Titles 18-C and 19‑A, the division shall assist the 
22 Chief Judge of the District Court and the Chief Judge of the Probate Court in:
23 A.  Establishing standardized billing, itemization requirements and time reporting 
24 processes for all guardians ad litem;
25 B.  Establishing guidelines for preparation of required reports; and
26 C.  Collecting, maintaining and reporting data about orders of appointment, submission 
27 of required reports, caseloads and other information as directed by the Chief Judge of 
28 the District Court or the Chief Judge of the Probate Court.


29 Sec. C-19.  4 MRSA §1555, sub-§3, as enacted by PL 2013, c. 406, §1, is amended 
30 to read:
31 3.  Payment for services; fees and billing; enforcement.  The Except as otherwise 
32 provided in Title 18-C, section 9-204, subsection 4, the order under subsection 2 must 
33 specify that payment for the services of the guardian ad litem is the responsibility of the 
34 parties, with the terms of payment specified in the order.
35 A.  The fee arrangements in the order must specify hourly rates or a flat fee, the timing 
36 of payments to be made and by whom and the maximum amount of fees that may be 
37 charged for the case without further order of the court.  If the payments ordered to be 
38 made before the guardian ad litem commences the investigation, if any, are not paid as 
39 ordered, the guardian ad litem shall notify the court, and the court may vacate the 
40 appointment order or take such other action it determines appropriate under the 
41 circumstances.
42 B.  In determining the responsibility for payment, the court shall consider:







Page 23 - 130LR2578(01)


1 (1)  The income of the parties;
2 (2)  The marital and nonmarital assets of the parties;
3 (3)  The division of property made or anticipated as part of the final divorce or 
4 separation;
5 (4)  Which party requested appointment of a guardian ad litem; and
6 (5)  Other factors considered relevant by the court, which must be stated with 
7 specificity in the appointment order.
8 C.  The guardian ad litem shall use standardized billing, itemization requirements and 
9 time reporting processes as established by the division.  The guardian ad litem may 


10 collect fees, if a collection action is necessary, pursuant to Title 14 and may not pursue 
11 collection in the action in which the guardian ad litem is appointed.


12 Sec. C-20.  4 MRSA §1801, as enacted by PL 2009, c. 419, §2, is amended to read:
13 §1801.  Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services; established
14 The Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services, established by Title 5, section 
15 12004‑G, subsection 25‑A, is an independent commission whose purpose is to provide 
16 efficient, high-quality representation to indigent criminal defendants,; juvenile defendants; 
17 indigent persons for whom counsel has been appointed under Title 18-C, Article 5; and 
18 children and parents in child protective and adoption cases, consistent with federal and state 
19 constitutional and statutory obligations.  The commission shall work to ensure the delivery 
20 of indigent legal services by qualified and competent counsel in a manner that is fair and 
21 consistent throughout the State and to ensure adequate funding of a statewide system of 
22 indigent legal services, which must be provided and managed in a fiscally responsible 
23 manner, free from undue political interference and conflicts of interest.


24 Sec. C-21.  4 MRSA §1802, sub-§4, ¶C, as amended by PL 2019, c. 427, §1, is 
25 further amended to read:
26 C.  Juvenile defendants; and


27 Sec. C-22.  4 MRSA §1802, sub-§4, ¶C-1 is enacted to read:
28 C-1.  In a guardianship, conservatorship or other protective arrangement proceeding, 
29 an indigent adult or minor respondent for whom counsel was appointed at public 
30 expense pursuant to Title 18-C, section 5-205, subsection 5; Title 18-C, section 5-210, 
31 subsection 7; Title 18-C, section 5-305, subsection 3; Title 18-C, section 5-406, 
32 subsection 1; or Title 18-C, section 5-507, subsection 1;


33 Sec. C-23.  4 MRSA §1802, sub-§4, ¶C-2 is enacted to read:
34 C-2.  In a guardianship, conservatorship or other protective arrangement proceeding 
35 involving a minor respondent, an indigent parent, guardian or petitioner for whom 
36 counsel was appointed at public expense pursuant to Title 18-C, section 5-205, 
37 subsection 4; Title 18-C, section 5-210, subsection 7; Title 18-C, section 5-406, 
38 subsection 3; or Title 18-C, section 5-507, subsection 3;


39 Sec. C-24.  4 MRSA §1802, sub-§4, ¶C-3 is enacted to read:
40 C-3.  An indigent parent in an adoption proceeding for whom counsel was appointed 
41 at public expense pursuant to Title 18-C, section 9-106 or an indigent parent or minor 







Page 24 - 130LR2578(01)


42 adoptee in a proceeding for annulment of an adoption decree for whom counsel was 
43 appointed at public expense pursuant to Title 18-C, section 9-315, subsection 1, 
44 paragraph A; and


4 Sec. C-25.  4 MRSA §1802, sub-§4, ¶D, as enacted by PL 2019, c. 427, §2, is 
5 amended to read:
6 D.  An indigent defendant or party or a juvenile for the purpose of filing, on behalf of 
7 that indigent defendant or party or juvenile, a petition for certiorari to the Supreme 
8 Court of the United States from an adverse decision of the Law Court on a case for 
9 which services were previously provided to that defendant or party or juvenile pursuant 


10 to paragraph A, B or, C, C-1, C-2 or C-3.


11 Sec. C-26.  4 MRSA §1802, sub-§5 is enacted to read:
12 5.  Register.  "Register" has the same meaning as in Title 18-C, section 1-201, 
13 subsection 48.


14 Sec. C-27.  4 MRSA §1804, sub-§3, ¶D, as enacted by PL 2009, c. 419, §2, is 
15 amended to read:
16 D.  Develop criminal defense,; child protective and adoption; guardianship, 
17 conservatorship and other protective arrangements; and involuntary commitment 
18 representation training and evaluation programs for attorneys throughout the State to 
19 ensure an adequate pool of qualified attorneys;


20 Sec. C-28.  4 MRSA §1806, sub-§3, as enacted by PL 2011, c. 547, §2, is amended 
21 to read:
22 3.  Confidential information disclosed by the Judicial Department and registers.  
23 The Judicial Department and registers may disclose to the commission confidential 
24 information necessary for the commission to carry out its functions, including the collection 
25 of amounts owed to reimburse the State for the cost of assigned counsel, as follows:
26 A.  Case information and individual client information with respect to court 
27 proceedings that are confidential by statute or court rule in which one or more parties 
28 are represented by assigned counsel; and
29 B.  The name, address, date of birth and social security number of any person ordered 
30 by the court to reimburse the State for some or all of the cost of assigned counsel.
31 This information remains confidential in the possession of the commission and is not open 
32 to public inspection, except that the names of criminal defendants and the names of juvenile 
33 defendants charged with offenses that if committed by an adult would constitute murder or 
34 a Class A, Class B or Class C crime are not confidential.


35 Sec. C-29.  4 MRSA c. 39 is enacted to read:


36 CHAPTER 39


37 COURT VISITORS


38 §1901. Definitions


1
2
3







Page 25 - 130LR2578(01)


1 As used in this chapter, unless the context indicates otherwise, the following terms 
2 have the following meanings.
3 1. Court.  Prior to January 1, 2025, "court" means the state Probate Court established 
4 in section 201-A, subsection 2, paragraph B.  Beginning January 1, 2025, "court" means 
5 the Probate Court established in section 407, subsection 1.
6 2. Visitor. "Visitor" means a person appointed to act as the court's agent pursuant to 
7 Title 18-C, section 5-304, 5-405 or 5-506.
8 §1902. Roster of visitors
9 Rules adopted by the Supreme Judicial Court govern the establishment and 


10 maintenance of a roster of individuals eligible for appointment as a visitor.  The rules must 
11 address:
12 1. Application process.  The process for applying to be included on the roster, 
13 including application forms;
14 2. Criteria.  Criteria for initial listing on the roster, including:
15 A.  Credentials, including professional licenses required, if any, and minimum 
16 education requirements;
17 B. Core training; and
18 C. Good character;
19 3. Continuing education.  Continuing education requirements;
20 4. Criminal background check.  Obtaining criminal history record information on an 
21 individual who seeks to be listed on the roster, including, at a minimum, criminal history 
22 record information from the Department of Public Safety, Bureau of State Police, State 
23 Bureau of Identification;
24 5.  Other requirements.  Any other requirements necessary to remain in good standing 
25 and included on the roster; and
26 6. Removal.  The process for removing an individual from the roster.
27 §1903. Visitor responsibilities
28 1. Standards of conduct.  Visitors shall abide by the standards of conduct as adopted 
29 by rule by the Supreme Judicial Court.
30 2. General responsibilities.  An individual appointed by the court to serve as a visitor 
31 serves as the court's agent and is entitled to quasi-judicial immunity for acts performed 
32 within the scope of the duties of the visitor.  As a quasi-judicial officer, the visitor shall 
33 perform the assigned duties independently and impartially in all relevant matters within the 
34 scope of the order of appointment, respecting the court's obligation to dispose of all judicial 
35 matters promptly, efficiently and fairly as provided in the Maine Code of Judicial Conduct.  
36 A visitor shall:
37 A. Understand and uphold the law and court orders related to the visitor's appointment;
38 B. Maintain the highest standards of professionalism, cultural sensitivity and ethics;
39 C. Plan, carry out, document and complete the visitor's duties as set forth in statute or 
40 court order in a timely fashion; 







Page 26 - 130LR2578(01)


1 D. Communicate with the respondent in the manner the respondent is best able to 
2 understand, in light of the respondent's abilities, limitations and needs; 
3 E. Make well-reasoned and factually based written recommendations as required by 
4 statute or directed by the order of appointment; and
5 F. Complete assignments and written reports in a timely manner and communicate 
6 effectively with the court in reports, recommendations and testimony.
7 §1904.  Appointment order; payment
8 1. Appointment of visitor.  An order appointing a visitor must specify the terms and 
9 conditions of the appointment as provided in the appointment statute, this chapter and rules 


10 adopted by the Supreme Judicial Court.   
11 A.  A court may appoint, without any findings, any individual listed on the roster. 
12 B. When there is no suitable visitor on the roster that is available for appointment, a 
13 court may, for good cause shown, appoint an individual who, in the opinion of the 
14 appointing court, has the necessary skills and experience. For the purposes of this 
15 paragraph, good cause may include the appointment of a visitor on a pro bono basis.
16 2. Order.  An appointment of a visitor must be by court order.
17 A. The appointment order must be written on a court-approved form and must specify 
18 the visitor's length of appointment and specific duties, including the filing of a written 
19 report.
20 B. The visitor has no authority to perform and may not be expected to perform any 
21 duties beyond those specified in the appointment order, unless subsequently ordered to 
22 do so by the court.
23 C. The visitor must be provided access to the respondent by any agency or person.
24 D. The visitor must provide to all parties of record copies of all reports filed by the 
25 visitor with the court.
26 E. The appointment order must specify the hearing or hearings at which the visitor must 
27 appear and be subject to cross-examination.
28 3. Payment.  An order appointing a visitor must specify the fee arrangements, 
29 including whether the visitor's reasonable fees and expenses must be paid from the 
30 respondent's assets or, if the court finds the respondent indigent, by the State.
31 §1905. Complaint process
32 1. Rules.  The Supreme Judicial Court shall provide by rule for a complaint process 
33 concerning visitors that provides for at least the following:
34 A.  The ability of a party to make a complaint before the final judgment as well as after 
35 the final judgment is issued;
36 B. Written instructions on how to make a complaint;
37 C. Clear criteria for making a complaint;
38 D. Transparent policies and procedures concerning the investigation of complaints and 
39 the provision of information to complainants;
40 E. A central database to log and track complaints; and







Page 27 - 130LR2578(01)


1 F. Policies and procedures for using complaints and investigations for recommending 
2 the removal of a visitor from a particular case or other consequences or discipline.
3 2. Complaint process.  The judicial branch shall provide written and electronic 
4 information to communicate the complaint process to the public and to all parties.
5 3. Minor complaint option.  The rules may provide for a minor complaint option that 
6 authorizes corrective action without the necessity of completing the full complaint and 
7 investigatory process.
8 4. Motion to remove.  The complaint process adopted pursuant to this section is in 
9 addition to the right of a party to file a motion to remove a visitor while the case is pending.  


10 The court shall hold a hearing on the motion at the request of the party filing the motion.  
11 The motion may be advanced on the docket and receive priority over other cases when the 
12 court determines that the interests of justice so require.


13 Sec. C-30.  18-C MRSA §1-111, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 and 
14 affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended by amending the section headnote to 
15 read:
16 §1-111.  Guardian Children's guardians ad litem


17 Sec. C-31.  18-C MRSA §1-112 is enacted to read:
18 §1-112.  Payment of guardian ad litem or visitor appointed at public expense
19 1. Payment of guardian ad litem or visitor appointed at public expense.  If a 
20 guardian ad litem or a visitor is appointed in a proceeding under this Title and the order of 
21 appointment directs that all or part of the guardian ad litem's or visitor's fees must be paid 
22 at public expense, the public expense portion of the fees must be paid by the following.
23 A.  If the court is located in a county described in Title 4, section 201-A, subsection 1, 
24 paragraph A, the county shall pay the public expense portion of the fees.  If the court 
25 is located in a county described in Title 4, section 201-A, subsection 1, paragraph B, 
26 the State shall pay the public expense portion of the fees.
27 This paragraph is repealed January 1, 2025.
28 B. Beginning January 1, 2025, the State shall pay the public expense portion of the 
29 fees.


30 Sec. C-32.  18-C MRSA §1-605, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 and 
31 affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is repealed and the following enacted in its place:
32 §1-605.  Compensation of court reporters
33 1.  Compensation generally.  Court reporters appointed under Title 4, sections 751 to 
34 756 shall, if a transcript is requested by the court or a party, file the original transcript with 
35 the court and receive the same compensation as provided by law for temporary court 
36 reporters as well as mileage at the rate of 10¢ per mile.
37 2. Transcripts for court files.  When furnishing a transcript for the files of the court, 
38 the court reporter must be paid at the rate prescribed by the Supreme Judicial Court, after 
39 the reporter's bill has been allowed by the judge of the court in which the services were 
40 rendered, by the following. 







Page 28 - 130LR2578(01)


1 A.  If the court is located in a county described in Title 4, section 201-A, subsection 1, 
2 paragraph A, the county shall pay the cost of the transcript.  If the court is located in a 
3 county described in Title 4, section 201-A, subsection 1, paragraph B, the State shall 
4 pay the cost of the transcript.
5 This paragraph is repealed January 1, 2025.
6 B. Beginning January 1, 2025, the State shall pay the cost of the transcript.
7 3. Exception; probate matters.  In probate matters, the personal representative, 
8 conservator or guardian shall, in each case out of the estate handled by that personal 
9 representative, conservator or guardian, pay to the register for the county the amount of the 


10 reporter's fees, giving the fees the same priority as provided in section 3-815 for other costs 
11 and expenses of administration, or as otherwise provided for in the case of insolvent estates.  
12 If the estate assets are not sufficient, the court may order payment by the following.  
13 A.  If the court is located in a county described in Title 4, section 201-A, subsection 1, 
14 paragraph A, the court may order the county to pay all or part of the reporter's fees.  If 
15 the court is located in a county described in Title 4, section 201-A, subsection 1, 
16 paragraph B, the court may order the State to pay all or part of the reporter's fees.  
17 This paragraph is repealed January 1, 2025.
18 B. Beginning January 1, 2025, the court may order the State to pay all or part of the 
19 reporter's fees.


20 Sec. C-33.  18-C MRSA §5-119, sub-§1, as amended by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. A, 
21 §14, is further amended to read:
22 1.  Attorney for respondent.  Unless the court has made a finding that the respondent 
23 is indigent and has appointed an attorney for the respondent on that basis, an attorney for a 
24 respondent in a proceeding under this Act is entitled to reasonable compensation and 
25 reimbursement of reasonable expenses from the property of the respondent.  If the court 
26 has made a finding that the respondent is indigent and has appointed an attorney for the 
27 respondent on that basis, the attorney's fees must be paid by the Maine Commission on 
28 Indigent Legal Services pursuant to Title 4, chapter 37.


29 Sec. C-34.  18-C MRSA §5-205, sub-§4, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 
30 and affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended to read:
31 4.  Appointment of counsel.  A nonconsenting parent whose parental rights have not 
32 been terminated is entitled to court-appointed legal counsel if indigent.  In a contested 
33 action, the court may also appoint counsel for any indigent guardian or petitioner when a 
34 parent or legal custodian has counsel.  If the court makes a finding that the nonconsenting 
35 parent, guardian or petitioner for whom an attorney is appointed under this subsection is 
36 indigent, the attorney's fees must be paid by the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal 
37 Services pursuant to Title 4, chapter 37.


38 Sec. C-35.  18-C MRSA §5-205, sub-§5, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 
39 and affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended to read:
40 5.  Attorney for a minor; notice to minor.  If the court determines at any stage of the 
41 proceeding, before or after appointment, that the interests of the minor are or may be 
42 inadequately represented, the court may appoint an attorney to represent the minor, giving 
43 consideration to the choice of the minor if the minor has attained 14 years of age.  If the 







Page 29 - 130LR2578(01)


44 court finds that the minor is indigent, the fees of an attorney appointed under this subsection 
45 must be paid by the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services pursuant to Title 4, 
46 chapter 37.  A minor may appear with or through counsel, but the court is not restricted 
47 from requiring the minor to be present for some or all of a hearing or other proceeding.  A 
48 minor 14 years of age or older must receive notice of any proceeding subsequent to the 
49 appointment of a guardian through the same means as required for any other party, and the 
50 minor may consent, object or otherwise participate in the proceeding.


8 Sec. C-36.  18-C MRSA §5-210, sub-§7, as amended by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. A, 
9 §20, is further amended to read:


10 7.  Parent's petition to terminate guardianship; burden of proof.  A parent may 
11 bring a petition to terminate the guardianship of a minor.  A parent's notification to the 
12 court of the revocation of prior consent for a guardianship must be considered a petition to 
13 terminate the guardianship.  Before the court may apply the termination requirements in 
14 subsection 6, a party opposing a parent's petition to terminate a guardianship bears the 
15 burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that the parent seeking to terminate 
16 the guardianship is currently unfit to regain custody of the minor, in accordance with the 
17 standard set forth in section 5‑204, subsection 2, paragraph C.  If the party opposing 
18 termination of the guardianship fails to meet its burden of proof on the question of the 
19 parent's fitness to regain custody, the court shall terminate the guardianship and make any 
20 further order that may be appropriate.  In a contested action, the court may appoint counsel 
21 for the minor or for any indigent guardian or parent.  If the court finds that the minor, 
22 guardian or parent for whom an attorney is appointed under this subsection is indigent, the 
23 appointed attorney's fees must be paid by the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal 
24 Services pursuant to Title 4, chapter 37.  In ruling on a petition to terminate a guardianship, 
25 the court may modify the terms of the guardianship or order transitional arrangements 
26 pursuant to section 5‑211.


27 Sec. C-37.  18-C MRSA §5-305, sub-§3 is enacted to read:
28 3.  Payment.  If the court appointing an attorney under subsection 1 finds that the 
29 respondent is indigent, the appointed attorney's fees must be paid by the Maine 
30 Commission on Indigent Legal Services pursuant to Title 4, chapter 37.


31 Sec. C-38.  18-C MRSA §5-406, sub-§1, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 
32 and affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended by adding at the end a new blocked 
33 paragraph to read:
34 The fees of an attorney appointed under this subsection must be paid by the Maine 
35 Commission on Indigent Legal Services pursuant to Title 4, chapter 37 if the court finds 
36 that the respondent is indigent.


37 Sec. C-39.  18-C MRSA §5-406, sub-§3, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 
38 and affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended by adding at the end a new blocked 
39 paragraph to read:
40 The fees of an attorney appointed under this subsection must be paid by the Maine 
41 Commission on Indigent Legal Services pursuant to Title 4, chapter 37 if the court finds 
42 that the parent is indigent.


1
2
3
4
5
6
7







Page 30 - 130LR2578(01)


1 Sec. C-40.  18-C MRSA §5-507, sub-§1, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 
2 and affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended by adding at the end a new blocked 
3 paragraph to read:
4 The fees of an attorney appointed under this subsection must be paid by the Maine 
5 Commission on Indigent Legal Services pursuant to Title 4, chapter 37 if the court finds 
6 that the respondent is indigent.


7 Sec. C-41.  18-C MRSA §5-507, sub-§3, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 
8 and affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended by adding at the end a new blocked 
9 paragraph to read:


10 The fees of an attorney appointed under this subsection must be paid by the Maine 
11 Commission on Indigent Legal Services pursuant to Title 4, chapter 37 if the court finds 
12 that the parent is indigent.


13 Sec. C-42.  18-C MRSA §9-106, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. A, §2 and 
14 affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended to read:
15 §9-106.  Legal representation
16 1.  Attorney for parents.  The parents are entitled to an attorney for any hearing held 
17 pursuant to this Article.  If a parent or putative parent wants an attorney but is unable to 
18 afford one, the parent or the putative parent may request the court to appoint an attorney.  
19 If the court finds the requesting party indigent, the court shall appoint and pay the 
20 reasonable costs and expenses of the attorney of the indigent party an attorney and the 
21 attorney's fees must be paid by the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services pursuant 
22 to Title 4, chapter 37.  The attorney may not be the attorney for the adoptive parents.
23 2.  Attorney for minor indigent parent.  When the adoptee is unrelated to the 
24 petitioner, the court shall appoint an attorney who is not the attorney for the adoptive 
25 parents to represent a minor indigent parent at every stage of the proceedings unless the 
26 minor indigent parent refuses representation or the court determines that representation is 
27 unnecessary.  The fees of an attorney appointed for a minor indigent parent under this 
28 subsection must be paid by the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services pursuant to 
29 Title 4, chapter 37.


30 Sec. C-43.  18-C MRSA §9-315, sub-§1, ¶A, as enacted by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. 
31 A, §2 and affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is amended to read:
32 A.  If the adoptee is a minor, the court shall appoint a guardian ad litem on behalf of 
33 the minor adoptee and shall consider the best interest of the child, taking into account 
34 the factors set forth in Title 19‑A, section 1653, subsection 3. The court shall sustain 
35 the decree unless there is clear and convincing evidence of one or more bases for 
36 annulment and that the decree is not in the best interest of the child.  The court may 
37 allocate the costs of the guardian ad litem to one or more of the parties or, if the parties 
38 are indigent, the court shall pay the reasonable costs and expenses of the guardian ad 
39 litem.
40 The court may allocate the costs of the guardian ad litem to one or more of the parties 
41 and may appoint counsel for a minor adoptee or a party to the annulment proceedings.  
42 If the court finds that the minor adoptee or the party for whom counsel is appointed 
43 under this paragraph is indigent, the appointed attorney's fees must be paid by the 







Page 31 - 130LR2578(01)


44 Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services pursuant to Title 4, chapter 37.  A minor 
45 adoptee may appear and be represented by counsel.
3 If the court finds that the minor, guardian or parent for whom counsel is appointed 
4 under this paragraph is indigent, the appointed attorney's fees must be paid by the 
5 Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services pursuant to Title 4, chapter 37.


6 Sec. C-44.  Effective date. This Part takes effect January 1, 2023.


7 PART D
8 Sec. D-1.  4 MRSA c. 7, as amended, is repealed.


9 Sec. D-2.  4 MRSA c. 7-A is enacted to read:


10 CHAPTER 7-A


11 PROBATE COURT


12 §407. Establishment; court of record; seal; process; contempt power
13 1. Establishment; court of record; seal.  A Probate Court for the State is established 
14 as a court of record.  The Chief Judge of the Probate Court shall establish the official seal 
15 of the court and provide the official seal to the Register of Probate in each county.
16 2. Process; contempt power.  The Probate Court may issue any process necessary for 
17 the discharge of official duties and may punish for contempt of the court's authority.
18 §408. Oaths and acknowledgments
19 All oaths required to be taken by personal representatives, trustees, guardians or 
20 conservators, or of any other persons in relation to any proceeding in the Probate Court, or 
21 to perpetuate the evidence of the publication of any order of notice, may be administered 
22 by the Probate Court Judge or Register of Probate or any notary public. A certificate 
23 thereof, when taken out of court, must be returned into the registry of probate and there 
24 filed. When any person of whom such oath is required, including any parent acknowledging 
25 consent to an adoption, resides temporarily or permanently outside of the State, the oath or 
26 acknowledgment may be taken before and be certified by a notary public in another state, 
27 a commissioner for the State or a United States Consul.
28 §409. General jurisdiction; transfer of certain proceedings to District Court
29 1. Estates and trusts.  The Probate Court has jurisdiction in the following matters.
30 A. The Probate Court in each county may take the probate of wills and grant letters 
31 testamentary or of administration on the estates of all deceased persons who, at the time 
32 of their death, were inhabitants or residents of the county or who, not being residents 
33 of the county, died leaving an estate to be administered in the county, or whose estate 
34 is afterwards found in the county; and has jurisdiction of all matters relating to the 
35 settlement of such estates.
36 B. The Probate Court has jurisdiction in equity, concurrent with the Superior Court, of 
37 all cases and matters relating to the administration of the estates of deceased persons, 
38 to wills and to trusts that are created by will or other written instrument. Such 


1
2







Page 32 - 130LR2578(01)


39 jurisdiction may be exercised upon complaint according to the usual course of 
40 proceedings in civil actions in which equitable relief is sought.
3 2. Adoptions, name changes, guardianships, conservatorships and other 
4 protective arrangements.  The Probate Court has, to the extent authorized in Title 18-C, 
5 jurisdiction over adoptions, name change petitions, guardianships, conservatorships and 
6 other protective arrangements and has jurisdiction as to persons under guardianship, 
7 conservatorship or other protective arrangements, except in cases in which the District 
8 Court has exclusive jurisdiction over a child pursuant to section 152, subsection 5-A. 
9 3. Disclosure of orders and proceedings involving parental rights.  The Probate 


10 Court shall require all parties in any matter involving guardianship, adoption or change of 
11 name or another matter involving custody or other parental rights with respect to a minor 
12 child to disclose whether they have knowledge of:  
13 A. Any interim or final order then in effect concerning custody or other parental rights 
14 with respect to the minor child;
15 B. Any proceeding involving custody or other parental rights with respect to the minor 
16 child currently filed or pending before any court of this State or another state, including 
17 the District Court; or
18 C. Any other related action currently filed or pending before any court of this State or 
19 another state, including the District Court.
20 4.  Transfer of certain proceedings to District Court.  If, in a matter before the 
21 Probate Court concerning a minor child, the Probate Court becomes aware that a 
22 proceeding involving custody or other parental rights with respect to the minor child is 
23 pending in the District Court, the Probate Court shall notify the District Court and take 
24 appropriate action to facilitate a transfer of the matter to the District Court.  
25 §410.  Jurisdiction in court where proceedings originate
26 Subject to Title 18-C, sections 1-303, 3-201, 5-106 and 9-104, and except as otherwise 
27 provided in Title 18-C, section 5-105, when a case is originally within the jurisdiction of 
28 the Probate Court in 2 or more counties, the one that first commences proceedings retains 
29 jurisdiction exclusively throughout. The jurisdiction assumed in any case, except in cases 
30 of fraud, so far as it depends on the residence of any person or the locality or amount of 
31 property, may not be contested in any proceeding except on an appeal or removal from the 
32 Probate Court in the original case or when the want of jurisdiction appears on the same 
33 record.
34 §411.  Judges; appointment; qualifications; remuneration; full-time duties
35 1. Appointment; term.  The Governor, subject to review by the joint standing 
36 committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over judiciary matters and to confirmation 
37 by the Legislature, shall appoint to the Probate Court 9 judges.  Each Probate Court Judge 
38 has a term of office of 7 years.
39 2. Qualifications.  To be eligible for appointment as a Probate Court Judge, an 
40 individual must be a member of the bar of the State.  
41 3.  Salary; expenses.  Except as provided in subsection 4 for the Chief Judge of the 
42 Probate Court, each Probate Court Judge is entitled to receive a salary equivalent to the 
43 salary of an Associate Judge of the District Court under section 157, subsection 4 and to 


1
2







Page 33 - 130LR2578(01)


44 reimbursement by the State for expenses to the same extent that a District Court Judge is 
45 entitled to reimbursement by the State for expenses under section 157, subsection 5.
3 4. Designation of Chief Judge; salary; expenses.  The Chief Justice of the Supreme 
4 Judicial Court shall designate one Probate Court Judge appointed under subsection 1 as the 
5 Chief Judge of the Probate Court.  The Chief Judge of the Probate Court is entitled to 
6 receive a salary equivalent to the salary of the Chief Judge of the District Court under 
7 section 157, subsection 2 and to reimbursement by the State for expenses to the same extent 
8 that a District Court Judge is entitled to reimbursement by the State for expenses under 
9 section 157, subsection 5.


10 5. Full-time duties.  A Probate Court Judge appointed under this section shall devote 
11 full time to that judge's judicial duties and, during that judge's term of office, may not 
12 practice law or be the partner or associate of any person in the practice of law.
13 §412.  Duties of Chief Judge
14 The Chief Judge of the Probate Court is responsible to and under the supervision of the 
15 Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court for the operation of the Probate Court and shall 
16 serve as Chief Judge at the pleasure of the Chief Justice.  The Chief Judge shall:
17 1. Hold court when necessary.  Hold court in any county when the Chief Judge 
18 determines it necessary by reason of illness, absence or disability of the Probate Court 
19 Judge regularly assigned or by reason of an excessive case load in any county;
20 2. Assign judges.  Assign Probate Court Judges to hold court in any county where, in 
21 the judgment of the Chief Judge, they are needed;
22 3. Days and hours for holding court.  Subject to the requirements of section 413, 
23 subsection 4, fix the days and hours for holding court in each county and provide public 
24 notification of such days and hours as provided in section 415;
25 4. Vacations.  Determine the time for the taking of vacations by each Probate Court 
26 Judge;
27 5.  Records and reports.  Prescribe, subject to the approval of the Chief Justice of the 
28 Supreme Judicial Court or the Chief Justice's designee, the records to be kept and destroyed 
29 and the reports to be made by each Probate Court Judge;
30 6. Statistics.  Collect such statistics and other information pertaining to the business of 
31 the Probate Court as are requested by the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court or 
32 the Chief Justice's designee;
33 7. Budget.  Utilizing such assistance from the Administrative Office of the Courts as 
34 the Chief Judge may request, prepare and submit a proposed annual budget for the Probate 
35 Court to the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court or the Chief Justice's designee.  
36 The proposed annual budget for the Probate Court may not include expenses related to the 
37 operation of county registries of probate or revenue from fees, fines or penalties collected 
38 by the Probate Court and allocated to the county pursuant to Title 18-C, sections 1-501, 
39 1-511, 1-603 and 1-607 or any other provision of law;
40 8.  Report.  Render to the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court an annual report 
41 on the state of business in the Probate Court and on the conferences held pursuant to 
42 subsection 10;


1
2







Page 34 - 130LR2578(01)


1 9. Courtroom facilities.  Pursuant to section 413, make necessary arrangements for 
2 safe and accessible courtroom facilities in each county; establish headquarters with 
3 appropriate facilities for the Chief Judge; and establish quarters and facilities for each 
4 Probate Court Judge;
5 10. Conference of judges.  Convene at least once annually at such place as the Chief 
6 Judge considers appropriate a conference of Probate Court Judges to consider and take 
7 action upon or make recommendations with respect to current problems in the operation of 
8 the Probate Court.  The expenses of Probate Court Judges attending this conference are an 
9 expense of the Probate Court; 


10 11.  Development and implementation of administrative concepts.  Carry on a 
11 continuous survey and study of the organization, operation, condition of business, practice 
12 and procedure of the Probate Court and make recommendations to the Chief Justice of the 
13 Supreme Judicial Court concerning the number of judges and other personnel, other than 
14 personnel in the county registries of probate, required for the efficient administration of 
15 justice and examine, with the advice of the Probate Court Judges and Registers of Probate, 
16 the status of dockets of the various Probate Courts to determine whether the business of the 
17 court is being carried out in an efficient manner and that emergency matters are prioritized 
18 and addressed expediently.  From such an examination, the Chief Judge shall annually 
19 make recommendations to the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court for guidelines 
20 and policies for the scheduling and trial of matters before the Probate Court.  In providing 
21 recommendations, the Chief Judge shall give due and appropriate regard to the 
22 recommendations of the Probate Court Judges and the Registers of Probate and shall 
23 provide a mechanism whereby their individual recommendations and comments may be 
24 brought to the attention of the Chief Justice.  The Chief Judge, in advising as to the 
25 appropriateness of the methods or systems for scheduling trials and the management of 
26 matters before the Probate Court, shall take into consideration systems and methods 
27 operational in the Superior Court and the District Court.  The final decision as to the 
28 management of judicial branch personnel and the implementation of guidelines, policies 
29 and procedures for the scheduling of trials and management of matters before the Probate 
30 Court must be made by the Chief Justice only after consultation with the Chief Judge; and
31 12. Other duties.  Perform such additional duties as may be assigned by the Chief 
32 Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court.
33 §413. Probate Court regions; place for holding court
34 1.  Probate Court regions.  The State is divided into 8 Probate Court regions, named 
35 and defined as follows:
36 A. Region 1 consists of York County;
37 B. Region 2 consists of Cumberland County;
38 C. Region 3 consists of Oxford, Franklin and Androscoggin counties;
39 D. Region 4 consists of Kennebec and Somerset counties;
40 E. Region 5 consists of Penobscot and Piscataquis counties;
41 F. Region 6 consists of Sagadahoc, Lincoln, Knox and Waldo counties;
42 G. Region 7 consists of Hancock and Washington counties; and







Page 35 - 130LR2578(01)


1 H. Region 8 consists of Aroostook County.
2 2. Assignment.  The Chief Judge of the Probate Court shall assign at least one Probate 
3 Court Judge as the primary judge to hold court in each region.
4 3. Place for holding court.  In each county within each region, the Chief Judge of the 
5 Probate Court shall designate a place for holding court that is located, to the extent possible 
6 given the other requirements of this subsection, in the building holding the office of that 
7 county's Register of Probate.  The Chief Judge, with the advice and approval of the 
8 Department of Administrative and Financial Services, Bureau of General Services, is 
9 empowered to negotiate on behalf of the State the leases, contracts and other arrangements 


10 the Chief Judge considers necessary, within the limits of the budget and funds available, to 
11 provide suitable quarters, adequately furnished and equipped for the Probate Court in each 
12 county.  
13 If the Chief Judge is unable to negotiate the leases, contracts and other arrangements as 
14 provided in this subsection, the Chief Judge may, with the advice and approval of the 
15 Bureau of General Services, negotiate on behalf of the State the leases, contracts and other 
16 arrangements the Chief Judge considers necessary, within the limits of the budget and funds 
17 available, to provide suitable quarters, adequately furnished and equipped for the Probate 
18 Court in other publicly owned or privately owned buildings.
19 4. Exception; Aroostook County.  Notwithstanding subsection 3, the Chief Judge of 
20 the Probate Court shall secure facilities for the Probate Court in Region 8 to hold court at 
21 least 2 times each year at Fort Kent and at least 4 times each year at Caribou. The time for 
22 holding the court must be appointed by the Chief Judge of the Probate Court and made 
23 known by public notification as provided in section 415.
24 5. Exception; alternative locations.  Notwithstanding subsection 3, the Probate Court 
25 may hold hearings for matters in equity and contested cases at such time and place in the 
26 county as the Probate Court may appoint and make all necessary orders and decrees relating 
27 thereto.
28 §414.  Officers execute processes and attend courts
29 Sheriffs, their deputies and constables shall execute all legal processes directed to them 
30 by a Probate Court, which may, when necessary, require such officer, when not in 
31 attendance upon any other court, to attend during the sitting of the Probate Court, for which 
32 that officer must be paid as in other courts for similar services. 
33 §415.  Continuous session; return day for matters requiring public notice
34 The Probate Court is always open in each county for all matters over which it has 
35 jurisdiction, except upon days on which by law no court is held, but it shall have certain 
36 fixed days and places to be made known by public notification thereof in their respective 
37 counties to which all matters requiring public notice must be made returnable, except as 
38 otherwise ordered by the Chief Judge of the Probate Court. In case of the absence of the 
39 assigned Probate Court Judge at the time of holding any court, the Register of Probate or 
40 acting register may adjourn the same unless the Chief Judge of the Probate Court assigns 
41 another Probate Court Judge to attend. 
42 §416.  Conflict of interest; transfer of proceeding







Page 36 - 130LR2578(01)


1 1.  Probate Court Judge conflict of interest.  When a Probate Court Judge is 
2 interested in that judge's own right in a trust that is not fully executed, or in any other 
3 manner in an estate, or is within the degree of kindred by which in law that judge may, by 
4 possibility, be heir to any part of the estate of the person deceased, or is named as executor, 
5 trustee of a trust that is not fully executed or guardian of minor children in the will of any 
6 deceased resident of the county, the judge must be recused from any proceedings related to 
7 the trust or settlement of the estate unless said disability is removed.  
8 This subsection may not be construed to require recusal by a Probate Court Judge who is 
9 named as executor, trustee or guardian of minor children in a will if the judge does not 


10 receive a benefit from the will and the record of the court discloses the filing of the judge's 
11 declination to act as such executor, trustee or guardian and if no objection is raised by any 
12 interested party at the hearing on the petition for probate of the will.
13 2. Probate Court Judge not to draft documents.  A Probate Court Judge may not 
14 draft or aid in drafting any document or paper that the Probate Court Judge is by law 
15 required to pass upon. 
16 3. Register of Probate conflict of interest; transfer of proceeding.  When a Register 
17 of Probate is interested in that register's own right in a trust that is not fully executed, or in 
18 any other manner in an estate, or is within the degree of kindred by which in law that 
19 register may, by possibility, be heir to any part of the estate of the person deceased, or is 
20 named as executor, trustee of a trust that is not fully executed or guardian of minor children 
21 in the will of any deceased resident of the county, such estate must be settled in the Probate 
22 Court of any adjoining county, which has full jurisdiction thereof as if the deceased had 
23 died in that adjoining county.  If the register's interest arises after jurisdiction over such 
24 estate has been assumed or existed at the time of the register's election to office, and in all 
25 cases where an executor, administrator, guardian or trustee, whose trust is not fully 
26 executed, becomes the Register of Probate for the county in which that register's letters 
27 were granted, further proceedings must be transferred to the Probate Court in any adjoining 
28 county and there remain until completed, unless said disability is removed before that time. 
29 Whenever in any case within this subsection the disability of the Register of Probate is 
30 removed before the proceedings have been fully completed, the proceedings must then be 
31 transferred to the Probate Court in the county of original jurisdiction or to the Probate Court 
32 that otherwise would have had jurisdiction. In all such cases the register in such adjoining 
33 county shall transmit copies of all records relating to such estate to the probate office of the 
34 county where such estate belongs, to be there recorded.
35 This subsection may not be construed to require removal to another county by reason of 
36 the Register of Probate having been named as executor, trustee or guardian of minor 
37 children in a will, if the register does not receive a benefit from the will and the record of 
38 the court discloses the filing of the register's declination to act as such executor, trustee or 
39 guardian and if no objection is raised by any interested party at the hearing on the petition 
40 for probate of the will.
41 §417. Rights of claimants under heir
42 Any person claiming under an heir at law has the same rights as the heir in all 
43 proceedings in Probate Court, including rights of appeal.
44 §418. Perpetual care of cemetery lots by order







Page 37 - 130LR2578(01)


1 In any case in which an estate is under the Probate Court's jurisdiction for probate, the 
2 Probate Court may order that an appropriate amount out of the estate be set aside for 
3 perpetual care and suitable memorials for the cemetery lot in which the deceased is buried 
4 and order special care of such lots when the conditions and size of the estate seem to warrant 
5 such order.
6 §419. Contracts for support
7 1.  Approval required.  All contracts for support for life must be approved by the 
8 Probate Court in the county in which the support for life is to be rendered. The Probate 
9 Court shall grant approval after such reasonable notice as the court determines to be 


10 appropriate, if the court finds, after hearing, that the contract is just and equitable under all 
11 of the circumstances.
12 2.  Admissibility in evidence.  A contract or agreement for support for life that has not 
13 been approved under subsection 1 may not be received in evidence unless the person 
14 offering the contract or agreement establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that the 
15 contract or agreement is just and equitable under all of the circumstances.
16 3. Exception.  This section does not apply to contracts or agreements for support for 
17 life between persons related within the 3rd degree.
18 §420. Commission To Evaluate the Incorporation of the Probate Court into the 
19 Judicial Branch 
20 1.  Commission established.  The Commission To Evaluate the Incorporation of the 
21 Probate Court into the Judicial Branch, referred to in this section as "the commission," is 
22 established.
23 2.  Membership.  The commission consists of 15 members appointed as follows:
24 A.  Two members of the Senate appointed by the President of the Senate, including one 
25 member from each of the 2 parties holding the largest number of seats in the 
26 Legislature;
27 B.  Three members of the House of Representatives appointed by the Speaker of the 
28 House of Representatives, including members from each of the 2 parties holding the 
29 largest number of seats in the Legislature;
30 C.  Three members appointed by the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court;
31 D.  One member who is a Probate Court Judge appointed by the Chief Justice of the 
32 Supreme Judicial Court;
33 E.  One member who is a Register of Probate appointed by the Speaker of the House 
34 of Representatives;
35 F.  One member who is a judicial branch clerk appointed by the Chief Justice of the 
36 Supreme Judicial Court;
37 G. One member who is a member of the Probate and Trust Law Advisory Commission, 
38 established pursuant to Title 5, section 12004-I, subsection 73-B,  appointed by that 
39 commission;
40 H.  One member who is a member of the Family Law Advisory Commission, 
41 established pursuant to Title 5, section 12004-I, subsection 52-A,  appointed by that 
42 commission; and







Page 38 - 130LR2578(01)


1 I.  Two members who are members of the Maine State Bar Association, one of whom 
2 is a member of a nonprofit organization providing statewide free legal services, 
3 appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives.
4 3.  Chairs; quorum.  The first-named Senate member is the Senate chair and the first-
5 named House of Representatives member is the House chair of the commission.  A quorum 
6 of the commission consists of 8 members.  
7 4. Appointments; convening of commission.  All appointments must be made no later 
8 than January 1, 2027.  The appointing authorities shall notify the Executive Director of the 
9 Legislative Council once all appointments have been completed.  After appointment of all 


10 members, the chairs shall call and convene the first meeting of the commission.  If 30 days 
11 or more after January 1, 2027 a majority of but not all appointments have been made, the 
12 chairs may request authority and the Legislative Council may grant authority for the 
13 commission to meet and conduct its business.
14 5. Duties.  The commission shall conduct a thorough review of the Probate Court 
15 system, including but not limited to the interaction between the state Probate Court and 
16 county registries of probate; the establishment and allocation of Probate Court fees;  the 
17 Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services' responsibility for oversight and payment 
18 of attorneys appointed by the Probate Court to represent indigent parties in Probate Court 
19 proceedings pursuant to Title 4, chapter 37; and the judicial branch's responsibility for 
20 oversight of visitors appointed by the Probate Court and for payment of court-appointed 
21 visitors when the Probate Court is allowed or directed by law to appoint a visitor at state 
22 expense.  The review must include, but is not limited to, an evaluation of:
23 A.  Whether the number of Probate Court Judge positions is appropriate or should be 
24 adjusted;
25 B.  Whether the jurisdiction of the Probate Court, District Court and Superior Court 
26 should be adjusted to increase judicial efficiency and access to justice;
27 C. Whether the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court should be authorized to 
28 assign Probate Court Judges to sit in the Superior Court or the District Court and to 
29 assign Superior Court Justices and District Court Judges to sit in the Probate Court;
30 D.  Whether additional investments should be made to enhance the compatibility of the 
31 Probate Court's case management system with the case management system used by 
32 the other courts in the judicial branch; and
33 E. Whether additional steps should be taken to more fully incorporate the Probate Court 
34 into the judicial branch, including whether to transfer the functions and staff of the 
35 county registries of probate into the judicial branch.
36 6. Compensation.  Legislative members of the commission are entitled to receive the 
37 legislative per diem, as defined in Title 3, section 2, and reimbursement for travel and other 
38 necessary expenses for their attendance at authorized meetings of the commission. Public 
39 members not otherwise compensated by their employers or other entities that they represent 
40 are entitled to receive reimbursement of necessary expenses and, upon a demonstration of 
41 financial hardship, a per diem equal to the legislative per diem for their attendance at 
42 authorized meetings of the commission.  







Page 39 - 130LR2578(01)


1 7. Staffing.  The Legislative Council shall provide staff support for the operation of 
2 the commission, except that Legislative Council staff support is not authorized when the 
3 Legislature is in regular or special session.
4 8. Information and assistance.  The Administrative Office of the Courts, the Chief 
5 Judge of the Probate Court and Registers of Probate shall provide to the commission the 
6 information and assistance requested by the commission that is necessary for the 
7 commission to perform its duties.
8 9. Report.  No later than December 31, 2027, the commission shall submit a report 
9 that includes its findings and recommendations, which may include suggested legislation, 


10 for presentation to the joint standing committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over 
11 judiciary matters.  The joint standing committee may report out legislation related to the 
12 report to the 133rd Legislature.
13 10. Repeal.  This section is repealed June 1, 2028.


14 Sec. D-3.  4 MRSA §1201, sub-§12-C is enacted to read:
15 12-C.  Judge.  "Judge" means a Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court or the Superior 
16 Court, any Judge of the District Court, any Probate Court Judge, any Administrative Court 
17 Judge or any Associate Administrative Court Judge who is actively serving as of December 
18 1, 1984, or who is appointed subsequent to December 1, 1984, but does not include Active 
19 Retired Judges.


20 Sec. D-4.  18-C MRSA §1-201, sub-§8-A is enacted to read:
21 8-A.  Court.  "Court" means the Probate Court established in Title 4, section 407, 
22 subsection 1.


23 Sec. D-5.  18-C MRSA §1-309-A is enacted to read:
24 §1-309-A.  Judges
25 A judge of the court must be chosen and shall serve as provided in Title 4, chapter 7-A.


26 Sec. D-6.  18-C MRSA §1-510, sub-§1, ¶B-1 is enacted to read:
27 B-1.  Be an administrator, guardian, commissioner of insolvency, appraiser or divider 
28 of an estate, in a case within the jurisdiction of the court located in the county in which 
29 the register is register, except as provided in Title 4, chapter 7-A, or be in any manner 
30 interested in the fees and emoluments arising from such an estate in that capacity; or


31 Sec. D-7.  21-A MRSA §1, sub-§11, as enacted by PL 1985, c. 161, §6, is amended 
32 to read:
33 11.  County office.  "County office" means the office of judge of probate, register of 
34 probate, county treasurer, register of deeds, sheriff, district attorney or county 
35 commissioner.


36 Sec. D-8.  21-A MRSA §601, sub-§3, as amended by PL 2021, c. 273, §10, is 
37 further amended to read:
38 3.  Order of offices.  The order of offices on the ballot is as follows:  President, United 
39 States Senator, Governor, Representative to Congress, State Senator and Representative to 
40 the Legislature, and the county offices in the following order: judge of probate, register of 
41 probate, county treasurer, register of deeds, sheriff, district attorney and county 







Page 40 - 130LR2578(01)


42 commissioner, except that the order may be modified to allow ranked-choice contests to be 
43 printed on the opposite side of the ballot, separate from contests other than ranked-choice 
44 contests.


4 Sec. D-9.  Transition provision.  A Probate Court Judge appointed to the state 
5 Probate Court pursuant to the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 4, section 301-A, subsection 2 
6 prior to January 1, 2025 continues to serve as a Probate Court Judge in the Probate Court 
7 established in Title 4, chapter 7-A until the expiration of the term to which the judge was 
8 appointed.


9 Sec. D-10.  Effective date. This Part takes effect January 1, 2025.


10 Emergency clause.  In view of the emergency cited in the preamble, this legislation 
11 takes effect when approved, except as otherwise indicated.


12 SUMMARY
13 This bill implements the recommendations of the Commission To Create a Plan To 
14 Incorporate the Probate Courts into the Judicial Branch, referred to in this summary as "the 
15 commission."  The report is available online at https://legislature.maine.gov/doc/7703.
16 Maine's county Probate Courts occupy a unique position in Maine's justice system. 
17 Unlike Maine's other trial courts, Probate Courts are not part of the state judicial branch 
18 and Probate Court Judges are not appointed by the Governor and confirmed by the 
19 Legislature.  Instead, pursuant to the former Constitution of Maine, Article VI, Section 6, 
20 Probate Court Judges and Registers of Probate are elected to 4-year terms in each county.  
21 Although the caseload varies from county to county, it is generally understood that Maine's 
22 county Probate Court Judges serve on a part-time basis and, accordingly, they are 
23 authorized to engage in the practice of law. 
24 In 1967, the Legislature passed Resolve 1967, chapter 77, which proposed an 
25 amendment to the Constitution of Maine that would repeal Article VI, Section 6 and would 
26 "become effective at such time as the Legislature by proper enactment shall establish a 
27 different Probate Court system with full-time judges."  This constitutional amendment was 
28 approved by a majority of the voters of Maine on November 7, 1967.  In its report, the 
29 commission recommended that the Legislature implement this constitutional amendment 
30 by establishing a new state Probate Court with full-time, appointed state Probate Court 
31 Judges.  Part A of the bill sets out that it is the intent of the Legislature that the enactment 
32 of this legislation, which implements the commission's recommended new Probate Court 
33 system with full-time judges, will trigger the repeal of the Constitution of Maine, Article 
34 VI, Section 6 pursuant to Resolve 1967, chapter 77 on the date that this emergency 
35 legislation is approved.
36 Although this bill is intended to trigger the repeal of the Constitution of Maine, Article 
37 VI, Section 6, which provides for the election of probate judges, the commission did not 
38 recommend and the bill does not provide for the removal from office of any county Probate 
39 Court Judge prior to the expiration of the term to which the judge was previously elected 
40 under the Constitution.  To avoid that result, the commission recommended a multiyear, 
41 multistep process for establishing a new state Probate Court with full-time judges.  Part B 
42 of the bill, which is effective immediately, Part C of the bill, which is effective January 1, 


1
2
3


13
14
15



https://legislature.maine.gov/doc/7703





Page 41 - 130LR2578(01)


43 2023, and Part D of the bill, which is effective January 1, 2025, implement this multiyear, 
44 multistep process as follows. 
3 1.  Parts B and D of the bill establish a state Probate Court within the judicial branch 
4 that is distinct from the District Court and Superior Court.  By January 1, 2025, the state 
5 Probate Court will be staffed by 9 full-time judges appointed by the Governor and 
6 confirmed by the Legislature, including one judge assigned to serve as the primary judge 
7 in each of 8 new Probate Court regions that will be aligned with the State's 8 prosecutorial 
8 districts.
9 A. When the terms of the incumbent probate judges in Androscoggin, Franklin, Knox 


10 and Penobscot counties expire on December 31, 2022, they will be replaced by county 
11 Probate Court Judges elected to 2-year terms that will expire on December 31, 2024.  
12 Because the ballot-qualification process has already commenced, Part B of the bill 
13 provides that signatures collected by a candidate on a petition to qualify to appear on 
14 the primary or general election ballot for a county probate judge position established 
15 by the Constitution of Maine, Article VI, Section 6 in one of these counties are deemed 
16 to be signatures collected for that candidate to appear on the primary or general election 
17 ballot for the 2-year statutory Probate Court Judge positions established in the bill for 
18 that county.
19 B.  When the terms of the incumbent probate judges in Cumberland, Hancock and 
20 Washington counties expire on December 31, 2022, they will be replaced by 4 new 
21 state Probate Court Judges appointed by the Governor and confirmed by the Legislature 
22 in the same manner that District Court Judges and Superior Court Justices are appointed 
23 and confirmed for terms that commence January 1, 2023.  Although not reflected in the 
24 text of the bill, the commission also recommended that these judges be supported by 
25 one new law clerk, one new judicial administrative assistant and 4 new court marshals.
26 C.  Beginning January 1, 2023, the 4 new state Probate Court Judges will preside over 
27 probate proceedings in Cumberland, Hancock and Washington counties while the 
28 remainder of the State's 16 counties will continue to be served by an elected county 
29 Probate Court Judge.  If a judicial vacancy occurs in a county Probate Court after 
30 January 1, 2023 due to the death, resignation or retirement of the elected county Probate 
31 Court Judge, the vacant position will not be filled and jurisdiction over that county's 
32 probate matters will be transferred to the new state Probate Court.  If the Chief Justice 
33 of the Supreme Judicial Court determines that the number of state Probate Court Judges 
34 is insufficient to provide for the efficient administration of justice in all of the counties 
35 served by the new state Probate Court, the Chief Justice may request that the Governor 
36 appoint an additional state Probate Court Judge.  Although not reflected in the text of 
37 the bill, to ensure that funding is available for all of the new potential state judgeships 
38 as they arise, the commission also recommended that all 9 new state Probate Court 
39 Judge positions be funded through General Fund appropriations commencing on 
40 January 1, 2023.
41 D. When the terms of all remaining county Probate Court Judges expire on December 
42 31, 2024, they will be replaced by the number of new state Probate Court Judges 
43 necessary to achieve a full complement of 9 state Probate Court Judges.  Although not 
44 reflected in the text of the bill, the commission also recommended that these new judges 
45 be supported by a 2nd law clerk and judicial administrative assistant and by 5 additional 
46 court marshals.


1
2







Page 42 - 130LR2578(01)


1 E.  Although not reflected in the text of the bill, the commission also recommended 
2 that the judicial branch be authorized to hire an information technology specialist and 
3 a facilities manager as soon as possible, and that General Fund appropriations be 
4 provided for that purpose, to help the judicial branch prepare for the establishment of 
5 the state Probate Court on January 1, 2023.
6 2.  Parts B, C and D of the bill direct the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court 
7 to designate one appointed state Probate Court Judge to serve as the Chief Judge of the 
8 Probate Court, who is charged with fulfilling administrative duties similar to the 
9 administrative duties of the Chief Justice of the Superior Court and Chief Judge of the 


10 District Court.  These duties include facilitating the transition from the county Probate 
11 Court system to the state Probate Court system; creating the statewide Probate Court 
12 schedule; ensuring uniformity of court processes and procedures and that emergency 
13 matters are prioritized and addressed expediently; securing and ensuring the accessibility 
14 and safety of Probate Court facilities; and preparing annual reports on the business of the 
15 state Probate Court.
16 3. Parts C and D of the bill direct that state Probate Court proceedings be held in 
17 existing county Probate Court facilities if possible and require the Chief Judge of the 
18 Probate Court to negotiate leases, contracts or other arrangements between the counties and 
19 the judicial branch regarding the use of those facilities. When necessary, state District Court 
20 and Superior Court facilities may also be used for Probate Court proceedings.
21 4. Parts B, C and D of the bill preserve the county registries of probate. 
22 A.  Part B of the bill provides, by statute, for the election of county Registers of Probate 
23 under the same terms and conditions applicable to county register of probate elections 
24 under the Constitution of Maine, Article VI, Section 6, which will be repealed on the 
25 date that this emergency legislation is approved.  Because the ballot-qualification 
26 process has already commenced, Part B of the bill provides that signatures collected 
27 by a candidate on a petition to qualify to appear on the primary or general election 
28 ballot this year for a register of probate position established by the Constitution of 
29 Maine, Article VI, Section 6 are deemed to be signatures collected for that candidate 
30 to appear on the primary or general election ballot this year for the same Register of 
31 Probate position established in the bill by statute.
32 B.  Parts B, C and D of the bill further provide that, as each county transitions to the 
33 state Probate Court, that county should continue to retain all fees filed in state Probate 
34 Court proceedings in that county to offset the costs of maintaining its county registry 
35 of probate and of paying registry staff.  These costs include, for example, the cost to 
36 maintain the current electronic management system for probate court records that the 
37 commission recommended retaining during the multiyear transition to the new state 
38 Probate Court system.
39 5. Part C of the bill provides that, beginning January 1, 2023, the Maine Commission 
40 on Indigent Legal Services is responsible for paying and for establishing the minimum 
41 experience, training and additional qualifications for attorneys appointed to represent 
42 indigent individuals at public expense in all state and county Probate Court proceedings.  
43 Although not reflected in the text of the bill, the commission further recommended that the 
44 Legislature provide new General Fund appropriations to the Maine Commission on 
45 Indigent Legal Services to cover the cost of these appointments.







Page 43 - 130LR2578(01)


1 6. Parts C and D of the bill require the judicial branch to establish the minimum 
2 experience, training and additional qualifications for court-appointed visitors in state 
3 Probate Court proceedings and to pay the expenses of both court-appointed visitors and 
4 court-appointed guardians ad litem in state Probate Court proceedings when the parties are 
5 indigent or the court is allowed or directed by law to pay these expenses.  Although not 
6 reflected in the text of the bill, the commission recommended that the Legislature provide 
7 new General Fund appropriations to the judicial branch to cover the expenses associated 
8 with the new requirements.  Part C of the bill clarifies that, if a guardian ad litem or visitor 
9 is appointed at public expense in a county Probate Court proceeding, the county remains 


10 responsible for paying the court-appointed professional's fees.
11 7.  Finally, Part D of the bill establishes the Commission To Evaluate the Incorporation 
12 of the Probate Court into the Judicial Branch, a 15-member study group composed of the 
13 same categories of members appointed to the Commission To Create a Plan To Incorporate 
14 the Probate Courts into the Judicial Branch.  Part D of the bill directs the new commission 
15 to conduct a thorough review of the new state Probate Court system in 2027, which must 
16 include, but is not limited to, evaluating whether the number of supported state Probate 
17 Court Judge positions proposed is appropriate or should be adjusted; whether the 
18 jurisdiction of the state Probate Court, District Court and Superior Court should be adjusted 
19 to increase judicial efficiency and access to justice; whether to authorize assignment of 
20 state Probate Court Judges to preside over District Court or Superior Court dockets to the 
21 same extent that the judges in the District Court and justices in the Superior Court are 
22 available for cross assignments; whether additional investments should be made to enhance 
23 the compatibility of the Probate Court and judicial branch electronic case management 
24 systems; and whether additional opportunities exist to advance toward the ultimate goal of 
25 fully incorporating the Probate Court system into the judicial branch.  No later than 
26 December 31, 2027, the commission is required to submit a report that includes its findings 
27 and recommendations, which may include suggested legislation, for presentation to the 
28 joint standing committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over judiciary matters.  The 
29 joint standing committee may report out legislation related to the report to the 133rd 
30 Legislature.








1 
 


Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services – Commissioners Meeting 
January 25, 2022 


Zoom 
 


Minutes  
 


Commissioners Present:  Donald Alexander, Meegan Burbank, Michael Carey, Robert Cummins, Roger Katz, Matthew Morgan, 
Ronald Schneider, Joshua Tardy 
MCILS Staff Present: Justin Andrus, Ellie Maciag 
 
Agenda Item Discussion Outcome/Action 


Item/Responsible 
Party 


Declaration of 
Emergency 
 


Chair Tardy cited the increase in COVID infection rates as the emergency 
requiring remote participation for the meeting. 


 


Approval of 
December 28, 2021 & 
January 10, 2022 
Commission Meeting 
Minutes  
 


No discussion Commissioner 
Alexander moved to 
approve. Commissioner 
Katz seconded. All 
voted in favor. 
Approved. 


Public Hearing Policy 
Memorandum 
Discussion and Vote 
 


Director Andrus asked the Commission to consider and decide policy on the 
following issues: (1) does information obtained or gathered by the Commission 
during an evaluation or investigation of an attorney become public under current 
statute; (2) is public notice as defined by the APA required before an appellate 
hearing; and (3) may the public attend an appellate hearing and, if so, how will 
confidentiality be upheld. Director Andrus noted that most or all appellate 
hearings would have a confidential aspect. Following a discussion on 
confidentiality concerns and what constitutes a substantial public interest, Chair 
Tardy proposed that the public has a substantial interest in billing issues and that 
the hearing officer should decide what portions of the hearing are confidential 
under section 1806 and closed to the public. Commissioner Cummins moved for 


 







2 
 


Agenda Item Discussion Outcome/Action 
Item/Responsible 
Party 


the Commission to adopt a policy that all appellate hearings are of a substantial 
public interest so that the public has a right to access and attend hearings, 
subject to the hearing officer’s ability to protect testimony that would be 
privileged based on statutory provisions. Commissioner Carey seconded. All 
voted in favor.  
 


Report of the 
Executive Director 
 


Director Andrus gave an update on case numbers, explaining that the trend has 
been reasonably good and that the summer surge has tapered and continues to 
taper. Director Andrus added that the Commission has not seen the full 
conversion of vouchers to solely at the $80/hr rate.  
 


 


Legislative Update 
 


Director Andrus and Chair Tardy will be testifying at the Judiciary Committee 
later in the week to present the Commission’s annual report. Director Andrus 
previewed his approach, explaining that the Commission’s statute allows for 
employed attorneys but will need money from the Legislature to fund it before 
moving forward in that direction, that public defender offices would be a 
compliment to the existing delivery model, and that the essential theme will be 
one of parity with the prosecution function. Director Andrus also noted that his 
preference would be for local employed attorneys since local knowledge is 
important and sending remote attorneys would be a second choice. 
Commissioner Cummins urged Director Andrus to emphasize the need for 
parity. Commissioner Alexander suggested that if the decision is to go the 
employed defender route, that the Commission should first try employed 
attorneys in areas of greatest need, including Aroostook and Washington 
counties, since travel to those areas from Augusta would be difficult. The 
discussion then turned to the proposed CLAC amendments to the bill 
prohibiting prosecutors from having contact with unrepresented defendants. The 
Commission took no position on the CLAC amendment and it was decided that 
Director Andrus will endorse from his position.  
 


 







3 
 


Agenda Item Discussion Outcome/Action 
Item/Responsible 
Party 


Strategic 
Planning/Biennial 
Budget Discussion 
 


Director Andrus solicited feedback about potential budget initiatives for the 
biennial budget, explaining that it will take time for the staff to prepare 
proposals and the Commission will need ample time to discuss prior to the 
August/September submission deadline to the Budget Office. 
 


 


Specialized Contracts 
 


Director Andrus explained that there were several initiatives that failed to pass 
during the last legislative session but are still important to a properly 
functioning defense system, including appellate and mitigation/diversion work. 
Director Andrus outlined his approach, including contracting with individuals to 
perform these functions, with some work being billed through defenderData as 
direct client services and a portion of the work being systems development and 
support. Director Andrus urged Commission support for these proposals since 
they are necessary defense functions, and the Commission needs to be focused 
on the issue of the aging bar and replenishment of attorneys and the need for 
rostered counsel to be well trained and have access to specialists. 
 


 


Public Comment 
 


Robert Ruffner, Esq. Attorney Ruffner renewed his suggestion that Maine hire a 
chief public defender to act as the head of the defense function in Maine. 
Attorney Ruffner cautioned the Commission from hiring employed attorneys to 
work in remote areas of the state where there are few attorneys since it might be 
good way to forestall a real public defender system that has some influence.  
  


 


Executive Session None  


Adjournment of 
meeting  


The next meeting will be held on Monday, February 28 at 1 pm via Zoom. 
 


 


 








 


MAINE COMMISSION ON INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES 
 


TO:  MCILS COMMISSIONERS 
 
FROM: JUSTIN ANDRUS, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 


 
SUBJECT: OPERATIONS REPORTS 
 
DATE: February 22, 2022 
  


Attached you will find the January 2022, Operations Reports for your review and our discussion 
at the Commission meeting on February 28, 2022. A summary of the operations reports follows:   


 2,374 new cases were opened in the DefenderData system in January.  This was a 100 case 
increase from December. Year to date, new cases are basically flat from 16,708 at this time 
last year to 16,864 this year.  


 The number of vouchers submitted electronically in January was 2,875, an increase of 419 
vouchers from December, totaling $1,695,565, an increase of $278,455 from December.  
Year to date, the number of submitted vouchers is up by approximately 7.9%, from 17,215 at 
this time last year to 18,582 this year, with the total amount for submitted vouchers up 
approximately 31.7%, from $7,774,453 at this time last year to $10,246,163 this year.   


 In January, we paid 2,679 electronic vouchers totaling $1,529,979, representing an increase 
of 840 vouchers and an increase of $446,222 compared to December.  Year to date, the 
number of paid vouchers is up approximately 6.2%, from 16,617 at this time last year to 
17,649 this year, and the total amount paid is up approximately 30.5%, from $7,418,678 this 
time last year to $9,684,105 this year. 


 We paid no paper vouchers in January. 


 The average price per voucher in January was $571.10 down $18.22 per voucher from 
December.  Year to date, the average price per voucher is up approximately 18.6%, from 
$446.45 at this time last year to $548.71 this year. 


 Post-Conviction Review and Appeal cases had the highest average voucher in January.  
There were 8 vouchers exceeding $5,000 paid in January.  See attached addendum for 
details.   


 In January, we issued 52 authorizations to expend funds: 25 for private investigators, 14 for 
experts, and 13 for miscellaneous services such as interpreters and transcriptionists.  In 
December, we paid $50,084 for experts and investigators, etc. No requests for funds were 
denied. 


 In January we opened 3 attorney investigations. 







 In our All Other Account, the total expenses for the month of January were $1,621,155.  
During January, approximately $41,091 was devoted to the Commission’s operating 
expenses.  


 In the Personal Services Accounts, we had $114,258 in expenses for the month of January.   


 In the Revenue Account, the transfer from the Judicial Branch for January reflecting 
December’s collections, totaled $65,419. 


 Exceptional results 


o Attorney Jeff Wilson got a not guilty verdict on a Gross Sexual Assault trial 


o Attorney Jeremiah McIntosh won a suppression motion in a felony drug case, 
resulting in the dismissal of all charges 


 








MAINE COMMISSION ON INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES
FY22 FUND ACCOUNTING


AS OF 01/31/2022


5,153,983.00$         4,940,737.00$         4,940,737.00$         
48,000.00$              48,000.00$              48,000.00$              


128,745.00$            -$                          -$                          
(398,351.00)$           398,351.00$            -$                          


-$                          -$                          -$                          
-$                          -$                          -$                          


495,733.30$            -$                          -$                          495,733.30$          
4,803,632.00$        5,387,088.00$        4,988,737.00$        16,146,203.30$    


1 (1,188,459.32)$       4 (1,531,646.43)$       7 (1,621,155.51)$       10
2 (1,479,685.13)$       5 (1,537,062.18)$       8 -$                          11
3 (1,282,898.64)$       6 (1,194,029.95)$       9 -$                          12


(70,052.50)$             16,885.00$              5,640.00$                (47,527.50)$          
(13,260.00)$             (13,260.00)$             -$                          (26,520.00)$          


(676,875.82)$           193,882.84$            50,084.84$              (432,908.14)$        
Encumbrances (business cards & address stamps) -$                          -$                          (54.90)$                    (54.90)$                  
Encumbrance (Jamesa Drake training contract) (92,400.00)$             -$                          -$                          (92,400.00)$          


0.59$                        1,321,857.28$        3,423,251.43$        5,711,855.60$      
Q3 Month 7


Counsel Payments Q3 Allotment 4,988,737.00$         
Interpreters Q3 Encumbrances for Justice Works contract 5,640.00$                
Private Investigators Barbara Taylor Contract -$                          
Mental Health Expert CTB Encumbrance for non attorney expenses 50,084.84$              
Misc Prof Fees & Serv Q3 Jamesa Drake training contract -$                          
Transcripts Q3 Encumbrances for business cards & address stamps (54.90)$                    
Other Expert Q3 Expenses to date (1,621,155.51)$       
Process Servers Remaining Q3 Allotment 3,423,251.43$        
Subpoena Witness Fees
Out of State Witness Travel
SUB-TOTAL ILS


Service Center Monthly Total (50,084.84)$             
DefenderData Total Q1 223,124.18$            
CLE Registration Fees Total Q2 193,882.84$            
Mileage/Tolls/Parking Total Q3 50,084.84$              
Mailing/Postage/Freight Total Q4 -$                          
West Publishing Corp Fiscal Year Total 467,091.86$            
Pro Moving Services
Office Supplies/Eqp.
Cellular Phones
OIT/TELCO
Website Maintenance NSF Charges -$                          
Barbara Taylor monthly fees Training Facilities & Meals -$                          
Survey Monkey fees Printing/Binding -$                          
Legal Ads Overseers of the Bar CLE fee -$                          
AAG Legal Srvcs Quarterly Paym Collected Registration Fees -$                          
SUB-TOTAL OE Current Month Total -$                          


-$                                                         


-$                                                         


Encumbrances (B Taylor)
Encumbrances (Justice Works)


Supplemental Budget Allotment
Budget Order Adjustment


-$                                                         


-$                                                         
-$                                                         


 $                                 -   


 $                    (4,850.00)


-$                                                         


OPERATING EXPENSES


 $                 (24,853.30)


FY21 Encumbered Balance Forward   


Q2Mo.Q1


Total Budget Allotments


INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES


TOTAL REMAINING


Total Expenses


FY22 TotalMo.Q3 Q4


-$                                                         


48,000.00$                                             


471,013.00$                                           


Encumbrances (CTB for non attorney expenses)


-$                                                         


Mo.


(41,091.08)$                  


(905.43)$                       


 $                       (205.56)


 $                 (14,654.63)
 $                    (4,865.00)


 $            (1,580,064.43)


 $                       (673.20)


 $                                 -   
 $                       (900.00)


 $                       (174.16)


 $                                 -   


 $                 (10,645.00)
 $                    (6,194.60)
 $                    (2,940.90)


 $                       (299.04)


 $                                 -   


Conference Account Transactions


Non-Counsel Indigent Legal Services


 $            (1,529,979.59)


 $                       (302.00)


 $                       (226.80)
 $                 (12,200.00)


 $                       (450.00)


Account 010 95F Z112 01                                        
(All Other)


-$                                                         


-$                                                         


-$                                                         


Financial Order Unencumbered Balance Fwd -$                                                         


Mo.


423,013.00$                                           FY22 Professional Services Allotment
FY22 General Operations Allotment


(1,621,155.51)$            


 $                    (5,640.00)


-$                                                         


TOTAL


471,013.00$                                           


FY21 Unobligated Carry Forward


 $                       (196.30)


-$                               


INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES







MAINE COMMISSION ON INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES
FY22 FUND ACCOUNTING


AS OF 01/31/2022


285,846.00$            223,990.00$            254,914.00$            927,667.00$            
-$                           -$                           -$                           
-$                           -$                           -$                           


(52,078.00)$             52,078.00$              -$                           
233,768.00$            276,068.00$            254,914.00$            927,667.00$            


1 (74,728.63)$             4 (55,619.74)$             7 (76,653.64)$             10
2 (103,991.70)$           5 (85,735.69)$             8 -$                           11
3 (55,046.83)$             6 (64,196.13)$             9 -$                           12


0.84$                        70,516.44$              178,260.36$            411,694.64$            


Q3
Per Diem
Salary
Vacation Pay
Holiday Pay
Sick Pay
Empl Hlth SVS/Worker Comp
Health Insurance
Dental Insurance
Employer Retiree Health
Employer Retirement 
Employer Group Life
Employer Medicare
Retiree Unfunded Liability
Longevity Pay
Perm Part Time Full Ben
Retro Pay Contract
Unemployment Costs


(4,228.16)$         
(10,000.00)$       


(7,233.35)$         
(160.00)$            


(689.46)$            


TOTAL REMAINING


Month 7


(8,876.20)$         


Mo.Q2 Mo.Mo.Mo. Q3


162,917.00$     


Q4


-$                   
-$                   


Account 010 95F Z112 01                         
(Personal Services)


Q1 FY20 Total


TOTAL (76,653.64)$      


(2,429.11)$         


(3,105.00)$         


(318.36)$            


(3,642.76)$         
(240.90)$            


FY22 Allotment


Total Expenses


(27,186.90)$       


Budget Order Adjustments


Financial Order Adjustments


162,917.00$    
-$                   


Financial Order Adjustments


162,917.00$    
-$                   


Total Budget Allotments


-$                   
-$                   


(3,912.24)$         
(2,951.26)$         


-$                    
(1,679.94)$         


-$                    







MAINE COMMISSION ON INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES
FY22 FUND ACCOUNTING


AS OF 01/31/2022


127,406.00$            209,674.00$            211,155.00$            708,658.00$            
-$                           -$                           -$                           
-$                           -$                           -$                           
-$                           -$                           -$                           


127,406.00$            209,674.00$            211,155.00$            708,658.00$            
1 -$                           4 -$                           7 (37,604.51)$             10
2 -$                           5 (28,405.03)$             8 -$                           11
3 -$                           6 (35,981.80)$             9 -$                           12


127,406.00$            145,287.17$            173,550.49$            606,666.66$            


Q3
Per Diem
Salary
Vacation Pay
Holiday Pay
Sick Pay
Empl Hlth SVS/Worker Comp
Health Insurance
Dental Insurance
Employer Retiree Health
Employer Retirement 
Employer Group Life
Employer Medicare
Retiree Unfunded Liability
Longevity Pay
Perm Part Time Full Ben
Retro Pay Contract
Retro Lump Sum Pymt


(2,376.64)$         
(1,187.70)$         


-$                    
-$                    


-$                    


160,423.00$    
-$                   


Financial Order Adjustments


160,423.00$    
-$                   


Total Budget Allotments


-$                   
-$                   


(215.46)$            


(2,158.00)$         
(87.60)$               


FY22 Allotment


Total Expenses


(20,202.06)$       


Budget Order Adjustments


Financial Order Adjustments


TOTAL (37,604.51)$      


(2,110.48)$         


-$                    


160,423.00$     


Q4


-$                   
-$                   


Account 014 95F Z112 01                              
(OSR Personal Services Revenue)


Q1 FY20 TotalMo.Q2 Mo.Mo.Mo. Q3


-$                    
-$                    


(4,285.08)$         
-$                    


(322.67)$            


TOTAL REMAINING


Month 7


(4,658.82)$         







MAINE COMMISSION ON INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES
FY22 FUND ACCOUNTING


As of 01/31/2022


275,000.00$           275,000.00$           275,000.00$           1,100,000.00$        
5,294,080.00$        3,276,305.00$        7,324.00$               8,585,033.00$        


1 -$                         4 -$                         7 -$                         10
2 -$                         5 -$                         8 -$                         11


-$                         6 -$                         9 -$                         12
3 -$                         -$                         -$                         


5,569,080.00$        3,551,305.00$        282,324.00$           9,685,033.00$        
884,522.69$           -$                         -$                         


1 100,206.73$           4 106,420.57$           7 65,419.07$             10
6,000.00$               -$                         -$                         
2,167.00$               195.00$                   8 -$                         
3,334.00$               -$                         -$                         
1,020.00$               -$                         -$                         


2 -$                         5 108,667.18$           -$                         11
-$                         -$                         -$                         


3 149,539.64$           6 87,445.18$             9 -$                         12
2,142.00$               -$                         -$                         


Collected for reimbursement of counsel fees 286.00$                   426.00$                   -$                         
-$                         -$                         -$                         
-$                         -$                         -$                         


1,149,218.06$        303,153.93$           65,419.07$             1,517,791.06$        
1 -$                         4 -$                         7 -$                         10


-$                         -$                         -$                         ***
2 (457,655.45)$          5 -$                         8 -$                         11


-$                         -$                         -$        106,740.17$            
3 -$                         6 -$                         9 -$                         12
* (4,471.29)$              ** (277.54)$                 *** -$                         
* -$                         ** (351.55)$                 *** -$                         


5,106,953.26$        3,550,675.91$        282,324.00$           9,222,277.17$        
1 -$                         4 7 -$                         10
2 -$                         5 -$                         8 -$                         11
3 -$                         6 -$                         9 -$                         12


687,091.32$           302,524.84$           65,419.07$             1,055,035.23$        


Monthly Total 65,419.07$              
Total Q1 264,695.37$            


** NO COLLECTED REVENUE IN AUGUST Total Q2 303,153.93$            
Total Q3 65,419.07$              
Total Q4 -$                          
Expenses to Date (462,755.83)$          


884,522.69$            
Fiscal Year Total 1,055,035.23$        


Original Total Budget Allotments 275,000.00$        


Q4Mo. Mo.Q1


Collected Revenue from JB


7,324.00$            


Account 014 95F Z112 01                                                                       
(Revenue)


Mo. Q2 Q3


Total Budget Allotments 282,324.00$        
Budget Order Adjustment
Budget Order Adjustment


Financial Order Adjustment -$                      


-$                      


Mo.


-$                      


Budget Order Adjustment


-$                      
-$                      


FY22 Total


Collected from McIntosh Law -$                      


-$                      


Cash Carryover from Prior Quarter


Financial Order Adjustment


-$                      


Collected from McIntosh Law -$                      


Collected for reimbursement of counsel fees -$                      
Asset Forfeiture


Collected Revenue from JB -$                      


Collected Revenue from JB -$                      
Victim Services Restitution


Returned Checks-stopped payments -$                      


Collected from McIntosh Law -$                      


TOTAL CASH PLUS REVENUE COLLECTED -$                      


-$                      Collected from ME Ctr Public Int Reporting
-$                      


Counsel Payments -$                      


Counsel Payments


Counsel Payments


Other Expenses


Other Expenses


-$                      


State Cap for period 3


-$                      
-$                      


Overpayment Reimbursements


-$                      
REMAINING CASH Year to Date


REMAINING ALLOTMENT 282,324.00$        


Collections versus Allotment


Cash Carryover from Prior Year


-$                      


State Cap for period 2 







MAINE COMMISSION ON INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES
FY22 FUND ACCOUNTING


AS OF 01/31/2022


16,000.00$              41,000.00$              -$                           57,000.00$              
16,232.70$              -$                           -$                           


-$                           -$                           -$                           
-$                           -$                           -$                           


16,000.00$              41,000.00$              -$                           57,000.00$              
1 -$                           4 -$                           7 -$                           10
2 -$                           5 -$                           8 -$                           11
3 -$                           6 -$                           9 -$                           12


16,000.00$              41,000.00$              -$                           57,000.00$              


Q3


-$                   
-$                   


Financial Order Adjustments


-$                   
-$                   


TOTAL -$                    


FY22 Allotment


Total Expenses


-$                    


-$                   


Carry Forward


-$                    


-$                   


Q4


-$                   
-$                   


TOTAL REMAINING


Total Budget Allotments


Mo.


-$                   


Q2


Budget Order Adjustments


Mo.


-$                    
-$                    


-$                    


Mo.


Month 7


Q3
Account 014 95F Z112 02                         
(Conference Account)


Q1 FY20 TotalMo.







MAINE COMMISSION ON INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES
FY22 FUND ACCOUNTING


AS OF 01/31/2022


-$                           -$                           4,000,000.00$         4,000,000.00$         
-$                           -$                           -$                           
-$                           -$                           -$                           
-$                           -$                           -$                           
-$                           -$                           4,000,000.00$        4,000,000.00$        


1 -$                           4 -$                           7 -$                           10
2 -$                           5 -$                           8 -$                           11
3 -$                           6 -$                           9 -$                           12


-$                           -$                           4,000,000.00$        4,000,000.00$        


Q3


Mo.


Month 7


Q3
Account 023 95F Z112 02                         
(ARA)


Q1 FY20 TotalMo.Q2


Budget Order Adjustments


Mo.


-$                    
-$                    


-$                    


-$                   


Q4


-$                   
-$                   


TOTAL REMAINING


Total Budget Allotments


Mo.


-$                   


TOTAL -$                    


FY22 Allotment


Total Expenses


-$                    


-$                   


Financial Order Adjustments


-$                    


-$                   
-$                   


Financial Order Adjustments


-$                   
-$                   







9 16 22,432.36$        19 1,469.06$      95 100 160,094.88$         1,600.95$   
219 504 372,092.77$      503 715.91$         1,453 2,635 1,803,940.26$      684.61$      


2 8 10,360.00$        7 1,062.86$      8 57 97,206.00$            1,705.37$   
7 7 1,840.00$           10 310.44$         52 39 14,601.20$            374.39$      


569 600 543,586.58$      560 790.87$         4,050 3,788 2,989,177.55$      789.12$      
77 64 15,549.79$        90 243.24$         575 603 154,852.86$         256.80$      
52 63 40,571.73$        61 660.29$         359 343 192,149.63$         560.20$      


213 209 62,310.40$        185 297.04$         1,572 1,429 425,859.24$         298.01$      
22 27 8,054.19$           17 196.39$         171 145 37,101.70$            255.87$      


124 136 43,081.11$        138 346.52$         1,065 985 316,515.56$         321.34$      
860 826 317,030.88$      720 396.75$         6,073 5,141 1,981,655.38$      385.46$      


3 4 1,112.45$           3 333.48$         5 26 13,979.15$            537.66$      
0 0 0 1 6 4,028.08$              671.35$      


40 58 57,416.12$        62 913.46$         201 393 327,691.29$         833.82$      
7 6 9,714.92$           4 1,596.25$      49 43 112,468.22$         2,615.54$   
3 8 8,104.00$           6 744.33$         28 20 16,426.00$            821.30$      


84 129 61,000.66$        113 509.42$         745 751 342,135.54$         455.57$      
1 1 912.00$              1 912.00$         12 13 6,028.12$              463.70$      
0 2 304.00$              2 164.00$         0 13 2,720.00$              209.23$      
1 0 0 1 2 106.00$                 53.00$         
0 2 152.00$              2 76.00$           0 3 262.00$                 87.33$         


80 205 119,939.34$      176 608.83$         342 1,111 684,645.87$         616.24$      
1 0 0 7 3 460.96$                 153.65$      


2,374 2,875 1,695,565.30$   2,679 571.10$         16,864 17,649 9,684,105.49$      548.71$      


Paper Voucher Sub-Total
TOTAL 2,374 2,875 $1,695,565.30 2,679 571.10$         16,864 17,649 9,684,105.49$      548.71$      


56,634.82$            


40,277.91$            


152.00$                 


4,466.00$              
57,564.81$            


912.00$                 


54,953.20$            
3,338.60$              


328.00$                 


MAINE COMMISSION ON INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES


Average
Amount


Vouchers
Paid


Amount Paid


Activity Report by Case Type


Jan-22


New
Cases


Average 
Amount


Vouchers 
Paid


 Cases 
Opened


Vouchers
 Submitted


442,885.75$          
21,891.18$            


27,912.15$            
360,102.26$          


7,440.00$              


$1,529,979.59


DefenderData Sub-Total


107,153.67$          


1/31/2022


Fiscal Year 2022


 Approved
Amount 


 Submitted
Amount 


DefenderData Case Type


Post Conviction Review


3,104.40$              


Appeal
Child Protection Petition
Drug Court


1,529,979.59$      


6,385.00$              


47,819.96$            
285,657.43$          


1,000.45$              


Probation Violation


Juvenile
Lawyer of the Day - Custody
Lawyer of the Day - Juvenile


Emancipation
Felony
Involuntary Civil Commitment


Petition, Release or Discharge
Petition,Termination of Parental Rights


Represent Witness on 5th Amendment


Lawyer of the Day - Walk-in
Misdemeanor
Petition, Modified Release Treatment


Review of Child Protection Order
Revocation of Administrative Release


Resource Counsel Criminal
Resource Counsel Juvenile
Resource Counsel Protective Custody


Probate







1 3 722.00$                         3 1,420.33$     41 42 22,426.70$                   $533.97
0 2 1,399.50$                      1 734.49$        7 11 5,367.20$                     $487.93


28 48 36,651.18$                   45 751.05$        277 388 260,040.37$                 $670.21
3 5 3,860.37$                      3 330.82$        21 43 29,084.98$                   $676.39


51 96 41,053.10$                   136 408.04$        359 649 248,666.83$                 $383.15
1 0 0 4 4 1,898.00$                     $474.50
0 0 0 0 2 1,532.00$                     $766.00


22 27 18,402.39$                   25 651.46$        110 157 97,093.08$                   $618.43
0 0 0 1 2 2,009.00$                     $1,004.50


52 84 55,196.51$                   73 654.64$        301 462 274,421.25$                 $593.99
9 22 10,627.90$                   17 598.40$        86 100 50,991.55$                   $509.92
4 12 7,076.00$                      6 294.67$        20 46 25,879.50$                   $562.60
5 26 17,240.00$                   28 680.96$        40 157 92,545.36$                   $589.46
0 1 592.00$                         1 592.00$        3 3 2,636.00$                     $878.67
8 23 15,194.70$                   21 648.04$        32 77 45,734.50$                   $593.95
0 1 2,676.00$                      0 1 1 474.00$                        $474.00


18 45 42,208.27$                   31 821.54$        94 207 172,327.51$                 $832.50
0 1 700.00$                         0 1 0


14 17 16,672.08$                   14 1,047.72$     54 74 51,168.10$                   $691.46
0 0 0 0 1 212.00$                        $212.00
1 19 13,828.62$                   19 661.30$        40 89 62,067.87$                   $697.39
8 15 14,907.60$                   21 1,024.38$     50 113 86,827.15$                   $768.38
5 5 8,577.00$                      5 1,715.40$     7 7 10,091.00$                   $1,441.57


70 139 83,603.03$                   103 643.19$        390 577 335,146.28$                 $580.84
11 14 5,859.90$                      14 403.39$        70 100 44,664.25$                   $446.64
5 9 4,010.00$                      6 464.00$        18 31 34,673.62$                   $1,118.50
0 0 0 1 1 896.00$                        $896.00
1 2 602.00$                         0 7 5 1,859.60$                     $371.92
4 9 2,934.80$                      7 272.00$        27 49 13,857.76$                   $282.81


12 23 11,484.75$                   30 411.30$        80 143 61,295.06$                   $428.64
72 98 75,987.34$                   98 603.24$        490 675 418,890.92$                 $620.58
0 3 1,456.00$                      5 613.60$        26 32 13,978.00$                   $436.81


13 23 16,065.50$                   22 629.70$        74 109 57,486.59$                   $527.40
7 18 12,364.45$                   16 767.40$        91 121 73,611.91$                   $608.36
3 5 2,828.94$                      1 268.00$        12 5 1,812.56$                     $362.51


12 36 25,515.40$                   36 1,105.48$     73 147 126,017.89$                 $857.26
35 38 21,573.05$                   51 526.41$        182 314 185,307.75$                 $590.15
0 1 408.00$                         1 408.00$        5 8 28,691.96$                   $3,586.50


12 24 16,522.00$                   27 1,134.76$     80 140 132,272.31$                 $944.80
0 0 0 0 3 884.00$                        $294.67


23 40 29,972.00$                   39 706.40$        134 204 146,867.99$                 $719.94
8 9 12,089.99$                   12 1,565.45$     67 73 121,679.43$                 $1,666.84


268 313 166,811.19$                 282 540.96$        2,146 1,851 981,175.60$                 $530.08
150 104 53,309.81$                   101 491.37$        922 811 408,503.96$                 $503.70
126 137 61,951.64$                   131 520.63$        1,161 958 525,345.89$                 $548.38
188 115 74,825.97$                   99 543.42$        1,215 990 515,682.81$                 $520.89
388 387 183,255.27$                 353 473.68$        1,903 1,731 802,992.53$                 $463.89
31 24 7,807.90$                      23 342.26$        242 187 76,333.82$                   $408.20
43 66 28,118.52$                   66 395.80$        391 370 166,301.78$                 $449.46


PISCD 18 25 15,726.95$                   27 533.17$        97 96 59,519.30$                   $619.99
51 57 36,417.60$                   58 579.75$        341 308 164,189.78$                 $533.08
34 44 24,245.12$                   44 609.49$        183 199 123,155.26$                 $618.87
44 42 15,979.20$                   37 273.73$        241 246 95,029.45$                   $386.30


303 325 187,369.73$                 271 611.99$        2,666 2,465 1,374,980.63$             $557.80
40 67 27,306.68$                   64 540.64$        448 471 218,611.23$                 $464.14
56 67 29,862.58$                   54 490.38$        441 521 230,095.15$                 $441.64
38 56 91,405.03$                   51 606.06$        477 390 231,498.48$                 $593.59
28 21 8,687.45$                      17 388.62$        246 202 104,840.99$                 $519.01
25 48 33,664.89$                   55 587.43$        169 275 161,093.77$                 $585.80
13 18 7,430.25$                      16 418.38$        99 99 43,047.28$                   $434.82
10 8 4,649.55$                      8 638.19$        40 54 28,893.33$                   $535.06
0 0 0 2 0
2 8 5,877.60$                      5 437.52$        58 53 29,426.62$                   $555.22


2,374 2,875 1,695,565.30$              2,679 571.10$        16,864 17,649 $9,684,105.49 $548.71


25,467.67$           


21,512.00$           
8,577.00$             


66,249.08$           


14,668.04$           


12,564.62$           


1,904.00$             
12,338.90$           


5,647.40$             
2,784.00$             


7,872.00$             


3,068.00$             
13,853.50$           


30,638.55$           


12,278.45$           
268.00$                


39,797.21$           


27,549.76$           


26,847.05$           


30,908.92$           


26,817.72$           
10,128.10$           


165,850.54$         


26,122.64$           
14,395.57$           
33,625.60$           


33,797.33$           


1,529,979.59$     


5,105.55$             


2,187.60$             


6,606.60$             
32,308.90$           


6,694.00$             


34,601.04$           
26,480.32$           


 Average
Amount 


AUGSC


Amount Paid


19,067.00$           
592.00$                


13,608.80$           


47,788.63$           


59,117.65$           


 Average
Amount 


10,172.78$           
1,768.00$             


16,286.58$           


992.45$                
55,492.80$           


4,261.00$             
734.49$                


53,798.17$           
167,209.30$         


152,550.07$         
49,628.21$           
68,202.61$           


18,785.39$           


408.00$                


Fiscal Year 2022
New
Cases


Jan-22


BANDC


MAINE COMMISSION ON INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES


Activity Report by Court
1/31/2022


 Cases 
Opened


Vouchers 
Paid


Approved
Amount


Vouchers
Paid


Submitted
Amount


AUBSC


CARSC


BRIDC


AUGDC


Vouchers
 Submitted


Court


ALFSC


MACSC


ELLDC


BELSC
BIDDC


BANSC
BATSC
BELDC


CALDC


DOVSC


CARDC


Law Ct


ROCDC


SPRDC


SKODC
SKOSC


PORDC


RUMDC


PORSC
PREDC


SOUSC


YORCD


MILDC
MADDC


HOUSC


LINDC


SOUDC


ROCSC


NEWDC


MACDC


LEWDC


ELLSC


DOVDC


FARSC
FARDC


HOUDC
FORDC


SAGCD


WASCD


HANCD


AROCD


KNOCD


ANDCD
KENCD


WALCD


CUMCD


PENCD


TOTAL
YORDC


WISDC
WISSC


SOMCD


FRACD


WESDC


OXFCD


WATDC
LINCD





		All Other Report 013122

		AO

		DefenderData

		non attorney

		all other expenses



		Personal Services Report 013122

		010-95F

		Payroll



		OSR personal services revenue 013122

		OSR Rev

		OSR Rev (2)



		Revenue Fund Report 013122

		Revenue 

		REVENUE



		Conference account 013122

		014



		ARA 013122

		014



		Activity Report by Case Type Jan 2022

		Sheet1



		Activity Report by Court Jan 2022

		Sheet1








INITIATIVES TO IMPROVE INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES 


TO: COMMISSION 


FROM: JUSTIN W. ANDRUS, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 


SUBJECT: INITIATIVES TO IMPROVE INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES 


DATE: 2/25/2022 


CC:  


We have been invited to appear before the Judiciary Committee on Tuesday, March 1, 2022, to 
discuss ways in which the Legislature might support improvements to the provision of indigent 
legal services in Maine.  I anticipate that in that session we will revisit existing initiatives, including 
the outstanding requests for a public defense office in Kennebec County and the Appellate 
Defender office.  I also anticipate revisiting funding overall, with an eye toward achieving parity 
with the prosecution function.   


Several legislators have also asked for additional discrete ideas for things that will improve 
services.  To that end, staff have identified three areas in which we believe the most improvement 
can be made through discrete investments. They are laid out below: 


 


1. Flying Squad 


Although MCILS has been able to staff all of the cases that have come before it, we continue to 
struggle to do so at times, and remain at risk of failing to do so if we unexpectedly lose members 
of our community.  In addition, we have been invited by the Judiciary to consider whether there 
are ways we can contribute to reducing the backlog of cases, especially by promoting efficiency of 
attorney staffing and by avoiding the need for an excessive number of continuances. 


To that end, staff believes that the most efficient solution to both problems lies in hiring a set of 
paid defenders to work as MCILS staff attorneys.  These defenders would work from a central 
office – presumably attached to the MCILS office in Augusta – but would be able to travel to courts 
where services were needed.  The ability to dispatch these defenders to those courts would allow 
us to insure against the risk that we lose the ability to staff cases as contractor participation declines.   


We have begun a dialogue with the Judicial Branch around the idea that these staff attorneys could 
be block-scheduled in the courts they serve to promote efficiency in their work, travel, and 
accommodations.   
  







2 
 


We believe that the greatest efficiency in trialing a program built around this type of paid defender 
would be found with five attorneys.  This would permit two teams of two to be in the field, with 
one in the office at any given time.  The teams could vary from time to time. Fewer people would 
not make the most efficient use of the development time necessary to implement the program.  More 
people could use the same development, but not necessary add immediate value to the system 
during the spin-up period.  


We would recommend that at least one of these defenders be equivalent to an elected District 
Attorney, and that the other four would be equivalent to Assistant District Attorneys.  Extensive 
detail about costs and caseloads is set out in the spreadsheet we are delivering with the Commission 
Packet this month.   


The table set out below shows the proposed salaries for each position, together with the gross costs 
for benefits and ancillary costs: 


 


   Salary    Gross Cost  
District Defender     $     103,919.00     $ 182,919.00  
Assistant Public Defender I   $       67,167.00    $ 137,183.00  
Assistant Public Defender I   $       67,167.00    $ 137,183.00  
Assistant Public Defender I   $       67,167.00    $ 137,183.00  
Assistant Public Defender I   $       67,167.00    $ 137,183.00  


 Total Year One   $ 731,651.00  


   Total Year Two    $ 743,547.00  


These costs do not include the travel or lodging costs.  Based on an expected in-the-field utilization 
rate of 50%, and state per diem caps on lodging we estimate an additional $100,000 for those 
expenses. 


 
  







3 
 


2. Training Budget 


MCILS has hired its Training Director and Counsel, and they have begun developing and offering 
a renewed training curriculum.  Parity with the prosecution requires that MCILS be able to provide 
training to its attorneys at no cost to those attorneys (though even then those attorneys will not be 
paid for the time spent training, while prosecutors are).  MCILS requires the budget to conduct 
those trainings.   


At this time, MCILS has approximately $16,000 in its non-lapsing “conference account.”  That 
money is earmarked for training costs but is not adequate to provide much training.  Other recent 
private defense bar trainings incurred costs of approximately $25,000 to provide space and food 
for a two-day training.  That cost does not include any payments to training faculty. 


MCILS would like to evolve its training regime to include five two-day trainings yearly, as a first 
step.  We would expect to have approximately twice the attendance as at the private training 
because the MCILS training would be free to participants and because we would draw from a larger 
bar.  For that reason, we anticipate that we would need $250,000 to host those trainings.   


In addition, we would require the ability to pay faculty, especially those coming from out of state. 
If we held the faculty cost to $10,000 per training, we would require an additional $50,000. 


 
 


3. Contracts 


Over the last six months, MCILS has explored options for providing appropriate support and 
education to attorneys in appellate matters and about diversion and mitigation. In addition, we have 
evaluated options for developing paths to entry for new counsel, and for ensuring that current 
counsel are properly supported in the field.  Staff proposes to enter into contracts with MCILS 
eligible counsel to provide these services through a hybrid of direct billing on specific cases, and 
contract payments for unbillable services.   


We propose to start with four contracts. One each specific to appellate work; diversion and 
mitigation; development of new counsel in child protective cases; and field supervision and 
support.  Under each contract counsel would engage in some work that would be specific to an 
individual case.  For that work, counsel would simply be assigned to the case on a limited basis and 
would bill through the MCILS case management system for those services.  Each contractor would 
also spend a portion of time engaged in research, program development, and direct training of other 
lawyers. That time would be compensated at a contracted rate.  Each contract would require all 
time that could properly be billed to a specific case to be so billed.   


MCILS anticipates that the contracted work would be in line with the existing contract for our 
immigration specialist.  That contract calls for an annual payment to that specialist of $60,000.  
Staff thus suggest an appropriation of $240,000 to support these contracts.  








MCILS Table of Contents 


I. Statutory Changes: 
a. System Structure 
b. Definitions 
c. Investigative Authority 
d. Confidentiality Expansion 
e. Nature of Relationships 
f. Agency Response to Rules Noncompliance 
g. Indigency Guidelines 


II. Rule Changes: 
a. Systemic Changes 
b. Attorney Qualification/Eligibility Rules 
c. Financial Reporting Framework/Billing Requirements 
d. Pay Rate and Rules 
e. Investigative Rules 
f. Agency Response to Rules Noncompliance 
g. Indigency Guidelines 


III. Training & Supervision Division:  
a. Structure of Indigent Defense System 


i. Criminal 
ii. Child Protective 


iii. Probate  
b. Assignment of Counsel 


i. Criminal 
ii. Child Protective 


iii. Probate 
c. Attorney Qualification 


i. Panels 
ii. Certification & Recertification 


iii. Annual Renewal 
d. Training  


i. Minimum Standards Trainings 
ii. Trial Bootcamp 


iii. Annual Conference  
iv. Periodic Trainings  


e. Standards of Practice 
i. General 


ii. Criminal  
iii. Juvenile  
iv. Child Protective 
v. Probate 


f. Supervision & Compliance 
 







IV. Audit Division:  
a. Audit Program 


i. Generally 
ii. Records Retention Infrastructure 


iii. Audit Rollout 
iv. Analytical Procedures Development 


b. Non-Counsel Vendor Program 
i. Timeline 


ii. Nature of Relationships 
iii. Funds Requests and Approvals 
iv. Invoicing and Approvals 
v. Record-Keeping Practices 


c. Assigned Counsel Education 
i. Timeline 


ii. Law Firm Tax CLE 
iii. Content Types 
iv. Approach 
v. Topics 


vi. Infrastructure 
vii. Accessibility 


d. Benefits to Assigned Counsel 
i. Student loan Repayment Program 


ii. Administered Group Health Insurance 
iii. Administered Group Benefits 
iv. Retirement 
v. Voluntary Business Performance Audits 


e. Audit Team Education 
i. Requirement 


ii. Topics 
iii. Forms of Training 
iv. Tracking 


f. High Daily Hour Alerts 
i. Timeline 


ii. Email Handling 
iii. Results for Not Replying 


g. Financial Reporting Framework / Billing Requirements 
i. Timing 


ii. Requirements 
iii. Rule-Making Process 
iv. Publishing 
v. Implementation 


h. Vouchers  
i. Operations 







ii. Reconsideration Process 
iii. Automation 


i. Site Redesign and Administration 
i. Projects 


ii. Redesign 
iii. Administration 


V.  


 


 


 


  







I. Statutory Changes 


a. System Structure 
i. Brand Change: Office of Public Defense (OPD) 


1. MCILS brand should change to the Office of Public Defense to better align 
with the anticipated changes to the agency including the incorporation of 
various public defender offices and the change in the relationship between the 
agency and indigent persons who receive its services. 


ii. Defense Counsel Structure 
1. Personnel 


a. Administrative Authority to: 
i. Establish public defender office; 


ii. Employ staff defense counsel and define counsel roles as 
necessary; 


iii. Employ public defender office staff as necessary; 
iv. Allocate employed and contract / assigned counsel according to 


operational need across geographic and practice areas; 
v. Establish  


2. Contract Counsel Payment 
a. OPD Ability to: 


i. Establish contract / assigned counsel payment rules and 
requirements; 


ii. Establish rules regarding contract / assigned counsel payment 
during OPD investigations regarding counsel; 


iii. Establish billing and invoicing standards for contract / assigned 
counsel 


3. Biennial Budget 
a. Sufficient headcount funds to staff public defender offices at sufficient 


levels  
iii. Appointments 


1. Establish clear authority to  
a. appoint counsel in any and all indigent cases; 
b. vacate any appointment; 


2. Changes to Court Appointment Process 
a. The proposed changes to the appointment process outlined below will 


require statute changes limiting the court’s ability to appoint counsel   
iv. Statute Structure 


1. Commission Responsibilities § 1804  
a. Separate Standards, Duties, and Powers into separate individual 


sections possibly further by subject matter; 
b. Redefine statute to accurately describe the responsibilities of the 9 


member commission rather than the agency’s responsibilities and 
powers generally; 







2. Renumber §1805-A so statutes are numerically consistent §1807 or similar 
b. Definitions 


i. Generally 
1. Move all definitions to §1802 


a. Definitions from §1806 
i. Individual Client Information 


ii. Personal Contact Information 
iii. Request for Funds for Expert or Investigative Assistance 
iv. Case Information 


2. Simplify existing definitions 
a. Remove unnecessary semantic differences 


i. Assigned Counsel 
ii. Appellate Counsel 


iii. Contract Counsel 
b. Simplify redundant or unnecessary language 


ii. Redefine 
1. Individual Client Information 


a. Make definition more accessible  
b. Expand concept of which information is client information to include 


any identifiable information 
2. Personal Contact Information 
3. Request for Funds for Expert or Investigative Assistance 


a. Simply on Redefinition (Non-Counsel Vendor Funds Request or 
similar) 


4. Case Information 
a. Expand the definition to more accurately reflect the case information 


received and maintained by the OPD 
b. Clarify that only applies to de-identified data 
c. Remove Docket Number 


iii. Add Definitions for  
1. Public Defenders 
2. Supervisors 
3. Employed Counsel 
4. “Flying Squad”  
5. Public Defender Office Staff 


c. Investigative Ability / Authority 
i. Redefine nature and extent of audit / investigative authority 


d. Confidentiality Expansion 
i. Privilege Protection 


1. Provide continuing attorney-client privilege protection to information 
communicated or provided to OPD administrative staff 


ii. Confidentiality Statute §1806 Update 







1. Clarity regarding the extent of confidentiality not only applicable to FOAA, 
but consistent with RPC 1.6 secret keeping requirements. 


e. Nature of Relationships 
i. Clients 


1. Create new statute redefining relationship between OPD and indigent persons 
receiving OPD services 


ii. Attorneys 
1. Create a new statute redefining the relationship between OPD and counsel 


a. Appointed / Assigned Counsel 
i. Contracts 


ii. Agreement to comply with rules as established by OPD 
according to its rule making authority 


iii.  
b. Employed Counsel / Public Defenders 


i. Establish relationship between OPD and employed counsel 
through State of Maine HR policies 


iii. Non-Counsel Vendors 
1. Rules regarding compensation scheme for non-counsel vendors 


iv. Judicial Branch 
1. Redefine interaction with Judicial Branch 


a. Exchange of Information 
b. Change reporting requirements 


f. Agency Response to Rules Noncompliance 
i. OPD to establish rules regarding:  


1. Attorney non-compliance with investigations; 
2. Non-payment or payment freezes; 


a. During investigations; 
b. Upon suspected fraudulent billing; 
c. Non-compliance with investigations or audits; 


ii. OPD ability to file suit against contract / assigned counsel to: 
1. Recoup overpayments whether due to fraud or error 
2. Compel production of evidence  


g. Indigency Guidelines 
i. Responsible Agency Designation 


1. Redefine agency responsibility for  
a. indigency determinations 
b. eligibility criteria establishment 
c. funds collection from indigent defendants 


ii. Eligibility Criteria 
iii. Collections 


 


 







II. Rule Changes 


h. Systemic Changes 
i. Numbering Scheme 


1. Redefine numbering scheme to make it more logical and consistent  
2. Renumber existing rules as necessary to accommodate rule changes and 


additions 
ii. Structure 


1. Reorganize and Rename rules as necessary and appropriate to accommodate 
new rule changes and additions 


2. Change spacing between rules and order rules in logical progression 
iii. Appointments 


i. Attorney Qualification/Eligibility Rules 
i. Attorney qualifications and eligibility rules will be established by the Training and 


Supervisions Division. The concept is listed here to signal that attorney qualifications 
and eligibility requirements will be established or revised by formal rule. The 
anticipated rules are described further below. Including changes in methods for 
rostering / certification. 


j. Financial Reporting Framework/Billing Requirements 
i. The financial reporting framework / billing requirements are outlined in the Audit 


Division section as the Audit Division will develop and establish the framework. 
However, it is listed here to indicate that the framework will be incorporated by rule. 
The financial reporting framework is outlined further below.  


k. Pay Rate and Rules 
i. Generally 


1. Billing rules will be substantially established by the financial reporting 
framework which will define billing requirements for contract / assigned 
counsel. However, the financial reporting framework will primarily address 
how to bill rather than what is billable / payable.  


2. Therefore, OPD / MCILS will use separate rules to establish payment rates 
and rules.  


ii. Payment for all Work Performed 
1. Clarify OPD / MCILS will pay counsel for all work actually performed in 


providing indigent defense services to OPD / MCILS clients.  
2. Clarify that contract counsel are encouraged to seek payment for all the work 


they perform for indigent defendants. 
a. (Note: the financial reporting framework is anticipated to require 


contract counsel to record and report all work performed.) 
iii. Duty LOD  


1. Independent minimum fee schedule based on work 
a. Interim before arranging permanent dedicated services  


2. Permanent / Dedicated Services 
a. RFP fees and structure 







b. Full time employee costs 
iv. Expense Reimbursement Rules 


1. Clarify what is reimbursable 
a. Blacklist and Whitelist reimbursable expenses 
b. Create discretion for reimbursing expenses that fall within the 


unestablished Graylist 
2. Establish what expenses require pre-authorization before incurring expenses 


with the expectation that they be paid 
a. i.e. items purchased for client, expensive purchases of goods above a 


threshold amount,  
v. Non-Counsel Vendor Funds 


1. Establish non-counsel vendor rates 
2. Funds request and approval process to be changed by Audit Division staff 


vi. Paralegal Funds 
l. Investigative Rules 


i. Cooperation Requirements 
1. Clarify language regarding attorney cooperation from Chapter 2 
2. Remove or alter language regarding fitness to remain on the roster to include 


non-compliance with financial reporting framework, investigations, audits, or 
performance evals.  


ii. Response Timeliness 
1. Direct Inquiries 
2. Automated Alerts and Inquiries 


m. Agency Response to Rules Noncompliance 
i. Graduated Sanctions 


1. Payment Freeze 
2. Suspension 


a. Administrative 
b. Temporary 
c. Permanent 


3. Repayment for Overpayment 
4. Other 


ii. Discretion 
1. Discretion belongs exclusively to the Executive Director or comparable 


position upon rebranding 
2. Recommendations made by staff 


iii. Delegation 
1. Imposition of Sanctions may not be delegated to OPD administrative staff 


n. Indigency Guidelines 


To the extent that indigency determinations and screening remains the OPD / MCILS 
responsibility: 


 







i. Definitions 
1. Simplify Definitions to improve clarity 
2. Reconsider appropriateness of definitions given anticipated rule changes 
3. Income 


a. Adjust to remove any means-tested benefits  
4. Cash Assets 
5. Other Assets 
6. Necessary Monthly Expenses 


a. Redefine debts to include all debts 
ii. Eligibility Criteria 


1. Reconsider appropriate income and asset levels for indigency determination 
a. Cash Assets 
b. Relevant of federal poverty guidelines 
c. Cost of living increases 
d. Inflation 


2. Reconsider partial indigency 
a. Appropriateness of partial indigency determinations in general 


3. Presumption of Indigency 
iii. Determinations and Screening 


1. Personnel  
a. Who physically conducts the screenings and makes the indigency 


determinations 
2. Timing 


a. When screening happens 
b. When appointments are made following screening 


3. Substance 
a. How are people determined to be indigent based on the eligibility 


criteria 
iv. Collections 


1. Reconsider extent to which MCILS should be engaged in collecting funds 
from indigent people constitutionally entitled to counsel; 


2. Reconsider extent to which cash bail is offset against the cost of providing 
indigent people with constitutionally required counsel; 


 


 


 


  







III. Training and Supervision Division 
 


Structure of Indigent Defense System 
Criminal: 


1. Appellate Level: the structure for the appellate indigent criminal defense system will be 
comprised of appellate defender offices, which will handle all criminal appeals, except in 
the case of a conflict of interest. If there is a conflict of interest, qualified assigned counsel 
will represent the defendant.  
 


2. Trial Level: the structure for the trial level indigent criminal defense system will be 
comprised of both public defender offices and contracted assigned counsel. The public 
defender offices are expected to represent approximately 20% of indigent defendants 
throughout the state. Assigned counsel will represent the other 80% of indigent defendants. 
 


a. Public Defender System 
i. Appellate Defender Office 


ii. Trial Level Defender Office 
iii. Attorney Staff:  


1. District Public Defenders 
a. Serve in a supervisory capacity. Supervise deputy and 


assistant public defenders.  
b. Supervise the office manager and indirectly supervise all 


PD office staff. 
c. Do not maintain a caseload, but a significant portion of 


their work is dedicated to serving as co-counsel for deputy 
and assistant public defenders.  


d. Experienced criminal defense attorneys who are fully 
certified in all MCILS criminal panels.  


e. Report to MCILS.   
f. Representatives for the defense at meetings with the 


judiciary, prosecutors, and other interested parties.  
2. Deputy Public Defenders 


a. Assist the district public defender in supervisory duties.  
b. Supervise a maximum of 10 assistant public defenders. 


3. Assistant Public Defenders 
a. Represent indigent criminal defendants under the 


supervision of deputy and district public defenders.  
iv. Support Staff:  


1. Office Manager 
a. Supervises support staff 
b. Deals with HR and administrative tasks for office 


2. Secretaries 
a. Administrative work. Answers phones, prepares form client 


letters for attorneys, schedules client appointments, etc.  







3. Paralegals 
a. Assists public defenders in: 


i. Legal research 
ii. Drafting motions, orders, and correspondence 


iii. Preparing sentencing memoranda 
iv. Trial preparation.  


4. Investigators 
a. Trial level defender offices only  


5. Mitigation Specialists  
a. Trial level defender offices only  
b. Assists in gathering mitigating information, collecting letters 


in support of clients, preparing sentencing memoranda, and 
coordinating witnesses for sentencing hearings.  


c. Keeps track of all clients who have been ordered to undergo 
IST or NGRI evaluations. Assists in connecting clients with 
evaluators. Stays current on the status of all such cases and 
evaluations, including and MH docket clients.  


d. Helps connect clients with services needed for reentry into 
society (e.g. health insurance, halfway houses, treatment 
providers, housing, and employment).  


e. Maintains a database of all relevant treatment providers and 
other services which support clients in reentry.  
 


b. Assigned Counsel System 
i. District Supervisors 


1. Supervises all assigned counsel supervisors. 
2. Representative for the defense at meetings with the judiciary, 


prosecutors, and other interested parties.  
3. Are state employees. 
4. Reports to MCILS. 


ii. Assigned Counsel Supervisors 
1. Supervises a maximum of 10 assigned counsel attorneys who 


primarily practice criminal law. 
2. Are state employees. 
3. Cannot maintain an independent caseload (retained or appointed). 


iii. Assigned Counsel 
1. Represents indigent defendants in trial level cases. 
2. Assigned to cases by MCILS. 
3. Contractors, not employees, paid hourly. 


iv. Contractors 
1. Investigators  
2. Mitigation Specialists  


 







Child Protective: 


1. Appellate Level: the structure for the appellate child protective defense system will be 
comprised of an appellate defender office, which will handle all child protective appeals, 
except in the case of a conflict of interest. If there is a conflict of interest, qualified assigned 
counsel will represent the defendant.  
 


2. Trial Level: The structure for the trial level indigent child protective defense system will 
be comprised of both public defender offices and contracted assigned counsel. The public 
defender offices are expected to represent approximately 20% of indigent defendants 
throughout the state. Assigned counsel will represent the other 80% of indigent defendants. 


 
a. Public Defender System 


i. Appellate Defender Office 
ii. Trial Level Defender Office 


iii. Attorney Staff:  
1. District Public Defenders 


a. Serve in a supervisory capacity. Supervise all deputy and 
assistant public defenders and PD office support staff in 
that region. 


b. Do not maintain caseloads, but a significant portion of the 
district public defender’s work is dedicated to serving as 
co-counsel for deputy and assistant public defenders.  


c. Are experienced PC attorneys who are fully certified in the 
PC panel.  


d. Report to MCILS.   
e. Representatives for the parents’ bar at meetings with the 


judiciary, prosecutors, and other interested parties.  
2. Deputy Public Defenders 


a. Assist the district public defender in supervisory duties.  
b. Supervise up to 5 assistant public defenders.  


3. Assistant Public Defenders 
a. Represent criminal indigent parents in PC cases under the 


supervision of deputy and district public defenders.  
iv. Support Staff:  


1. Office Manager 
a. Supervises support staff. 
b. Deals with HR and administrative tasks for office 


2. Secretaries 
a. Administrative work. Answers phones, prepares form client 


letters for attorneys, schedules client appointments, etc.  
3. Paralegals  


a. Assist public defenders in: 







i. Legal research 
ii. Drafting motions, orders, and correspondence 


iii. Preparing sentencing memoranda 
iv. Trial preparation.  


4. Parent Advocates  
a. Maintain regular contact with clients to help them stay on 


track with their obligations pursuant to reunification plans. 
This can include assisting clients with arranging 
transportation, scheduling appointments, appointment 
reminders, court date and FTM reminders, and other related 
services.  


b. Maintain regular contact with GAL and DHHS caseworker 
to get updates on the case, relays this information to attorney.  


c. Helps connect clients with services to support reunification 
(e.g. health insurance, treatment providers, housing, 
employment, parenting classes).  


d. Maintains an up-to-date database of all the relevant 
treatment providers and other services which benefit parents. 
 


b. Assigned Counsel System 
i. Assigned Counsel 


1. Contractors, not employees. 
2. Attorneys are assigned to cases by MCILS. 


ii. Assigned Counsel Supervisors 
1. Supervise a maximum of 5 assigned counsel attorneys who 


primarily represent parents in PC cases. 
2. Are state employees. 
3. Cannot maintain an independent caseload (retained or appointed). 


 


Probate:  


1. Assigned Counsel (100%)  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







Assignment of Counsel: 


Criminal: 


1. Screening:  
a. Defendants to be screened for eligibility by an employee of the judiciary (not 


MCILS)  
 


2. Appointments by a Court:  
a. If a court determines that a defendant is eligible for counsel, the court will appoint 


unnamed counsel, and forward that appointment to MCILS the same day of the 
appointment.  
 


b. MCILS will then assign counsel. MCILS will distribute approximately 20% of the 
appointments to the Public Defender Office. The remaining cases will be 
distributed to assigned counsel by MCILS based on eligibility.  


i. Public Defender System  
1. Once MCILS assigns a case to the Public Defender Office, the 


Public Defender Office will be responsible for assigning the case to 
an assistant or deputy public defender.  


2. If the PD office has a conflict of interest and cannot represent the 
client, the PD office will immediately notify MCILS. MCILS will 
then assign the case to an assigned attorney.  


ii. Assigned Counsel System   
1. Cases will be distributed by MCILS directly to counsel.  
2. If counsel has a conflict, they will immediately notify MCILS and 


MCILS will assign the case either to the PD office or to another 
assigned counsel.  
 


3. Internal Assignments:  
a. MCILS will retain its authority to assign counsel to a case, regardless of whether a 


court appoints counsel to a case. This will most frequently, though not exclusively, 
occur through the Duty LOD Program. MCILS will assign counsel in accordance 
with the assignment procedures outlined above.  
 


b. Internal assignment process: 
i. Client requests counsel from Duty LOD; 


ii. Duty LOD finds eligible counsel who agrees to represent client; 
iii. Duty LOD notifies MCILS; 
iv. MCILS provides Duty LOD with conditional assignment of counsel form; 
v. Duty LOD obtains signatures of counsel to be assigned and client on the 


assignment of counsel form;  
vi. Duty LOD returns executed assignment of counsel form to MCILS;  


vii. Assigned counsel enters an appearance with the appropriate court(s); and 







viii. Client will be screened by financial screener at their initial appearance, or 
within 60 days of the internal assignment if there is no future initial 
appearance scheduled.  
 


Child Protective:  


1. Screening:  
a. Individuals to be screened for eligibility by an employee of the judiciary (not 


MCILS) 
 


2. Appointments by a Court:  
a. If a court determines that a defendant is eligible for counsel, the court will appoint 


unnamed counsel, and forward that appointment to MCILS the same day of the 
appointment.  
 


b. MCILS will then assign counsel. MCILS will distribute approximately 20% of the 
appointments to the Public Defender Office. The remaining cases will be 
distributed by MCILS to assigned counsel based on eligibility.  


i. Public Defender System  
1. Once MCILS assigns a case to the public defender office, the 


public defender office will be responsible for assigning the case to 
a qualified assistant or deputy public defender.  


2. If the PD office has a conflict of interest and cannot represent the 
client, the PD office will immediately notify MCILS. MCILS will 
then assign the case to an assigned attorney.  


ii. Assigned Counsel System   
1. Cases will be distributed by MCILS directly to counsel.  
2. If counsel has a conflict, they will immediately notify MCILS and 


MCILS will assign the case either to the PD office or to another 
assigned counsel.  
 


3. Internal Assignments:  
a. MCILS will retain its authority to assign counsel to a case, regardless of whether a 


court appoints counsel to a case. This will happen in accordance with the 
assignment procedures outlined above.  
 


Probate:  


1. Screening:  
a. Individuals to be screened for eligibility by an employee of the judiciary (not 


MCILS)  


 







 


2. Appointments by a Court:  
a. If a court determines that a person is eligible for counsel, the court will appoint 


unnamed counsel, and forward that appointment to MCILS the same day of the 
appointment.  
 


b. MCILS will then assign counsel pursuant to the assigned counsel system: 
i.  Cases will be distributed by MCILS directly to counsel.  


ii. If counsel has a conflict, they will immediately notify MCILS and MCILS 
will assign the case to another assigned counsel.  
 


3. Internal Assignments:  
a. MCILS will retain its authority to assign counsel to a case, regardless of whether 


a court appoints counsel to a case. This will happen in accordance with the 
assignment procedures outlined above.  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







Attorney Qualification: 


1. Panels:  
a. Criminal:  


i. Misdemeanor 
ii. Felony  


iii. Sex Offense 
iv. Murder 
v. Post-Conviction Review 


vi. Appeals  
vii. Juvenile 


 
b. Child Protective 


 
c. Probate: 


i. Emancipation 
ii. Guardianship 


iii. Civil Commitment  
   


2. Certification: 
a. In General: 


i. All certification and recertification to be approved by MCILS staff.  
ii. Applications are required for provisional and full certification in each 


panel.  
iii. Applicant to submit a complete application package to MCILS. 


Incomplete applications will not be considered.  
iv. Certification, recertification, and participation in any or all panels or 


individual cases is at the Executive Director’s discretion.  
v. During a period of provisional certification for any panel, the attorney 


must meet with their supervising attorney a minimum of one time weekly.  
vi. Once an attorney is fully certified, they must meet with their supervising 


attorney a minimum of one time monthly.  
 


b. Waivers:  
i. No waivers of any requirement will be permitted for new applicants. 


ii. For existing rostered attorneys, a waiver of the provisional and/or full 
certification processes for any panel may be granted at the discretion of 
the Executive Director or their designee if: 


1. The attorney submits a written request using a designated waiver 
request form to MCILS@maine.gov on or before [deadline]; 


2. The attorney has been a licensed Maine attorney for a minimum of 
2 years;  


3. The attorney has conducted a minimum of 2 trials;  



mailto:MCILS@maine.gov





4. The Executive Director or their designee determines that the 
attorney has demonstrated sufficient competency to practice law in 
each panel for which a waiver is requested;  


5. Is currently a rostered attorney in good standing with MCILS; and 
6. Meets all additional panel-specific waiver criteria outlined herein: 


a. Misdemeanor:  
i. Is currently eligible for OUI and DV case 


assignments; and 
ii. Has tried a minimum of 2 criminal cases in the past 


5 years.  
b. Felony:  


i. Is currently eligible for serious violent felony (SVF) 
case assignments; and  


ii. Has tried a minimum of 2 criminal cases in the past 
5 years.  


c. Sex Offense:  
i. Is currently eligible to receive sex offense cases; 


and 
ii. Has tried a minimum of 1 felony sex offense case in 


the past 5 years. 
d. Murder: 


i. Has tried a minimum of 1 murder case in the past 5 
years. 


e. Post-Conviction Review: 
i. Is currently eligible to receive PCR case 


assignments; and 
ii. Has represented clients in a minimum of 3 post-


conviction review cases in the last 5 years.  
f. Appeals:  


i. Is currently eligible to receive appeals case 
assignments; and  


ii. Has represented clients in a minimum of 3 appeals 
in the last 5 years.  


1. If applying for a waiver to handle PC and 
criminal appeals, applicant must have 
represented clients in a minimum of 3 
appeals in the past 5 years for each case 
type.  


g. Juvenile:  
i. Is currently eligible to receive juvenile 


misdemeanor, felony, and sex offense case types; 
and  







ii. Has represented a minimum of 10 clients in juvenile 
proceedings from the beginning to the conclusion of 
the cases in the last 5 years.  


h. Child Protective: 
i. Is currently eligible to receive child protective case 


assignments; 
ii. Has conducted a minimum of 3 contested jeopardy 


hearings in the last 5 years; and 
iii. Has conducted a minimum of 3 contested 


termination of parental rights hearings in the last 5 
years.  


i. Probate:  
i. Emancipation, guardianship, civil commitment 


experience requirements?  
iii. Anyone granted a waiver of either or both the provisional and full 


certification processes will not be exempt from recertification processes.  
iv. Anyone granted a waiver of the provisional and/or full certification 


processes must complete the relevant minimum standards training(s) no 
later than their first recertification deadline. 


v. Waivers are not available to assistant public defenders.  
 


c. General Requirements: 
i. In addition to all panel-specific certifications outlined in (d) below, all 


applicants must satisfy the following requirements to be eligible for 
provisional or full certification for any panel: 
 


1. Licensed to Practice  
a. The attorney must be licensed to practice law in the State of 


Maine and be in good standing with the Maine Board of 
Overseers of the Bar.  


b. The attorney must promptly inform the Commission, in 
writing, of any complaint against the attorney filed with the 
Maine Board of Overseers of the Bar, or with the entity 
responsible for governing attorney conduct in any other 
jurisdiction. Failure to comply with this requirement is 
grounds for revoking the attorney’s MCILS certification.  


c. The attorney must inform the Commission, in writing, within 
5 calendar days of any criminal charge filed against the 
attorney in any jurisdiction and promptly inform the 
Commission of any disposition of such charge. Failure to 
comply with this requirement is grounds for revoking the 
attorney’s MCILS certification. 
 







 
2. Office, Telephone, and Electronic Mail 


a. The attorney must maintain an office or have the use of space 
that is reasonably accessible to clients and that permits the 
private discussion of confidential and other sensitive 
matters.  


b. The attorney must maintain a telephone number, which shall 
be staffed by personnel available for answering telephone 
calls or an answering service, an answering machine or 
voicemail capability that ensures client confidentiality.  


c. The attorney must maintain a confidential working e-mail 
account as a means of receiving information from and 
providing information to the Commission.  


d. The attorney must keep the Commission and the courts in 
which the attorney represents indigent clients apprised of the 
attorney’s work telephone number and postal and electronic 
mail addresses. The attorney must ensure that the courts have 
the ability to contact the attorney by mail and by telephone. 
 


3. Application 
a. The attorney must complete the application in its entirety. 
b. The attorney must swear to the accuracy of the application 


package. 
c. The attorney must certify that they have read, understood, 


and agree to be bound by the Commission Rules. 
d. The attorney must agree to fully cooperate with all 


Commission assessments, investigations, evaluations, 
audits, reviews, and requests for information.  
 


d. Panel-Specific Certification Requirements:  
i. Criminal: 


1. Misdemeanors: 
a. Provisional Certification:   


i. Complete criminal minimum standards training and 
meet all other current application requirements; and 


ii. Must have fully certified co-counsel for all 
substantive motions and first 3 trials. 


b. Full Certification:  
i. Minimum 12 months of practice under provisional 


certification; 
ii. Completed minimum 3 misdemeanor trials under 


provisional certification;  







iii. Recommendation of direct supervisor, certified in 
writing; and  


iv. Completed trial bootcamp.  
 


2. Felonies: 
a. Provisional Certification:   


i. Complete criminal minimum standards training and 
meet all other current application requirements; and 


ii. During provisional certification period, must have 
fully certified co-counsel for all substantive motions 
and first 5 felony trials. 


b. Full Certification:  
i. Must submit a writing sample from one of 


applicant’s cases which demonstrates zealous, 
effective, high-quality representation;  


ii. Minimum 1 year of practice under felony 
provisional certification; 


iii. Must be fully certified for misdemeanors;  
iv. Completed minimum 5 felony trials under felony 


provisional certification;  
v. Written recommendation of direct supervisor; and 


vi. Completed trial bootcamp.  
 


3. Sex Offenses: 
a. Provisional Certification:  


i. Complete criminal law and sex offense minimum 
standards trainings; 


ii. Meet all current application requirements; and 
iii. Must have fully certified co-counsel for all 


substantive motions for sex offense cases and on 
first 3 sex offense trials. 


b. Full Certification:  
i. Must submit a writing sample from one of 


applicant’s cases which demonstrates zealous, 
effective, high-quality representation;  


ii. Minimum 18 months of practice under sex offense 
provisional certification; 


iii. Completed minimum 3 sex offense trials under sex 
offense provisional certification;  


iv. Must be fully certified in felony panel;  
v. Letters of support from 3 Maine licensed attorneys; 


vi. Written recommendation of direct supervisor; and  
vii. Completed trial bootcamp.  







 
4. Murder: 


a. Provisional Certification:  
i. Complete murder minimum standards training; 
ii. Meet all current application requirements;  
iii. Must be fully certified in felony panel; and 
iv. Must have fully certified co-counsel for all 


substantive motions on murder cases and first 3 
murder trials. 


b. Full Certification:  
i. Must submit a writing sample from one of 


applicant’s cases which demonstrates zealous, 
effective, high-quality representation;  


ii. Minimum 2 years of practice under provisional 
certification; 


iii. Completed minimum of 3 murder trials under 
murder provisional certification;  


iv. Letters of support from 3 Maine licensed attorneys; 
v. Written recommendation of direct supervisor; and  
vi. Completed trial bootcamp. 


 
5.  Post-Conviction Review:  


a. Provisional Certification:  
i. Complete PCR minimum standards training; 
ii. Meet all current application requirements;  
iii. Must be fully certified in misdemeanors and 


felonies; and 
iv. Must have fully certified co-counsel for the first 3 


PCR cases. 
b. Full Certification:  


i. Requires application; 
ii. Must submit a writing sample from one of 


applicant’s PCR cases which demonstrates zealous, 
effective, high-quality representation;  


iii. Minimum 2 years of practice under provisional 
certification; 


iv. Completed minimum 3 PCR cases under 
provisional certification;  


v. Letters of support from 3 Maine licensed attorneys; 
and 


vi. Written recommendation of direct supervisor. 
 
 







6. Appeals:  
a. Provisional Certification: 


i. Complete appeals minimum standards training; 
ii. For PC appeals, must be fully certified for the 


PC panel; 
iii. For criminal appeals, must be fully certified in 


misdemeanor, felony, and sex offense panels; 
and 


iv. Must have fully certified co-counsel for first 3 
appeals.  


b. Full Certification:  
i. Completed a minimum of 3 appeals from 


initiation of the appeal through conclusion; 
1. If seeking certification for both PC and 


criminal appeals, applicant must have 
completed a minimum of 3 appeals from 
each case type;  


ii. Must submit a brief from one of applicant’s 
appellate cases which demonstrates zealous, 
effective, high-quality representation;  


iii. Minimum 2 years of practice under appeals 
provisional certification; 


iv. Letters of support from 3 Maine licensed 
attorneys; and 


v. Written recommendation of direct supervisor. 
 


7. Juvenile: 
a. Provisional Certification:  


i. Completed criminal and juvenile law minimum 
standards trainings;  


ii. Must meet all other current application 
requirements;  


iii. Must have fully certified co-counsel at all court 
appearances and client meetings until the attorney 
has represented at least 5 juvenile clients in cases 
from the beginning through the conclusion of those 
cases.  


b. Full Certification:  
i. Must have been provisionally certified for juvenile 


offenses for a minimum of 1 year; 
ii. Must have represented at least 10 juvenile 


defendants from the beginning through the 
conclusion of their cases;  







1. This must include at least 2 felony and 2 sex 
offense cases;  


iii. Written recommendation of direct supervisor; and 
iv. Completed trial bootcamp.  


 
ii. Child Protective:  


1. Provisional Certification:  
a. Complete PC minimum standards training and meet all 


other current application requirements to become 
provisionally certified;  


b. Must have fully certified co-counsel for the first 10 
contested hearings; and  


c. Must have fully certified co-counsel for the first 3 TPR 
hearings.  


2. Full Certification:  
a. Minimum 12 months of practice under provisional 


certification; 
b. Completed minimum of 10 contested hearings and 3 


contested TPR hearings under provisional certification; 
c. Written recommendation of direct supervisor; and  
d. Completed trial bootcamp. 


  
iii. Probate:  


1. Provisional Certification: 
a. Must complete the probate minimum standards training; 
b. Must meet all other current application requirements; and  
c. Must have fully certified co-counsel for all court 


appearances for the first 2 cases of each case type 
(emancipation, guardianship, civil commitment, and NCR).  


2. Full Certification:  
a. Minimum 1 year of practice under provisional probate 


certification; 
b. Completed a minimum of 2 cases of each case type for 


which the applicant is seeking case assignments;   
c. Written recommendation of direct supervisor; and 
d. Completed trial bootcamp.  


 
 
 
 
 
 
 







3. Recertification: 
a. Attorneys must recertify for each panel for which they have previously certified 


every 3 years. 
 


b. Will review prior 3 years’ evaluations. 
 


c. Must be recommended by direct supervisor to recertify. 
 


d. Must demonstrate competency, zealous advocacy. 
 


e. Provide a writing sample from a case the attorney handled within the past 3 years.  
 


f. Provide brief synopsis of all cases the attorney tried in the past 3 years.   
 


g. Must provide proof of completion of all required CLEs for each panel. 
 


4. Annual Renewal:  
a. Attorneys must continue to renew annually. 


 
b. Certification that they have completed all required CLEs, with proof (Board of 


Overseers printout, or other verification).  
 


c. Annual renewals will be due at the same time as annual evaluations.  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







Training: 


1. In General: 
a. Once an attorney is provisionally certified in any panel, they are to be paid for 


attending all CLEs which are required by the Commission. This includes attendance 
at minimum standards trainings required for certification in other panels, trial 
bootcamp, and the annual conference.  
 


2. Minimum Standards Trainings: 
a. Topics: 


i. Criminal Law 
1. Required for provisional certification in every criminal law panel.  
2. Satisfies the minimum standards training, in full, for the 


misdemeanor and felony panels 
ii. Sex Offense 


iii. Murder 
iv. Post-Conviction Review 
v. Appeal 


vi. Juvenile Law 
vii. Child Protective 


viii. Probate  
 


b. MSTs are required to become provisionally certified in any panel  
 


c. MCILS to offer each MST at least quarterly 
 


3. Trial Bootcamp: 
a. Week-long 


 
b. In-person 


 
c. Must be completed as a prerequisite to full certification for any trial panel 


 
d. Offered by MCILS at least bi-annually (October and April) 


 
4. CLE Requirements:   


a. CLEs throughout the year to satisfy MCILS annual CLE requirement 
 


b. Annual conference (during prosecutor’s conference) 
i. Suppression issues (for all criminal law, juvenile) 


ii. Attorney wellness 
iii. Case law updates 
iv. Legislative updates 







 
5. On-Demand Training Resources:  


a. Website where attorneys can go for on-demand training videos 
 


b. All MCILS-sponsored CLEs to be recorded to add there 
 


c. Brief bank, including template motions, orders, etc.  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







Standards of Practice: 


1. General: 
a. Mission statement  


 
b. Client relationships 


 
c. Zealous advocacy 


 
d. Professionalism standards 


 
e. Documentation standards 


 
f. Caseload limits  


i. Caseload limits will be established 
ii. The limits will be the same for public defenders and assigned counsel  


 
g. File retention guidelines 


 
h. defenderData guidelines 


 
i. Contemporaneous billing  


 
j. Mandatory use of standards forms:  


i. Client intake sheet 
ii. Client meeting checklist 


iii. Advice of rights letters 
iv. Opening letters 
v. Next court date letters 


vi. Closing letters 
 


2. Criminal   
 


3. Juvenile 
 


4. Child Protective 
 


5. Probate 
 


 


 


 







Supervision & Compliance: 


1. In General: 
a. This section applies to all supervisors, both in the public defender system and the 


assigned counsel system.  
 


b. At any given time, supervisors cannot supervise more than:  
i. Criminal: 10 supervisees. 


ii. Child Protective: 5 supervisees 
iii. Probate: 10 supervisees 


 
c. District public defenders and district supervisors will supervise fewer than 10 


attorneys who primarily practice criminal law and fewer than 5 attorneys who 
primarily represent parents in child protective cases to allow sufficient time to 
adequately supervise and to attend to administrative obligations. 
 


d. Supervisors cannot maintain an independent caseload. One of the primary 
responsibilities of supervisors is to serve as co-counsel in their supervisee 
attorneys’ cases. 


 
e. If a supervisor is unable to serve as co-counsel in a supervisee attorney’s case, the 


supervisor is responsible for finding qualified co-counsel for that case.  
 


2. Methods of Supervision: 
a. Direct observation 


i. Supervisors will perform in-court observation of all supervisees 
1. This is in addition to in-court observations the supervisor makes in 


cases in which the supervisor is serving as co-counsel  
ii. Supervisors will also observe supervisees in meetings with client when 


required for certification and whenever else deemed appropriate by the 
supervisor.  


iii. Supervisors will report to MCILS staff any violations of the standards of 
practice or Commission rules they observe of any MCILS certified 
attorney.  
 


b. Regular supervisor-supervisee meetings 
i. Supervisors must meet with supervisees who are provisionally certified for 


any panel at least one time weekly.  
ii. Supervisors must meet with supervisees who are fully certified in all 


panels for which they have applied a minimum of one time monthly.  
iii. During supervisor-supervisee meetings, at a minimum, the following 


issues must be addressed:  







1. A review of the supervisee’s files, including upcoming court 
appearances, plea negotiations, and motions; 


2. Whether the supervisee has qualified co-counsel in all cases where 
co-counsel is required by Commission rules, and in all other cases 
which the supervisor deems co-counsel appropriate;  


3. Supervisee’s trial preparation and strategy;  
4. Verification that the supervisee’s caseload is within the established 


caseload limits; and 
5. Supervisee attorneys must review with their supervisor all offers 


made in cases for which the supervisee is provisionally certified.  
 


c. Evaluations  
i. Supervisors will complete annual evaluations of supervisees on forms 


provided by MCILS 
1. Supervisors will then have a meeting with the supervisee to discuss 


the evaluation 
2. Evaluations are to be signed by both supervisor and supervisee, 


and then submitted to MCILS for review 
ii. Supervisees will complete an annual evaluation of their supervisor on a 


form provided by MCILS and submit it directly to MCILS for review.   
iii. MCILS review of evaluations: 


1. Supervisee scores poorly: 
a. Low score parameters will be established 
b. Scores within those parameters will lead to either an 


internal referral for training and supervision assessments or 
in extreme cases Executive Director investigations. 


c. Where appropriate remediation plans will be developed and 
implemented with the assistance of the appropriate 
supervisor. 


2. Supervisor scores poorly:  
a. Low score parameters will be established 
b. Scores within those parameters will lead to either an 


internal referral for training and supervision assessments or 
in extreme cases Executive Director investigations. 


c. Where appropriate remediation plans will be developed and 
implemented with the assistance of the District Defender or 
District Supervisor. 
 


d. Passive observation using automated processes 
i. This section will be applicable once the new case management system is 


operational   
ii. Automated case entry 







1. MEJIS will automatically open cases in the MCILS case 
management system 


2. MEJIS will automatically enter all pertinent case details into the 
case management system 


3. MEJIS will automatically enter all court appearances for each case 
in the case management system 


iii. Contemporaneous billing requirements 
1. All attorneys will be required to enter their time in the case 


management system contemporaneously. 
2. This will include activity-specific entries that allow MCILS to 


monitor how time is spent on individual cases. 
a. This information will be used, in part, to track compliance 


with practice standards and supervision requirements.  
3. Assigned counsel will submit time vouchers through the case 


management system. Public defenders will only enter their time, 
but not submit vouchers, in the case management system.  


iv. Prompts will be sent to attorneys and their supervisors for real time 
monitoring and correction of any deviation from standards of practice. 


v. Flagged events can be tracked and aggregated over time and analyzed as 
part of an attorney’s annual evaluation. 


vi. Data tracking will allow MCILS to assess where additional training and 
education opportunities might be needed. 


vii. Case management system will be used to enforce caseload limits.   
1. Attorneys will have access to both their point totals I the case 


management system. 
2. Case management system will automatically manage roster status 


for attorneys who meet or exceed caseload limits.  
 


e. Established complaint process 
i. Applicability: 


1. These procedures apply to complaints concerning any MCILS 
certified attorney, including but not limited to: 


a. Complaints that the attorney has failed to provide 
competent representation to a client to whom they are or 
were assigned. 


b. An allegation that the attorney has engaged in misconduct. 
c. An allegation that the attorney has failed to comply with 


performance standards, guidelines, policies, or Commission 
rules and the complaint relates to representation in an 
MCILS assigned case. 


ii. In General: 
1. All such complaints and allegations referenced in “Applicability” 


above, are hereafter referred to collectively as “complaints.” 







2. Notwithstanding these procedures, participation in any and all 
MCILS panels or cases is at the discretion of the Executive Director. 


3. As used in this procedure, the term “Executive Director” includes 
any designee of the Executive Director, except as prohibited by law, 
or MCILS rule or policy.  


4. “Attorney” as used herein references an MCILS certified attorney 
who is the subject of a complaint assessment or investigation. 


5. Any activity taken by MCILS Training and Supervision staff in 
response to a complaint will be referred to as an “assessment”.  Any 
activity taken directly by the Executive Director will be referred to 
as an “investigation”.   


iii. Procedure: 
1. Handling of Complaints: 


a. In general: 
i. MCILS staff shall consider any complaint, regardless 


of the manner in which, or the person by whom it is 
submitted.  Complaints will be handled to the extent 
and in the manner deemed appropriate by the 
Executive Director. 


b. Process: 
i. Upon receipt, the complaint will be assigned to an 


MCILS Training and Supervision staff member for 
review and processing. 


ii. The staff member will then document the complaint 
and conduct a preliminary assessment in accordance 
with this policy using the MCILS Attorney 
Assessment Intake Form (“intake form”).  


1. Alternatively, the staff member may decide 
to delegate the assessment to the district 
public defender or district supervisor. In that 
event, the district public defender or district 
supervisor will promptly complete the 
assessment and return the intake form, along 
with any documents pertinent to the 
assessment, to Training & Supervision staff.  


iii. At the conclusion of the assessment, if Training & 
Supervision determine that the complaint is without 
merit, the assessment will be closed as unfounded.  


iv. If, at the conclusion of the assessment, Training & 
Supervision staff determine that the complaint may 
be meritorious, staff will forward the completed 
intake form and documents related to the assessment 
to the Executive Director for review. This will 







include a recommendation to the Executive Director 
as to the appropriate disposition or further action to 
be taken.  


v. The Executive Director will then determine what 
further action, if any, is needed, including opening a 
formal investigation.  


c. Timing: 
i. Complaints alleging that an attorney is rendered 


unable to provide proper client representation due to 
any of the following will be prioritized whenever 
practicable: 


1. An attorney is suffering from a physical or 
mental condition, illness, or impairment. 


2. An attorney is suffering from substance 
abuse issues.   


3. An attorney has pending criminal charge(s) 
or recent criminal convictions(s).  


4. An attorney is subject to a decision by the 
Board of Bar Overseers, of any jurisdiction, 
to impose discipline. 


ii. All other complaints will be investigated as 
expeditiously as possible. 


iii. An investigation or assessment is deemed to have 
commenced on the date when MCILS received the 
complaint. An investigation or assessment is 
concluded when the Executive Director has made a 
written decision as to the appropriate disposition of a 
complaint. 


iv. Remedial Measures and Resolutions 
1. Interim Remedial Measures 


a. If, at any time, the Executive Director determines that 
interim remedial measures are warranted, they may take any 
actions not prohibited by law, Commission rules, or 
Commission policy on a temporary basis pending final 
resolution of the complaint. 


2. Attorney Cooperation 
a. The subject attorney shall cooperate fully with requests and 


inquiries from the Executive Director or MCILS staff 
regarding any assessment or investigation.  Full cooperation 
includes responding to all requests and inquiries within the 
timeframes provided by MCILS in any such request or 
inquiry.  







b. If the attorney fails to comply with a Training and 
Supervision assessment, as directed by MCILS staff, it will 
result in an immediate recommendation to the Executive 
Director that a formal investigation be opened. 


c. If the attorney fails to cooperate fully with an investigation 
the Executive Director may take any action not prohibited 
by law, Commission rule, or Commission policy. 


d. Any failure to fully cooperate with an investigation will 
serve as justification for the Executive Director to issue 
subpoenas for information regarding the investigation 
pursuant to Title 4 M.R.S.A. §1804(3)(O). 


3. Complaint Dispositions 
a. Following the assessment or investigation, the Executive 


Director may do any of the following:  
i. Conclude that no further action is warranted, in 


which case the matter shall be closed and remain 
confidential. 


ii. Require remedial actions which may make the 
attorney’s certification conditional and contingent 
upon completing any condition(s) deemed necessary 
by the Executive Director.  


1. If the Executive Director requires the 
attorney to undergo remedial action, 
remediation may be overseen by: 


a. Training & Supervision staff;  
b. A District or Deputy Public 


Defender; or  
c. A District Supervisor.  


iii. Suspend the attorney for a definite or indefinite term, 
or remove the attorney from one or more panels, 
while permitting the attorney to retain some or all 
their current cases.  


iv. Suspend the attorney for a definite or indefinite term, 
or remove the attorney from one or more panels and 
reassign all the attorney’s cases to other counsel. 


v. Take any other action not prohibited by law, 
Commission rules, or Commission policy. 


4. Notice 
a. The attorney shall be promptly notified of any adverse 


actions taken by the Executive Director. 
b. Any notice required under this subsection shall be by 


certified mail and email. 
5. Scope of Review 







a. An attorney who is the subject of a suspension or removal 
under subsection may appeal said suspension or removal to 
the full commission pursuant to Title 4 M.R.S.A. § 
1804(3)(J) and Commission Rule 94-649 Chapter 201.  Any 
failure to exhaust administrative remedies may result in a bar 
to future challenges to a decision.  


 


  







IV. Audit Division 
 


1. Audit Program 
 


The audit program establishes the back-end policies and procedures that will be used by the 
Audit Division / Audit Team when conducting audit operations. The audit program establishes 
three distinct audit types. Each audit type has a slightly different purpose and implementation. 
Additionally, the audit types are separated by their respective roll out dates. Because some audits 
will require additional infrastructure acquisition or rule changes, the program will roll out 
gradually as infrastructure is acquired or developed and as the MCILS rules and statutes change 
as necessary. 
 


a. Generally 
i. At this stage, drafting is nearly complete; however, we have experienced 


some development delays due to operational needs. In early March, we will 
begin the division substantive review. Operational needs have put 
development behind a couple of days. As a result, the some working 
documents and program sections have not yet been drafted. This is 
particularly true for more complex portions of the program including the 
audit criteria. Notwithstanding those delays, we anticipate that the program 
drafting will be completed on schedule on March 31, 2022.  


2. Remaining Tasks 
i. Criteria Development – Behind Schedule but in Development 


a) Data Science Approach 
b) Human Judgment Approach 


ii. First Draft Deadline: Approx. 3/4/2022 
iii. Contact Auditor’s Office and OPEGA for program review 


a) Auditor’s Office –Dunlap 
b) OPEGA – Kruk 


iv. Audit Division Substantive Review 
a) Division Review Deadline: Approx. 3/10/2022 
b) Structure Changes 


1) Logical Progression 
2) Rearrange Components as Necessary 


c) Substance Changes 
1) Finalize Audit “Types” 
2) Vocabulary Consistency Adjustments 
3) Fill in Placeholders with Correct Content 
4) Insert Internal Section References 


d) Additional Working Docs as Required 
1) Determine whether any additional working docs are needed 
2) Draft as working docs as necessary 


e) Style and Grammar Adjustments 







v. Executive Substantive Review 
a) Executive Review Start: Approx. 3/11/2022 
b) Executive Review End: 3/25/2022 
c) Implementable/Publishable Product: Approx. 3/31/2022 


 
b. Records Retention Infrastructure 


1. Central Digital Storage Solution 
i. Redundancy 


ii. Access Controls 
iii. Storage Space 
iv. Centrality 


2. Physical Filing System 
i. Resources 


a) Shelving Infrastructure 
b) Binders (1-2”) 
c) Dividers (Plain Dividers) 
d) Tabs (Select Tabs for Binder Organization) 
e) Paper 


ii. Example File Binder 
 


c. Audit Rollout 
1. Generally: 


i. Roll-out will be gradual due to the various requirements for each audit type 
as described above.  


2. Annual Billing Audits: 1/1/2024 
i. Annual audits cannot occur until after the financial reporting framework is 


developed and established by rule. We anticipate development to begin and 
end this year so that contract counsel will have an opportunity to adjust their 
billing practices before 2023. In 2024 we will be in a better position to 
conduct our annual audits because contract counsel would have been 
following the required financial reporting framework for the entire year of 
2023. 


3. Continuous Compliance Audits: Implementable with the new Case Management 
Software 


4. Targeted Audits: Immediately Implementable with Auditing and Investigative 
Authority 


i. Auditing will be exclusively targeted until the financial reporting 
framework is developed and implemented and until the MCILS receives its 
new case management software.  


ii. We will rely on our current investigative authority under the MCILS rules 
 


d. Analytical Procedures and Infrastructure Development 
1. Anomaly Detection 







2. Trend Analysis 
3. Regression Analyses 
4. Visualizations 


i. Data Science Approach 
a) Development Tools 
b) Necessary Libraries 


ii. Low Tech Approach 
a) Excel Proficiency Development 
b) Pre-cook Spreadsheets and Workbooks to generate typical 


visualizations 
5. Improve Database Views 


i. Historical / Legacy Data 
ii. Regular Views Updates 


 
  







2. Non-Counsel Vendor Program 
 
Upon completion of the audit program, audit staff will reevaluate the how the agency handles 
non-counsel vendors. We anticipate redesigning the methods for requesting funds non-counsel 
vendor funds and for submitting corresponding invoices. Additionally, we anticipate reevaluating 
our relationships with certain vendors including by exploring options for retaining dedicated 
services for some non-counsel vendors through the RFP process where possible.  


 
a. Timeline:  


1. Start 4/1/2022 
 


b. Nature of Relationships 
1. Clients and Vendors 


i. Whether clients should be involved in the vendor selection process 
ii. To what extent should they be involved 


iii. Obtaining Client Consent  
2. Vendors and MCILS  


i. Fungible Vendors 
a) Translators 
b) Transcriptionists 
c) Non-Specialty Providers 


ii. Non-Fungible Vendors 
a) Specialty Providers 


iii. Payment Timing and Approval Process 
iv. Records Review 


3. Board and MCILS 
c. Funds Requests and Approvals 


1. Contracting with Non-Counsel Vendors 
i. Justification for Funds Request by Counsel 


ii. Statement of Work to be Done 
iii. Statement of Qualifications 
iv. Acknowledgment of Master Terms 


a) MCILS Right to Review Product 
b) MCILS Right to Review Notes  
c) Compliance with Auditing 


2. Funds Requests Infrastructure 
i. Form Submissions 


ii. Form Forwarding 
3. Approvals Infrastructure 


i. Delivering Approvals 
d. Invoicing and Approvals 


1. Counsel Review of Vendor Work 
2. Description of Vendor Work from Counsel 







3. Vendor’s Description of their Own Work 
e. Record-Keeping and Records Retention 


1. Policy / Practice 
2. Storage Infrastructure 
3. Method for Storing  


i. “File” Structure  
ii. Folder Naming Convention 


 
  







 
3. Assigned Counsel Education 


 
We anticipate providing several forms of business and financial education for attorneys 


and law students. Specifically, we plan to develop and publish persistent content on our website 
that will assist people in improving their business and financial practices. We also plan to host 
traditional style CLEs to provide counsel with CLE credits, but will be available to anyone 
regardless of their eligibility status. Those CLEs will also be recorded and published on our site 
for future reference.  
 


a. Timeline 
1. Start Publishing Content: 5/31/2022 
2. CLEs in the Fall (Admin Week) 


 
b. Content Types 


1. Written Products 
i. Guides 


ii. Articles 
iii. Forms 
iv. Templates 
v. Examples 


2. Traditional CLEs 
i. Webinars and Zoom Conferences 


ii. In-Person CLEs (in the future) 
3. Recorded Audio-Visual Content 


i. Recorded Webinars and Zoom Conferences 
ii. Pre-Recorded Videos  


iii. Institutional CLEs through a Contract 
 


c. Approach 
1. In Demand Issues 


i. Written Content  
ii. Traditional CLE Model 


2. Practice Management Series 
i. Written Content 


a) Guides 
b) Templates 
c) Articles  


ii. Resources and External References 
iii. CLEs 


3. Solo Practice Series 
i. Targets 


a) Law Students 







b) Existing Rostered Attorneys 
c) Un-rostered Associates 
d) Any Other Curious People 


ii. Written Content 
iii. CLEs 
iv. External Resources and References 


4. Finances and Financial Management 
i. Content Presented in Order of Availability 


 
d. Topics 


1. Practice Management 
i. Business Planning 


ii. Marketing 
iii. Record-Keeping 
iv. Virtual Practices 
v. Financial Health and Budgeting 


vi. Client Management 
vii. Billing 


viii. Collecting Fees and Retainers 
2. Solo Practice and Start-up 


i. Business Planning 
ii. Budgeting for the First Year 


iii. Obtaining a Business Loan 
iv. Getting Clients 
v. Marketing and Making a Marketing Plan 


vi. Building Competence 
vii. Specializing 
viii. Expanding Your Practice 
ix. Hiring Staff 


3. Finances and Financial Management  
i. Business Tax Basics 


ii. Accounting Basics 
iii. IOLTA Management 
iv. Financial Planning and Goal Setting 
v. Saving for Vacation as a Business Owner 


vi. Knowing how much your Services are Worth 
vii. Paying Yourself First 


viii. Planning for Retirement 
 


e. Infrastructure 
1. Central File Storage 
2. MCILS Site Changes 


i. Design Changes 







a) Structure Changes 
b) Content / Page Changes 
c) Usability Considerations 


ii. Content Management 
a) Written Content Pages 
b) Embedded Video 
c) References and External Resources 


 
f. Accessibility 


1. CLE Participation 
i. Eligibility Designations Unnecessary for CLE participation 


a) CLE Participation should generally be available to the public 
including law students and ineligible attorneys or attorneys not 
currently accepting court appointments. 


ii. Limits Subject to Venue Capacity 
2. Publicly Available 


i. Written Content 
a) All written content will be publicly available to anyone. This 


content will not exist behind any paywall or access control.  
ii. References and External Resources 


iii. Embedded Audio and Video 
3. Stored but Unavailable 


i. Some Prior CLEs 
a) It is possible that some prior CLEs will be made unavailable 


publicly. For example, when CLEs become outdated they may be 
removed from the site, but retained by the MCILS generally.  


 
g. Law Firm Tax CLE 


1. Speakers 
i. Tax Attorney or CPA  


ii. Criminal Defense Lawyer in business for a while 
2. Content  


i. Business Deductions 
ii. Capitalizing Costs 


iii. Choosing an Accountant or CPA  
 
 
  







4. Benefits to Assigned Counsel 
 


Contract counsel have regularly indicated a need for group benefits as individual benefits 
are generally too expensive for the solo or small firm. Consequently, assigned counsel either 
spend too much on benefits or simply go without. The audit division anticipates investigating the 
feasibility of providing those desired benefits to assigned counsel. Doing so will require a 
substantial time commitment to thoroughly research the available options and arrange 
implementation. Further, resource availability may prevent or hinder providing some or all the 
desired benefits. Consequently, these programs are currently at the concept stage and have not 
been reduced to implementable structures.  
 


a. Student Loan Repayment Assistance Program 
1. Eligibility 


i. Work Commitment  
a) Contract 
b) History 


ii. Income Eligibility Limit (Maybe) 
2. Assistance 


i. Assistance Cap  
a) Based on Income 


ii. Based on IBR Payments 
3. Administration 


i. Additional Personnel 
ii. Infrastructure 


a) Applications to the Program 
b) Recertifications 
c) Payment Processing  


 
b. Administered Group Health Insurance 


1. Research  
i. Substance  


ii. Programs 
iii. Availability 
iv. Internal Administration 
v. Necessary Resources 


2. Planning  
3. Implementation 


 
c. Administered Group Benefits 


1. Research 
i. Substance 


ii. Programs 
iii. Availability 







iv. Internal Administration 
v. Necessary Resources 


2. Planning 
3. Implementation 


 
d. Retirement 


1. Available Retirement Plans 
i. Research 


2. Board Pension Plans 
i. Research 


3. Retirement Options Generally 
i. IRA 


a) Direct Deposit into an IRA? 
 


e. Voluntary Business Performance Audits 
1. Description 


i. Starting in 2024 or 2025 we plan to expand our audit capabilities, assuming 
there are sufficient resources, to include a voluntary business performance 
audit program. This program is intended to provide attorneys with 
actionable insights regarding the business side of their practice. It will not 
address the attorney’s substantive performance in the actual practice of law. 
Further, the program is entirely voluntary, any rostered attorney may 
request a performance subject to MCILS resource limitations. Finally, there 
may be some eligibility requirements to ensure that the benefit is provided 
to attorneys who provide substantial service to indigent clients.  


2. Audit Program Expansion 
i. Performance Audit 


a) The audit program is not currently designed for the type of audit 
contemplated by this program.  


b) As a result, substantial changes or additions will be required to 
implement performance audits.  


ii. Framework Adjustments / Adaptations  
3. Program Substance 


i. Scope and Limits 
ii. Attorney Agreement 


1) Timing 
2) Substance 


I. Access to information and people 
II. Cooperation 
III. Scope of Engagement (including limits) 
IV. Audit Reporting to Attorney 


iii. Record-Keeping 
iv. Privacy 







4. Capacity Limits and Feasibility 
i. Resource Limits 


a) Time 
b) Funds 
c) Staffing 


ii. Capacity Limits 
a) Time  
b) Staffing  
c) Interest 


5. Eligibility Requirements 
i. Appointment Commitment 


ii. Firm Size 
6. Regularity 


i. Regularity / Frequency dependent on resources and interest 
  







5. Audit Team Education 
 
Professionals are generally expected, if not required, to take continuing education. This is true 
for attorneys who are required to take CLEs every year. CPAs, who comprise the majority of the 
auditing profession, are required to take 80 hours of CPE every year. Because the audit team is 
comprised generally of lawyers, we are not subject to that 80-hour requirement; however, 
lawyer-auditors and their staff still need to maintain auditing competence. We have instituted a 
reduced continuing professional education (CPE) requirement which reflects the need to 
maintain competence and the resource constraints faced by the MCILS including time and 
personnel resources.   
 


a. Requirement: 
1. Time 


i. Lawyer-Auditor: 40 hours of CPE per year 
ii. Audit Team Staff: 20 hours of CPE per year 


2. Substance 
i. Focus on Core Auditing Areas 


ii. Must be Relevant to Auditing 
a) Analytics 
b) Sampling  
c) Visualizations, etc. 


3. Auditing Standards 
i. Auditors must also maintain familiarity with relevant auditing standards 


including changes to those auditing standards. The mere fact that the CPE 
requirement has been met does not relieve any audit team member of their 
responsibility to stay current with rule changes. Consequently, audit 
division staff will maintain familiarity with auditing standards by referring 
to those standards as necessary and by monitoring any changes.   


 
b. Topics 


1. Auditing Basics 
2. Changes to Auditing Standards 
3. Financial Statement Audits 
4. Performance Audits 
5. Data Analytics 
6. Data Science 
7. Sampling 
8. Accounting  
9. Risk Assessments 
10. Fraud Detection 
11. This list of topics is not exclusive and audit staff may pursue other topics so long 


as they are relevant to auditing.  
 







c. Forms of Training 
1. Open Source 


i. Manuals and Guides 
ii. Books – PDF 


iii. Free Webinars 
2. Paid Programming 


i. AICPA CPE trainings 
ii. Proprietary Guides and Books 


iii. Webinars 
3. Audit Standard Review 


i. Standard Change Updates 
 


d. Tracking 
1. Data 


i. By Auditor and Year 
ii. CPE Hours 


iii. Subject Matter  
iv. Course Name 
v. Course Completion Date 


2. Infrastructure 
i. Excel 


3. Proof of Attendance 
i. Self-Certify 


ii. Certification of Completion or Similar Item from CPE Provider 
 


e. Operational Update: 
1. The audit team staff have each arranged to attend approximate 49.5 hours CPE on 


essential audit topics offered by the AICPA. That educational material has been 
made available to the audit team and they are currently in the process of 
completing that material.  


 
  







 
6. High Daily Alerts 


 
The Defender Data system sends MCILS staff alerts daily when attorneys record 12 or more 
hours worked in a day. Those alerts are tracked and logged by audit division staff who review 
those alerts daily. The method for handling the alerts themselves and the attorney responses will 
be changed by audit division staff to make the system more effective and efficient. As a result, 
the technical means of handling the alerts and responses as well as the response requirements 
must be updated.  
 


a. Timeline:   
1. Start Date: 2/14/2022 
2. Email Handling Date: 3/10/2022 


 
b. Email Handling 


 
Although Audit Division currently review and track all high daily hours alerts emails, the 
process is highly inefficient. As a result, Audit Division staff are adjusting how these emails are 
generated and distributed to staff. Much of this work requires collaboration with Justice Works 
and OIT. We anticipate arranging all technical requirements, except automation, and instituting 
the new system by 3/10/2022.  
 


1. High Alerts 
i. Content 


a) Extent to which Content can or must change 
ii. Receipt 


a) Recipients 
b) Method for Changing Recipients 


2. Assigned Counsel Reply 
i. Requirements  


a) Timeliness 
b) Content 


ii. Receipt 
a) Recipients 
b) Receipt Frequency 


iii. Receipt Method / Change reply_to 
a) establish alias alerts.mcils@maine.gov 
b) determine recipients of reply 
c) establish mail forwarding from alias 
d) change reply_to in DD 


3. MCILS Follow-Up 
i. Content 


a) Form Follow-Up 







ii. Timing 
a) First Follow-Up 
b) Repeated Follow-Ups 
c) Limit on Follow-Ups 


4. Record-Keeping 
i. Master Spreadsheet 


a) Structure 
1) Alert and Reply Tracking 
2) Time Tracking (between alert and response) 


ii. Tracking Growth 
a) Automate Tracking if Possible or Feasible 


 
c. Automation 


1. Current State 
i. The process of reviewing and tracking high daily hours alerts is entirely 


manual and extremely inefficient.  
ii. To view the relevant time entries audit staff must manually search for each 


case by docket number; an extremely slow process given the processing 
speed of the software. 


iii. The time entries must then be manually entered into a spreadsheet for 
tracking.  


iv. We use these spreadsheets to help counsel verify the accuracy of their time 
entries; we have received some positive feedback from this practice.  


v. Unfortunately, the time commitment required to respond to every alert 
prohibits that practice. As a result, audit staff prioritize the most anomalous 
alerts when determining where to follow-up.  


2. Anticipated Direction – Automating   
i. Audit Counsel anticipates pre-cooking queries to quickly pull these time 


entries directly from the underlying database.  
ii. Given the time and tools, we anticipate automating the process of pulling 


the data and generating a report to provide the respective attorney to make 
time verification easier. Doing so should drastically reduce the follow-up 
time commitment thereby allowing audit staff to follow-up with 
substantially more attorneys.  


 
d. Rule Changes 


1. Response Requirements 
i. Timing – 14 days from alter to respond to automated alert 


ii. Content 
a) Reasons more than 12 hours were billed on that day; AND 
b) Description of any inaccuracies or confirmation that the time billed 


is accurate; 
c) A statement as to whether and where any corrections were made; 







2. Correction Requirements 
i. Simple Corrections 


a) Timing – 14 days from alert to make corrections 
ii. Reimbursement for Overpayments 


a) Timing – 14 days from discovery of error (no later than 28 days 
after alert) to contact the OPD / MCILS 


b) Reimburse OPD / MCILS for any overpayment as directed by 
agency staff 


3. Timing Exceptions 
i. Bases: 


a) Situation / Reasons beyond attorney actual or constructive control 
cause delay; 


b) Delay caused by OPD / MCILS Staff 
ii. Discretion 


a) Executive Director; OR  
b) Designee 


4. Sanctions for Not Replying 
i. Sanctions should be consistent with sanctions for non-compliance with 


other agency rules up to and including suspension from receiving court 
appointments 


 
 
  







7. Financial Reporting Framework / Billing Requirements 
 


The Financial Reporting Framework will redefine both how attorneys record the time they 
spend working on their court appointed cases and how those attorneys report that time to the 
MCILS. The requirements in the framework will not only provide more reliable billing records, 
but it will likely increase revenue for contract counsel by facilitating frequent and consistent 
billing. Additionally, the Financial Reporting Framework will provide the basis for our ability to 
conduct effective audits. 


 
a. Timing  


1. Roll-Out Deadline: 12/1/2022 
2. Effective Date: 1/1/2023 


b. Requirements 
1. Independent Billing Records 
2. Contemporaneity 


i. Frequency: Weekly 
3. Time Entry Details 


i. The financial reporting framework will standardize how contract counsel 
record the time they spend working on the court appointed cases.  


4. Expense Request Details and Record 
c. Rule-Making Process  


1. Determine Rule-Making Timeline 
2. Determine Project Start Date based on Rule-Making Timeline 


d. Publishing  
1. Timing: 12/2022 
2. Formal Rule 


i. Published through the rule-making process 
3. Billing Section of Site 


i. Site Content 
a) We anticipate developing direct content on our site that provides 


the content of the Financial Reporting Framework directly on the 
site, much like reading any other article. This should increase 
transparency and accessibility.  


ii. Site Update 
a) Structural changes to the site are necessary to publish as site 


content.  
b) Likely these changes will occur at the same time as other planned 


site changes. 
iii. Original pdf Available for Download 


4. Mass Email to Contract Counsel  
e. Implementation 


1. Forms and Templates 
2. Internal Process Suggestions 







8. Vouchers 
 
a. Operations 


1. Changes to Review 
i. We have made substantial changes to voucher review since October 2021 


such as: 
a) Strictly enforcing the 90-day rule; 
b) Verifying time entries that appear erroneous; 
c) Verifying that expenses are compensable; 
d) Encouraging attorneys to bill for all time spent working for their 


indigent clients; 
e) Encouraging interim vouchers at regular and reasonable intervals; 
f) Ensuring disposition data is included in vouchers where 


appropriate; 
2. Time Consumption 


i. Takes Approximately 40 % of our time 
ii. Should take up no more than 20% of our time 


iii. Ideally should be a 10% resource draw 
 


b. Reconsideration Process 
1. Continuity Plan 


i. Although the reconsideration window has closed, attorneys will continue to 
“Request Reconsideration” 


ii. Under Chapter 301 Section 6 attorneys may request an exception to the 90-
day rule where the voucher could not have been submitted for reasons 
outside the actual or constructive control of counsel 


iii. Those vouchers may be paid or rejected in the Executive Director’s 
discretion 


2. Communication with Counsel RE: Continuity 
i. Audit Division staff will draft an email describing to counsel how to 


continue to request exceptions to the 90-day rule going forward 
c. Automation 


1. Much of voucher review should be audited; however, vouchers are too 
inconsistent to effectively automate voucher approvals given our current 
resources.  


 
 
  







9. Site Redesign and Administration 
 
a. Projects 


1. Substantive Training and Education 
2. Business and Financial Education 
3. External Resources Development 
4. Financial Reporting Framework and Billing Guidance 
5. Attorney Certification Applications and Recertifications 
6. Vendor Funds Requests 


 
b. Redesign 


1. Planning 
i. Structure  


a) Navigation Changes 
1) Main Menu 
2) Side Bar Menus 
3) View Creation and Configuration 


b) Content Type Changes 
c) Content Structure Changes 


1) Page Layouts 
ii. Content 


a) Content Pages 
b) Embedded Content 
c) Accessibility 


iii. Collaboration 
a) Final Design Collaboration 


2. Incremental Development 
 


c. Administration 
1. Trainings and CLEs 
2. Hearings and Other News 
3. Additional Functionality and Maintenance 


 
 


 
 


 


 








 


MAINE COMMISSION ON INDIGENT LEGAL SERVICES 


 
FEBRUARY 28, 2022 


COMMISSION MEETING 


AGENDA 


 


1) Approval of the January 25, 2022 Commission Meeting Minutes 


2) Report of the Executive Director 


a. Operations Report 
b. ACLU Suit 
c. Master Outline 
d. Staffing update 
e. Judicial Branch Collections 
f. Case management system update 
g. Centralized LOD program update  
h. Appellate costs in State’s appeals 


 
3) Chair Tardy Motion/Resolve regarding Executive Director authority 


4) Budget initiatives 


a. Flying squad 
b. Training budget 
c. RFP for specialty contracts 


 
5) Legislative update 


a. LD 1824 (Pilot program for early representation in PC cases) 
b. LD 1905 (DA/pro se defendant communications) 
c. LD 1924 (Law School Clinic in Aroostook County) 
d. LD 1926 (Chapter 301 major substantive rule approval) 
e. LD 1946 (attorney-client phone recordings) 
f. LD 1950 (Probate Courts into Judicial Branch) 


 
6) Set Date, Time and Location of Next Regular Meeting of the Commission 


7) Public Comment 


8) Executive Session 








MRS Title 15, §2115-A. APPEALS BY THE STATE


Generated 
11.18.2021 §2115-A. Appeals by the State |  1


§2115-A.  Appeals by the State
1.  Appeals prior to trial.  An appeal may be taken by the State in criminal cases on questions of 


law from the District Court and from the Superior Court to the Supreme Judicial Court sitting as the 
Law Court:  From an order of the court prior to trial which suppresses any evidence, including, but not 
limited to, physical or identification evidence or evidence of a confession or admission; from an order 
which prevents the prosecution from obtaining evidence; from a pretrial dismissal of an indictment, 
information or complaint; or from any other order of the court prior to trial which, either under the 
particular circumstances of the case or generally for the type of order in question, has a reasonable 
likelihood of causing either serious impairment to or termination of the prosecution.
[PL 1999, c. 731, Pt. ZZZ, §18 (AMD); PL 1999, c. 731, Pt. ZZZ, §42 (AFF).]


2.  Appeals after trial.  An appeal may be taken by the State from the Superior Court or the District 
Court to the Supreme Judicial Court sitting as the Law Court after trial and after a finding of guilty by 
a jury or the court from the granting of a motion for a new trial, from arrest of judgment, from dismissal 
or from other orders requiring a new trial or resulting in termination of the prosecution in favor of the 
accused, when an appeal of the order would be permitted by the double jeopardy provisions of the 
Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of Maine.
[PL 1999, c. 731, Pt. ZZZ, §18 (AMD); PL 1999, c. 731, Pt. ZZZ, §42 (AFF).]


2-A.  Appeal from adverse decision of the Superior Court sitting as an appellate court relative 
to an aggrieved defendant's appeal from the denial of a Rule 35 motion in District Court. 
[PL 2015, c. 431, §20 (RP).]


2-B.  Appeal from the denial of a Rule 35 motion.  If a motion for correction or reduction of a 
sentence brought by the attorney for the State under Rule 35 of the Maine Rules of Unified Criminal 
Procedure is denied in whole or in part, an appeal may be taken by the State from the adverse order to 
the Supreme Judicial Court sitting as the Law Court.
[PL 2015, c. 431, §21 (AMD).]


3.  When defendant appeals.  When the defendant appeals from a judgment of conviction, it is 
not necessary for the State to appeal.  It may argue that error in the proceedings at trial in fact supports 
the judgment.  The State may also establish that error harmful to it was committed prior to trial or in 
the trial resulting in the conviction from which the defendant has appealed, which error should be 
corrected in the event that the Law Court reverses on a claim of error by the defendant and remands the 
case for a new trial.  If the case is so reversed and remanded, the Law Court shall also order correction 
of the error established by the State.
[PL 1999, c. 731, Pt. ZZZ, §21 (AMD); PL 1999, c. 731, Pt. ZZZ, §42 (AFF).]


4.  Time.  The time for taking and the manner and any conditions for the taking of an appeal 
pursuant to subsection 1, 2 or 2-B are as the Supreme Judicial Court provides by rule, and an appeal 
taken pursuant to subsection 1 must also be taken before the defendant has been placed in jeopardy. An 
appeal taken pursuant to this subsection must be diligently prosecuted.
[PL 2015, c. 431, §22 (AMD).]


5.  Approval of Attorney General.  In any appeal taken pursuant to subsection 1, 2 or 2-B, the 
written approval of the Attorney General is required; except that if the attorney for the State filing the 
notice of appeal states in the notice that the Attorney General has orally stated that the approval will be 
granted, the written approval may be filed at a later date.
[PL 2015, c. 431, §23 (AMD).]


6.  Liberal construction.  The provisions of this section shall be liberally construed to effectuate 
its purposes.
[PL 1979, c. 701, §14 (AMD).]


7.  Rules.  The Supreme Judicial Court may provide for implementation of this section by rule.







MRS Title 15, §2115-A. APPEALS BY THE STATE


2  | §2115-A. Appeals by the State Generated 
11.18.2021


[PL 1979, c. 343, §2 (NEW).]
8.  Fees and costs.  The Law Court shall allow counsel fees and costs for the defense of appeals 


under this section, to be paid by the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services under Title 4, 
section 1801.  The compensation paid by the commission may not exceed the rates established by the 
commission for the payment of counsel providing indigent legal services.
[PL 2013, c. 159, §14 (AMD).]


9.  Appeals to Federal Court; fees and costs.  The Law Court shall allow attorney's fees for court 
appointed counsel when the State appeals a judgment to any Federal Court or to the United States 
Supreme Court on certiorari.  Any fees allowed pursuant to this subsection must be paid out of the 
accounts of the Maine Commission on Indigent Legal Services under Title 4, section 1801.  The 
compensation paid by the commission may not exceed the rates established by the commission for the 
payment of counsel providing indigent legal services.
[PL 2013, c. 159, §15 (AMD).]
SECTION HISTORY
PL 1967, c. 547, §§1,3 (NEW). PL 1971, c. 215 (AMD). PL 1977, c. 510, §3 (AMD). PL 1977, 
c. 564, §74 (AMD). PL 1979, c. 343, §2 (RPR). PL 1979, c. 541, §B22 (AMD). PL 1979, c. 
663, §110 (AMD). PL 1979, c. 701, §14 (AMD). PL 1983, c. 105 (AMD). PL 1987, c. 234, 
§§1-3 (AMD). PL 1987, c. 461 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 223 (AMD). PL 1995, c. 47, §§1-3 (AMD). 
PL 1999, c. 731, §§ZZZ18-21 (AMD). PL 1999, c. 731, §ZZZ42 (AFF). PL 2001, c. 17, §4 
(AMD). PL 2013, c. 159, §§14,15 (AMD). PL 2015, c. 431, §§20-23 (AMD). 


The State of Maine claims a copyright in its codified statutes. If you intend to republish this material, we require that you include 
the following disclaimer in your publication:
All copyrights and other rights to statutory text are reserved by the State of Maine. The text included in this publication reflects 
changes made through the First Special Session of the 130th Maine Legislature and is current through October 31, 2021. The text 
is subject to change without notice. It is a version that has not been officially certified by the Secretary of State. Refer to the Maine 
Revised Statutes Annotated and supplements for certified text.
The Office of the Revisor of Statutes also requests that you send us one copy of any statutory publication you may produce. Our 
goal is not to restrict publishing activity, but to keep track of who is publishing what, to identify any needless duplication and to 
preserve the State's copyright rights.


PLEASE NOTE: The Revisor's Office cannot perform research for or provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the 
public. If you need legal assistance, please contact a qualified attorney.








MRS Title 15, §1074. PROPERTY OF DEFENDANT AND 3RD PARTIES AS BAIL


Generated 
11.18.2021 §1074. Property of defendant and 3rd parties as bail |  1


§1074.  Property of defendant and 3rd parties as bail
1.  Cash.  Whenever cash is deposited as bail to secure the appearance of and conformance to 


conditions of release by a defendant in a criminal proceeding, either preconviction or post-conviction, 
the cash is deemed to be the property of the defendant unless, at the time the cash is deposited, the 
defendant or the person offering the cash as bail designates under oath another person to whom the cash 
belongs.  If a person other than the defendant has been designated as the owner of the cash, it must be 
returned to that person unless otherwise forfeited or subject to setoff under subsection 3‑A.  If the 
defendant is deemed to be the owner of the cash, it must be returned to the defendant unless otherwise 
forfeited or subject to setoff as provided in this section.
[PL 2013, c. 211, §1 (AMD).]


1-A.  Miscellaneous costs.  The Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court is authorized to use 
General Fund appropriations to cover miscellaneous costs associated with the operation of the account 
of deposited cash bail.
[PL 2003, c. 673, Pt. P, §1 (NEW).]


2.  Real estate.  When a defendant in a criminal proceeding is the owner of real estate and offers 
that real estate as security for appearance before any court, the defendant must file a bail lien and 
otherwise comply with the requirements of section 1071 as if the defendant were a surety.  A discharge 
of the bail lien is governed by section 1071, unless the bail has been forfeited or is subject to setoff in 
accordance with this section.
[PL 1987, c. 758, §20 (NEW).]


3.  Setoff of defendant's property.  When a defendant has deposited cash or other property owned 
by the defendant as bail or has offered real estate owned by the defendant and subject to a bail lien as 
bail and the cash, other property or real estate has not been forfeited, the court, before ordering the cash 
or other property returned to the defendant or discharging the real estate bail lien, shall determine 
whether the cash, other property or real estate or any portion of the cash, other property or real estate 
is subject to setoff as authorized by this section.  The court may order all or a portion of the bail owned 
by a defendant that has not been forfeited to be first paid and applied to one or more of the following:


A.  Any fine, forfeiture, penalty or fee imposed upon a defendant as part of the sentence for 
conviction of any offense arising out of the criminal proceeding for which the bail has been posted 
and the sentence for conviction of any offense in an unrelated civil or criminal proceeding;  [PL 
2003, c. 87, §1 (AMD).]
B.  Any amount of restitution the defendant has been ordered to pay as part of the sentence imposed 
in the proceeding for which bail has been posted and in any unrelated proceeding;  [PL 2003, c. 
87, §1 (AMD).]
C.  Any amount of attorney's fees or other expense authorized by the court at the request of the 
defendant or attorney and actually paid by the State on behalf of the defendant on the ground that 
the defendant has been found to be indigent in the proceeding for which bail has been posted and 
in any unrelated proceeding; and  [PL 2003, c. 87, §1 (AMD).]
D.  Any surcharge imposed by Title 4, section 1057.  [PL 1987, c. 758, §20 (NEW).]


The court shall apply any bail collected pursuant to this subsection first to restitution then to attorney's 
fees and then to fines and surcharges.
[PL 2017, c. 284, Pt. UUUU, §15 (AMD).]


3-A.  Setoff of 3rd party's property.  When a person other than the defendant has deposited cash 
or other property owned by the person as bail on behalf of the defendant or has offered real estate owned 
by the person and subject to a bail lien as bail on behalf of the defendant and the cash, other property 
or real estate has not been forfeited, the court, before ordering the cash or other property returned to the 







MRS Title 15, §1074. PROPERTY OF DEFENDANT AND 3RD PARTIES AS BAIL


2  | §1074. Property of defendant and 3rd parties as bail Generated 
11.18.2021


person or discharging the real estate bail lien, shall determine whether the cash, other property or real 
estate or any portion of the cash, other property or real estate is subject to setoff as authorized by this 
section. The court may order all or a portion of the bail owned by the person that has not been forfeited 
to be first paid and applied to one or more of the following:


A.  Any fine, forfeiture, penalty or fee owed by the person arising out of any civil or criminal 
proceeding;  [PL 2013, c. 211, §1 (NEW).]
B.  Any amount of restitution the person has been ordered to pay as part of any court proceeding;  
[PL 2013, c. 211, §1 (NEW).]
C.  Any amount of attorney's fees or other expense authorized by the court at the request of the 
person or the person's attorney and actually paid by the State on behalf of the person on the ground 
that the person has been found to be indigent in any proceeding; and  [PL 2013, c. 211, §1 
(NEW).]
D.  Any surcharge imposed by Title 4, section 1057.  [PL 2013, c. 211, §1 (NEW).]


The court shall apply any bail collected pursuant to this subsection first to restitution.
[PL 2013, c. 211, §1 (NEW).]


4.  Enforcement orders.  If the court determines that bail owned by a defendant or 3rd party should 
be ordered set off as authorized by this section, the court may issue any appropriate orders considered 
necessary to enforce the setoff.  The orders may include, but are not limited to:


A.  A direction to the clerk of courts to pay cash bail directly to a specified person, organization or 
government;  [PL 1987, c. 758, §20 (NEW).]
B.  An order directed to a public official or the defendant requiring that other property or real estate 
be sold and the proceeds paid to a specified person, organization or government; and  [PL 1987, 
c. 758, §20 (NEW).]
C.  An order requiring the defendant to convey clear and marketable title or other evidence of 
ownership of interest in real estate or other property to a specified person, organization or 
government.  [PL 1987, c. 758, §20 (NEW).]


[PL 2013, c. 211, §1 (AMD).]
SECTION HISTORY
PL 1987, c. 758, §20 (NEW). PL 1997, c. 543, §20 (AMD). PL 2003, c. 87, §1 (AMD). PL 2003, 
c. 673, §P1 (AMD). PL 2013, c. 211, §1 (AMD). PL 2017, c. 284, Pt. UUUU, §15 (AMD). 


The State of Maine claims a copyright in its codified statutes. If you intend to republish this material, we require that you include 
the following disclaimer in your publication:
All copyrights and other rights to statutory text are reserved by the State of Maine. The text included in this publication reflects 
changes made through the First Special Session of the 130th Maine Legislature and is current through October 31, 2021. The text 
is subject to change without notice. It is a version that has not been officially certified by the Secretary of State. Refer to the Maine 
Revised Statutes Annotated and supplements for certified text.
The Office of the Revisor of Statutes also requests that you send us one copy of any statutory publication you may produce. Our 
goal is not to restrict publishing activity, but to keep track of who is publishing what, to identify any needless duplication and to 
preserve the State's copyright rights.


PLEASE NOTE: The Revisor's Office cannot perform research for or provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the 
public. If you need legal assistance, please contact a qualified attorney.





